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Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10−K
þ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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Or
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Act.  Yes o     No þ

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act.  Yes o     No þ

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to the filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes þ     No o

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S−K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10−K or in any amendment to this Form 10−K.  þ

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer or a non accelerated filer.
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Large accelerated filer o     Accelerated filer þ     Non−accelerated filer o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b−2 of the Exchange
Act)  Yes o     No þ

The aggregate market value of the voting and non−voting common equity held by non−affiliates (based upon the
closing price of the Nasdaq Global Select Market on June 30, 2006 of $21.96) of the Registrant at that date was
approximately $403,230,000. For purposes of the calculation executive officers, directors and holders of 10% or more of
the outstanding common stock are considered affiliates.

Number of shares of common stock outstanding as of February 28, 2007: 21,951,342

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 15, 2007
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PART I

Item 1. Business

General

RadiSys Corporation is a leading provider of embedded advanced solutions for the communications networking
and commercial systems markets. Through innovative product planning, intimate customer collaboration, and
combining innovative technologies and industry leading architecture, we help original equipment manufacturers
(“OEMs”), systems integrators and solution providers bring better products to market faster and more economically.
Our products include embedded boards, application enabling platforms and turn−key systems, which are used in
today’s complex computing, processing and network intensive applications. Unless context otherwise requires, or as
otherwise indicated, “we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms, as well as references to the “Company” and “RadiSys”
refer to RadiSys Corporation and include all of our consolidated subsidiaries.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to provide customers with standards−based advanced embedded solutions in our target markets.
We believe this strategy enables our customers to focus their resources and development efforts on their key areas of
competency allowing them to provide higher value systems with a time−to−market advantage and a lower total cost
of ownership. Historically, system makers had been largely vertically integrated, developing most, if not all, of the
functional building blocks of their systems. System makers are now more focused on their core expertise, such as
specific application software, and are looking for partners like RadiSys to provide them with standards−based,
merchant−supplied building blocks for a growing number of processing and networking functions.

Our Markets

We provide application enabling solutions to the following two distinct markets:

• Communications Networking — The communications networking market consists primarily of networking
infrastructure and applications for deployment within our wireless and IP networking and messaging markets.
Applications in these markets include 2, 2.5 and 3G wireless infrastructure products, IP media server
platforms, packet based switches, unified messaging solutions, IP−based Private Branch Exchange (“PBX”)
systems, voice messaging, multimedia conferencing, data centers, network access, security and switching
applications.

• Commercial Systems — The commercial systems market includes the following sub−markets: medical
systems, test and measurement equipment, transaction terminals and industrial automation equipment.
Examples of products which incorporate our commercial embedded solutions include ultrasound equipment,
X−Ray, MRI, immunodiagnostics and hematology systems, CAT Scan (“CT”) imaging equipment, network
and production test equipment, consumer transaction terminals, semiconductor manufacturing equipment and
electronics assembly equipment.

Our Market Drivers

We believe there are a number of fundamental drivers for growth in the embedded solutions market, including:

• Increasing desire by OEMs to utilize standards−based, merchant−supplied modular building blocks and
platforms to develop their new systems. We believe OEMs are combining their internal development efforts
with merchant−supplied building blocks and platforms from partners like RadiSys to deliver a larger number
of more valuable new products to market faster at a lower total cost of ownership.

• Increasing usage levels of widely adopted technologies such as Ethernet, IP, Linux, media processing and
CPU, GPU and NPU processors to provide programmable, intelligent and networked functionality
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to a wide variety of applications, including wireless, wireline and data communications, network security,
image processing, transaction and monitoring and control.

• Increasing demand for standards−based solutions, such as Advanced Telecommunications Architecture
(“ATCA”), Session Initiation Protocol (“SIP”), IP Multimedia Subsystem (“IMS”) and
Computer−on−Module Express (“COM Express”) that motivates system makers to take advantage of proven
and validated standards−based products.

Products

We design and manufacture a broad range of products at different levels of integration:

• Complete Turn−key Systems for the communications networking systems markets such as 10G (Gigabit)
ATCA systems and carrier grade media servers (“Media Servers”);

• Embedded Subsystems and Functional Platforms using ATCA, COM Express and customer−specific
proprietary platforms;

• Compute, Input/Output (“I/O”), Storage, Inter−networking and Packet Processing Blades; and
• Software, Middleware, and Microcode, including embedded Operating Systems, Basic Input Output System

(“BIOS”), Service Availability (“SA”) Forum, Hardware Platform Interface (“HPI”), Intelligent Platform
Management Interface (“IPMI”), and various protocol stacks including signaling, management and data plane
protocols.

We have specific technical expertise in the following areas:

• System Architecture, Design and Integration;
• Software, Hardware and Platform Development;
• Embedded Operating Systems;
• Microprocessor−Based Design;
• Network Processor−Based Design;
• Media processing;
• Digital Signal Processor−Based Design; and
• Signaling Protocols.

Our products fall into two different categories: Standards−based Solutions and Perfect Fit (custom) Solutions.

Standards−based Solutions.  As a Premier Member of the Intel Communications Alliance, and as a long−time
member of the PCI Industrial Computer Manufacturers Group (“PICMG”), SCOPE and the SA Forum standards
bodies, we believe that we continue to play a leading role in the development and deployment of system architectural
standards that are most relevant to our markets. In the IP communications market we believe that we continue to play
a leading role in the development and deployment of media server and Multimedia Resource Function (“MRF”)
standards through our membership in the Third−Generation Partnership Project (“3GPP”) and our long−term
contributions to the Internet Engineering Task Force (“IETF”).

Beginning in 2004 we shifted our product development investment from predominantly one−off
custom−designed products (“perfect fit solutions”) to standards−based, re−usable platforms and systems
(“standards−based solutions”). We believe standards−based solutions provide our customers a number of
fundamental benefits. First, by using ready−made solutions rather than ground−start custom−designs, our customers
can achieve significantly shorter product development intervals and faster time−to−market. Second, we believe our
customers can achieve a lower total cost by using solutions that are leveraged across multiple applications rather than
a single−use proprietary solution. The benefit to RadiSys is that by offering standards−based solutions, we believe
we have the opportunity to address a wider range of new market opportunities with the potential for faster time to
revenue than with one−off, custom−designs. We believe this ability to reuse designs
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gives us more leverage and makes our business and investment model more scalable. Finally, we believe this
standards−based model will allow us to provide more integrated and higher value solutions to our customers than we
have typically delivered under a custom−design model. These higher value solutions should provide more product
content and drive higher average selling prices and therefore more total revenue opportunity for our products.

We intend to increasingly focus our development effort on moving deeper into the data path and further up the
software stack, positioning us to provide more complete application−ready platforms and more value for our
customers. We believe that turn−key modular solutions such as ATCA platforms and Media Servers will grow to
become a large and very attractive market to RadiSys. The success of our new ATCA projects is tied to future
deployment of wireless voice, wireless data and VoIP applications by our customers. Likewise the success of our
Media Servers is tied to the future deployment of IP Multimedia Subsystems (“IMS”).

We believe that ATCA and Media Servers will become more prevalent ways to implement network equipment
and that it will reach multi−billion dollar levels over the next several years. However, history has shown us that rates
of adoption in this space can be potentially slower than projected. For RadiSys, this is predominately a new market
opportunity that has not existed in a meaningful way for us until now. Up until this point only a limited number of
equipment makers have used merchant−supplied, standards−based modular platforms. Based on our interactions
with customers, we believe this model will become more widely adopted as network equipment makers strive to
bring more products to market faster and with lower design and product costs. Currently, our standards−based
products do not make up a significant percentage of our total revenues, however, we believe design wins associated
with these products will begin to ramp into production in 2008.

Perfect Fit Solutions.  Our perfect fit solutions are products tailored or customized to meet specific customer or
application requirements. These solutions range from modifications of standard or existing products to complete
development and supply of customized solutions. We draw on our experience and large design library to create
products with varying degrees of customization. We will continue to invest a portion of our resources in perfect fit
solutions as these opportunities are an integral part of our business model and leverage our existing know−how. We
also believe that our customers will require and value some degree of customization of our standards−based
platforms for some of their specific applications.

We have introduced or announced the following standards−based solutions products:

Promentumtm.  Our Promentumtm ATCA family includes a fully integrated application ready platform as well
as a set of modular building blocks all configurable for a wide variety of applications. Going beyond simple building
blocks, our ATCA strategy delivers a common managed platform for network element and dataplane applications,
which offers a significant benefit to our customers. Utilizing the same managed platform for a variety of
applications, Telecom Equipment Manufactures (“TEMs”) can reduce overall development time by up to 50% and
significantly reduce development, lifecycle and equipment costs.

The Promentum SYS−6010 is the industry’s first ATCA 10Gigabit managed platform. The SYS−6010 is a fully
integrated and validated managed platform designed to address high speed I/O and bandwidth intensive
traffic−bearing applications. This platform is designed to be implemented in a flexible and reliable architecture
complete with comprehensive system management. The Promentumtm ATCA building blocks are implemented in a
modular fashion with seamless interoperability.

Additionally, we include data path and platform management software integrated into the Promentumtm ATCA
product line. This enables TEMs to focus on developing the higher value application layer rather then spending
precious resources developing basic protocols and platform management solutions.

Proceleranttm.  Our Proceleranttm CE blades and boards are designed for embedded applications that require a
standard processor and memory subsystem, but also modular flexibility to retain key design level IP on a separate
carrier board. Proceleranttm CE products are based on modular computing solutions. COM Express is a standard that
provides a bridge from legacy interfaces such as PCI and IDE to new serial differential signaling technologies such
as PCI Express, Serial ATA, USB 2.0, LVDS, and Serial DVO. Because they are modular and standards−based, our
COM Express products help equipment manufacturers
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shorten their time to market and reduce development costs. By making processor, chipset and memory modular and
independent of the rest of the system design, manufacturers can focus engineering resources on developing
differentiating features and avoid the design churn that comes with implementing new processor generations.

Convediatm Media Servers (“CMS”).  In the third quarter of 2006 we completed the acquisition of Convedia
Corporation (“Convedia”) and entered the media server market with a portfolio of market leading IP media server
products. RadiSys CMS enable service innovation and differentiation by providing powerful, reusable and highly
scalable multimedia processing platforms for VoIP and IMS telecommunication service providers and enterprise
customers. Together with our solution partners, the CMS family supports the next generation of feature rich, turnkey,
high−value services that combine the best of the Internet and telecommunications worlds.

The CMS family consolidates the functions of traditional announcement servers, interactive voice response
units, audio and video conference bridges, messaging platforms and speech platforms into a single, multi−service,
open standards−compliant solution for network and enhanced services media processing. Our CMS share identical
control interfaces, media processing features and management capabilities. The many features and benefits of our
CMS allow our customers to increase revenues through delivery of new and innovative services, while reducing
capital and ongoing operational costs. Our CMS−1000 and CMS−6000 media servers have been successfully
deployed around the world. Our newest media servers, the CMS−3000 and CMS−9000, are optimized for IMS
network deployments and are currently in field trials with customers.

Segments

RadiSys is one operating segment as determined by the way that management makes operating decisions and
assesses RadiSys’ financial performance. See Note 19 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
segment information.

Competition

We have three different types of competitors:

• Our target customers — Our most significant competition is from our own customers and potential customers
who choose to remain vertically integrated and continue to fully design and supply all or most of their own
modules and sub−systems. However, we believe system makers are moving away from this propriety mode
of system development and supply.

• Merchant Platform Providers — Some of these competitors include Embedded Communications Computing
a division of Motorola, IP Unity, Mercury Computer Systems and Sun Microsystems.

• Merchant Board Providers — Some of these competitors include Advantech Co., a division within Emerson,
a division within General Electric Company, a division within Intel Corporation, Interphase and Kontron AG.

We believe that our system level architecture and design expertise, coupled with our broad product portfolio and
flexibility in working intimately with system makers, will enable us to differentiate our products against our
competition. We believe our rapid design cycles and standards−based solutions will provide customers with a time to
market advantage at a lower total cost.

Customers

Our customers include many leading system makers in a variety of end markets. Examples of these customers
include: Agilent Technologies, Airvana, Arrow Electronics, Aspect Medical Systems, Avaya, Comverse Network
Systems (“Comverse”)− a division of Comverse Technology, Fluke Electronics, Hewlett Packard, Huawei
Technologies Co., IBM, Intel Corporation, Intercall, a division of West Corporation, Lucent Technologies, NexTone
Communications, Nokia, Nortel Networks (“Nortel”), Philips Medical Systems, Siemens AG, Tektronix, and
Universal Instruments.
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Our five largest customers, accounting for approximately 66.7% of revenues in 2006 are listed below with an
example of the type of application which incorporates RadiSys products:

Customer Application

Avaya Unified messaging products
Comverse Wireless Voice and Multimedia Messaging Systems
Nokia 2, 2.5, and 3G Wireless Infrastructure Equipment
Nortel IP−Enabled PBX systems and switches
Philips Medical Systems Cardiovascular, Surgical, and Medical Imaging Equipment

Nokia and Nortel were our largest customers in 2006 accounting for 39.4% and 10.3% of total 2006 revenues,
respectively.

Research, Development and Engineering

We believe that our research, development and engineering (“R&D”) expertise represents an important
competitive advantage. Our R&D staff consisted of 279 engineers and technicians as of February 2, 2007. We
currently have design centers located in the United States of America, Canada and China.

A majority of our R&D efforts are currently focused on the development of standards−based products targeted
at a wide variety of applications. This is an important part of our strategy to provide a broader set of products and
building blocks, which allows deployment of flexible solutions leveraged off of reusable designs and commercially
available components. We believe this will result in significant savings in development time and investment for our
customers and will increase the number of applications into which RadiSys solutions can be incorporated. In
addition, we are increasingly combining our standards−based products to create more integrated and more complex
hardware and software based systems.

A portion of our R&D efforts are focused on custom solutions for our customers, where existing functional
building blocks are tailored to meet the customer’s specific needs. For these programs, our engineering team works
closely with the customer’s engineering team to architect, develop and deliver solutions that meet their specific
requirements using RadiSys functional building blocks. We engage in close and frequent communication during the
design and supply process, allowing us to operate as a “virtual division” within a customer’s organization. We
believe our in−depth understanding of embedded systems provides customers with specialized competitive solutions,
earning RadiSys a strong incumbent position for future system development projects.

It is our objective to retain the rights to technology developed during the design process. In some cases, we
agree to share technology rights, manufacturing rights, or both, with the customer. However, we generally retain
nonexclusive rights to use any shared technology.

Sales and Marketing

Our products are sold through a variety of channels, including direct sales, distributors and sales representatives.
The total direct sales and marketing headcount was 93 as of February 2, 2007. We use our dedicated
cross−functional teams to develop long−term relationships with our customers, which is a means by which we
achieve collaborative success. Our cross−functional teams include sales, application engineering, marketing,
program management, supply chain management and design engineering. Our teams collaborate with our customers
to combine their development efforts in key areas of competency with our standards−based or perfect−fit solutions to
achieve higher quality, lower development and product cost and faster time to market for their products.

We market and sell our products in North America, Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”), and Asia
Pacific. In each of these geographies, products are sold principally through a direct sales force with our sales
resources located in the United States of America, Canada, Europe, Israel, China and Japan. In addition, in each of
these geographies we make use of an indirect distribution model and sales representatives to access additional
customers. In 2006, global revenues were comprised geographically of 34.6% from North America,
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48.1% from EMEA and 17.3% from Asia Pacific. See Note 19 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for financial information by geographic area.

Manufacturing Operations

We utilize a combination of internal and outsourced manufacturing. Total manufacturing operations headcount
was 216 as of February 2, 2007. We currently manufacture approximately 20% to 30% of our own products and
intend to continue to outsource the majority of our products to manufacturing services partners for better global
customer fulfillment and reduced cost.

We have an automated ISO9001 certified plant in Hillsboro, Oregon that provides board and systems assembly
and testing. This plant includes an automated line for Surface Mount Technology (“SMT”), double−sided board
assembly and facilities for systems integration, configuration and testing. Because the products into which building
blocks are integrated typically have long life reliability requirements, dynamic stress testing of our products must be
particularly rigorous. We believe our product testing processes are a competitive advantage.

We also have a facility in Vancouver, British Columbia which is responsible for the final integration, testing and
delivery of Media Server systems. This includes working with our contract manufacturer to manufacture and
functionally test all hardware components of an end system.

Although many of the raw materials used in our internal and outsourced manufacturing operations are available
from a number of alternative sources, some of these are obtained from a single supplier or a limited number of
suppliers. We and our outsourced manufacturing partners contract with third parties for a continuing supply of the
components used in the manufacture of our products. We currently rely solely on Intel for the supply of some
microprocessors and other components. Alternative sources of components that are procured from one supplier or a
limited number of suppliers would be difficult to locate and/or it would require a significant amount of time and
resources to establish and accommodate.

We also rely on contract manufacturers with for certain RadiSys products. Alternative sources of manufacturing
services for the RadiSys products, including transitioning the products, could require significant time and resources
to establish. In addition, any decline in the quality of components supplied by our vendors or products produced by
our contracting manufacturing partners could adversely impact our reputation and business performance. We have
experienced less than optimal service from one of our contract manufacturers in North America. As a result, we have
discontinued our relationship with this contract manufacturer and are transitioning the majority of this production to
our Hillsboro facility.

Backlog

As of December 31, 2006, our backlog was approximately $21.7 million, compared to $25.1 million as of
December 31, 2005. We include in our backlog statistic all purchase orders scheduled for delivery within 12 months.
The general trend within our addressable markets continues to be shorter lead times and supplier managed inventory,
which has been decreasing backlog over time as a percentage of revenue.

Intellectual Property

We hold 25 U.S. and two foreign utility patents, three U.S. design patents and have five U.S. and 18 foreign
patent applications pending; however, we rely principally on trade secrets, know how and rapid time to market for
protection and leverage of our intellectual property. We believe that our competitiveness depends much more on the
pace of our product development, trade secrets, and our relationships with customers than in filed and issued patents.
We have from time to time been made aware of others in the industry who assert exclusive rights to certain
technologies, usually in the form of an offer to license certain rights for fees or royalties. Our policy is to evaluate
such claims on a case−by−case basis. We may seek to enter into licensing agreements with companies having or
asserting rights to technologies if we conclude that such licensing arrangements are necessary or desirable in
developing specific products.
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Employees

As of February 2, 2007 we had 699 employees, of which 606 were regular employees and 93 were agency
temporary employees or contractors. We are not subject to any collective bargaining agreement, have never been
subject to a work stoppage, and believe that we have maintained good relationships with our employees.

Change of Auditor

On May 9, 2005 we informed PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP (“PwC”) that PwC had been dismissed as our
independent registered public accounting firm and on May 12, 2005, we engaged KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) as our
independent registered public accounting firm to audit our financial statements for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2006.

Corporate History

RadiSys Corporation was incorporated in March 1987 under the laws of the State of Oregon.

INTERNET INFORMATION

Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10−K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10−Q, Current Reports on Form 8−K,
and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) are available free of charge through our website (www.radisys.com) as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically file the information with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”).

FORWARD−LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10−K contains forward−looking statements. Some of the forward−looking
statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10−K include:

• our statements concerning our beliefs about the success of our shift in business strategy from perfect fit
solutions to standards−based solutions;

• the adoption by our customers of standards−based solutions and ATCA;
• the size of the addressable market for ATCA;
• estimates of anticipated revenue from design wins;
• expectations and goals for revenues, gross margin, R&D expenses, selling, general, administrative expenses

and profits;
• estimates and impact of stock−based compensation expense;
• expectations about the benefits from and integration of the operations, technologies, products or personnel

from the acquisition of Convedia;
• estimates and impact of the costs of the acquisition of Convedia;
• the impact of our restructuring events on future revenues;
• currency exchange rate fluctuations, changes in tariff and trade policies and other risks associated with

foreign operations;
• our projected liquidity; and
• matters affecting the computer manufacturing industry including changes in industry standards, changes in

customer requirements and new product introductions, as well as other risks described in Item 1a “Risk
Factors”.
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All statements that relate to future events or to our future performance are forward−looking statements. In some
cases, forward−looking statements can be identified by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plans,”
“seeks,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” “seek to continue,” “intends,” or
other comparable terminology. These forward−looking statements are made pursuant to safe−harbor provisions of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward−looking statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results or our industries’ actual results,
levels of activity, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity,
performance, or achievements expressed or implied by these forward−looking statements.

Forward−looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10−K include discussions of our goals, including
those discussions set forth in Item 2. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations”. We cannot provide assurance that these goals will be achieved.

Although forward−looking statements help provide additional information about us, investors should keep in
mind that forward−looking statements are only predictions, at a point in time, and are inherently less reliable than
historical information. In evaluating these statements, you should specifically consider the risks outlined above and
those listed under “Risk Factors” in Item 1a. These risk factors may cause our actual results to differ materially from
any forward−looking statement.

We do not guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements and we do not assume
responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of these statements. The forward−looking statements contained in
this Annual Report on Form 10−K are made and based on information as of the date of this report. We assume no
obligation to update any of these statements based on information after the date of this report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors Related to Our Business

Because of our dependence on certain customers, the loss of, or a substantial decline in sales to, a top customer
could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and profitability.

During 2006, we derived 66.7% of our revenues from five customers. These five customers were Nokia, Nortel,
Comverse, Philips Medical Systems and Avaya. During 2006, revenues attributable to Nokia and Nortel were 39.4%
and 10.3%, respectively. A financial hardship experienced by, or a substantial decrease in sales to any one of our top
customers could materially affect revenues and profitability. Generally, these customers are not the end−users of our
products. If any of these customers’ efforts to market the end products we design and manufacture for them or the
end products into which our products are incorporated are unsuccessful in the marketplace our design wins, sales
and/or profitability will be significantly reduced. Furthermore, if these customers experience adverse economic
conditions in the markets into which they sell our products (end markets), we would expect a significant reduction in
spending by these customers. Some of the end markets that these customers sell our products into are characterized
by intense competition, rapid technological change and economic uncertainty. Our exposure to economic cyclicality
and any related fluctuation in demand from these customers could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and
financial condition.

We are shifting our business from predominately perfect fit (custom) solutions to more standards−based products,
such as ATCA, COM Express and Media Servers. This requires substantial expenditures for R&D that could
adversely affect our short−term earnings and, if this strategy is not successful could have a material adverse
effect on our long−term revenues, profitability and financial condition.

We are shifting our business from predominately perfect fit solutions to more standards−based solutions, such
as ATCA, COM Express and Media Server products. There can be no assurance that this strategy will be successful.
This strategy requires us to make substantial expenditures for R&D in new technologies that we reflect as a current
expense in our financial statements. We believe that these investments in standards−based products and new
technologies will allow us to provide a broader set of products and building blocks to take to market and position us
to grow on a long−term basis. Most of these investments are not expected to result in significant revenues for at least
twelve to twenty−four months. Accordingly, these expenditures could adversely
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affect our short−term earnings. In addition, there is no assurance that these new products and technologies will be
accepted by our customers and, if accepted, how large the market will be for these products or what the timing will
be for any meaningful revenues. If we are unable to successfully develop and sell standards−based products to our
customers, our revenues, profitability and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. Additionally, if
we successfully develop standards−based products we may incur incremental R&D expenses as we tailor the
standards−based products for our customers. Furthermore, we are building standards−based products to meet
industry standards that define the basis of compatibility in operation and communication of a system supported by
different vendors. Those standards constantly change and new competing standards emerge. The development or
adaptation of products and technologies require us to commit financial resources, personnel and time significantly in
advance of sales. In order to compete, our decisions with respect to those commitments must accurately anticipate,
sometimes two years or more in advance, both future demand and the technologies that will win market acceptance
to meet that demand.

Our projections of future revenues and earnings are highly subjective and may not reflect future results which
could cause volatility in the price of our common stock.

Most of our major customers have contracts but these contracts do not commit them to purchase a minimum
amount of our products. These contracts generally require our customers to provide us with forecasts of their
anticipated purchases. However, our experience indicates that customers can change their purchasing patterns
quickly in response to market demands and therefore these forecasts may not be relied upon to accurately forecast
sales. From time to time we provide projections to our shareholders and the investment community of our future
sales and earnings. Since we do not have long−term purchase commitments from our major customers and the
customer order cycle is short, it is difficult for us to accurately predict the amount of our sales and related earnings in
any given period. Our projections are based on management’s best estimate of sales using historical sales data,
information from customers and other information deemed relevant. These projections are highly subjective since
sales to our customers can fluctuate substantially based on the demands of their customers and the relevant markets.
Our period to period revenues have varied in the past and may continue to vary in the future. In addition and as
stated above, we have a high degree of customer concentration. Any significant change in purchases by any one of
our largest customers can significantly affect our sales and profitability.

If demand for our products fluctuates, our revenues, profitability and financial condition could be adversely
affected. Important factors that could cause demand for our products to fluctuate include:

• changes in customer product needs;
• changes in the level of customers’ inventory;
• changes in business and economic conditions, including a downturn in the semiconductor industry; and
• market acceptance of our products.

We have recently experienced significant changes in purchases by one of our large customers which adversely
impacted the fiscal period in which it occurred. If our actual sales or earnings are less than the projected amounts, the
price of our common stock may be adversely affected and accordingly our shareholders should not place undue
reliance on these projections.

In addition, the price of our common stock may be adversely affected due to other factors, such as changes in
analysts’ estimates regarding earnings, or may be due to factors relating to the commercial systems and
communication networking markets in general. Shareholders should be willing to incur the risk of such fluctuations.
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Not all new design wins ramp into production, and if ramped into production the volumes derived from such
projects may not be as significant as we had originally estimated, which could have a substantial negative impact
on our anticipated revenues and profitability.

From time to time we estimate the revenue from design wins, which represents three years of revenue once
product development has ramped into production. If a design win actually ramps into production, the average ramp
into production begins about 12 to 18 months after the initial design win, although some more complex projects can
take up to 24 months or longer. After that, there is an additional time lag from the start of production ramp to peak
revenue. Not all design wins ramp into production and even if a design win ramped into production, the volumes
derived from such projects may be less than we had originally estimated. Design wins are sometimes canceled or
delayed, or can perform below original expectations, which can adversely impact anticipated revenues and
profitability.

Our business depends on the communications networking and commercial systems markets in which demand can
be cyclical, and any inability to sell products to these markets or forecast customer demand could have a material
adverse effect on our revenues and gross margin.

We derive our revenues from a number of diverse end markets, some of which are subject to significant cyclical
changes in demand. In 2006, we derived 74.4% and 25.6% of our revenues from the communications networking
and commercial systems markets, respectively. We believe that our revenues will continue to be derived primarily
from these two markets. Communications networking revenues include, but are not limited to, sales to Airvana,
Aspect Medical Systems, Avaya, Comverse, Hewlett Packard, Huawei Technologies Co., IBM, Intel Corporation,
Intercall, a division of West Corporation, Lucent, NexTone Communications, Nokia, Nortel and Siemens AG.
Commercial systems revenues include, but are not limited to, sales to Agilent Technologies, Arrow Electronics,
Fluke Electronics, Philips Medical Systems, Tektronix and Universal Instruments. Generally, our customers are not
the end−users of our products. If our customers experience adverse economic conditions in the markets into which
they sell our products (end markets), we would expect a significant reduction in spending by our customers. Some of
these end markets are characterized by intense competition, rapid technological change and economic uncertainty.
Our exposure to economic cyclicality and any related fluctuation in customer demand in these end markets could
have a material adverse effect on our revenues and financial condition. Significant reduction in our customers’
spending, such as what we experienced in 2001 and 2002, will result in decreased revenues and earnings. We
continue to execute on our strategy of expanding into new end markets either through new product development
projects with our existing customers or through new customer relationships, but no assurance can be given that this
strategy will be successful.

We forecast manufacturing needs based on our customer demand mentioned above. Changes in this demand
could cause us or our contract manufacturers to hold excess or obsolete inventory that may not be salable to other
customers on commercially reasonable terms, and which could require inventory valuation write downs that reduce
our gross margin and profitability. This risk is exacerbated by a current trend from our customers of requiring shorter
lead times between placing orders with us and the shipment date. That typically necessitates an increase in our
inventory or inventory of our products at our contract manufacturers’ locations, raising the likelihood that upon
cancellation or deferral, we may be holding greater amounts of inventory and/or incurring additional costs.
Additionally, we are contractually obligated to reimburse our contract manufacturers for the cost of excess inventory
used in the manufacture of our products for which there is no forecasted or alternative use. Unexpected decreases in
customer demand or our inability to accurately forecast customer demand could result in increases in our adverse
purchase commitment liability and have a material adverse effect on our gross margins and profitability.

12

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Table of Contents

Because of our dependence and our contract manufacturers’ dependence on a few suppliers, or in some cases one
supplier, for some of the components we use, as well as our dependence on a few contract manufacturers to
supply a majority of our products, a loss of a supplier, a decline in the quality of these components, a shortage of
any of these components, or a loss or degradation in performance of a contract manufacturer could have a
material adverse effect on our business or our profitability.

We depend on a few suppliers, or in some cases one supplier, for a continuing supply of the components we use
in the manufacture of our products and any disruption in supply could adversely impact our financial performance.
For example, we currently solely rely on Intel for the supply of some microprocessors and other components.
Alternative sources of components that are procured from one supplier or a limited number of suppliers would be
difficult to locate and/or it would require a significant amount of time and resources to establish.

We also rely on contract manufacturers for the supply of approximately 80% of all of our unit volume. If these
third party manufacturers fail to adequately perform our revenues and profitability could be adversely affected.
Among other things, inadequate performance from our contract manufacturers could include the production of
products that do not meet our high quality standards or schedule and delivery requirements and could cause us to
invest in additional internal resources as we lose productivity on other important projects. In addition, alternative
internal or external sources of manufacturing for RadiSys products could require significant time and resources to
establish or transition. We have experienced less than optimal service from one of our contract manufacturers in
North America. As a result, we have discontinued our relationship with this contract manufacturer and are currently
transitioning the majority of this production to our Hillsboro facility. However, we may incur additional and
unanticipated expenses or delays which may have a material adverse effect on our business or our financial
performance. Also, due to the inherent risks associated with the transfer of production we may incur additional
expenses related to adverse purchase commitments or excess and obsolete inventory.

The failure to successfully integrate Convedia’s business into our operations in the expected time frame, or at all,
may adversely affect our future results.

We believe that the acquisition of Convedia, completed in September 2006 will result in certain benefits,
including expanded global reach and increased product offerings. However, to realize these anticipated benefits,
Convedia’s business must be successfully integrated into RadiSys’ operations by focusing on general and
administrative, manufacturing and marketing and sales cooperation. The success of the Convedia acquisition will
depend on our ability to realize these anticipated benefits from integrating Convedia’s business into our operations.
We may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the Convedia acquisition on a timely basis, or at all, for a variety of
reasons, including the following:

• failure to effectively coordinate sales and marketing efforts to communicate the capabilities of the Company;
• potential difficulties integrating and harmonizing financial reporting or other critical systems; and
• the loss of key employees.

We operate in intensely competitive industries, and our failure to respond quickly to technological developments
and incorporate new features into our products could have an adverse effect on our ability to compete.

We operate in intensely competitive industries that experience rapid technological developments, changes in
industry standards, changes in customer requirements, and frequent new product introductions and improvements. If
we are unable to respond quickly and successfully to these developments, we may lose our competitive position, and
our products or technologies may become uncompetitive or obsolete. To compete successfully, we must maintain a
successful R&D effort, develop new products and production processes, and improve our existing products and
processes at the same pace or ahead of our competitors. We may not be able to successfully develop and market
these new products; the products we invest in and develop may not be
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well received by customers; and products developed and new technologies offered by others may affect the demand
for our products. These types of events could have a variety of negative effects on our competitive position and our
profitability and financial condition, such as reducing our revenue, increasing our costs, lowering our gross margin
percentage, and requiring us to recognize and record impairments of our assets.

Competition in the market for embedded systems is intense, and if we lose our market share, our revenues and
profitability could decline.

We compete with a number of companies providing embedded systems, including Advantech Co., AudioCodes,
Embedded Communications Computing, a division of Motorola, a division within Emerson, a division within
General Electric Company, Hewlett Packard, divisions within both Intel Corporation and IBM, Interphase, IP Unity,
Kontron AG, Mercury Computer Systems and Sun Microsystems. Because the embedded systems market is
growing, it is attracting new non−traditional competitors. These non−traditional competitors include
contract−manufacturers that provide design services and Asian−based original design manufacturers. Some of our
competitors and potential competitors have a number of significant advantages over us, including:

• a longer operating history;
• greater name recognition and marketing power;
• preferred vendor status with our existing and potential customers; and
• significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources, which allow them to respond more

quickly to new or changing opportunities, technologies and customer requirements.

Furthermore, existing or potential competitors may establish cooperative relationships with each other or with
third parties or adopt aggressive pricing policies to gain market share.

As a result of increased competition, we could encounter significant pricing pressures. These pricing pressures
could result in significantly lower average selling prices for our products. We may not be able to offset the effects of
any price reductions with an increase in the number of customers, cost reductions or otherwise. In addition, many of
the industries we serve, such as the communications industry, are encountering market consolidation, or are likely to
encounter consolidation in the near future, which could result in increased pricing pressure and additional
competition thus weakening our position or causing delays in new design wins and their associated production.

Potential acquisitions and partnerships may be more costly or less profitable than anticipated and may adversely
affect the price of our company stock.

Future acquisitions and partnerships may involve the use of significant amounts of cash, potentially dilutive
issuances of equity or equity−linked securities, issuance of debt and amortization of intangible assets with
determinable lives. We may also be required to charge against earnings upon consummation of the acquisition the
value of an acquired business’ technology that does not meet the accounting definition of “completed technology.”
Moreover, to the extent that any proposed acquisition or strategic investment is not favorably received by
shareholders, analysts and others in the investment community, the price of our common stock could be adversely
affected. In addition, acquisitions or strategic investments involve numerous risks, including:

• difficulties in the assimilation of the operations, technologies, products and personnel of the acquired
company;

• the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;
• risks of entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience;
• the potential loss of key employees of the acquired company; and
• performance below expectations by an acquired business.
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In the event that an acquisition or a partnership does occur and we are unable to successfully integrate
operations, technologies, products or personnel that we acquire, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected. We may expend additional resources without receiving benefit
from strategic alliances with third parties.

Our international operations expose us to additional political, economic and regulatory risks not faced by
businesses that operate only in the United States.

In 2006, as measured by delivery destination, we derived 4.0% of our revenues from Canada and Mexico,
48.1% of our revenues from EMEA and 17.3% from Asia Pacific. In 2004 we opened a development center in
Shanghai, China and began to utilize a contract manufacturer in Shenzhen, China. For the year ended December 31,
2006, approximately 52% of our total revenues were associated with products produced at our China contract
manufacturer. Also during 2006 we completed the acquisition of Convedia which includes significant operations in
Vancouver, British Columbia. As a result of all these activities, we are subject to worldwide economic and market
condition risks generally associated with global trade, such as fluctuating exchange rates, tariff and trade policies,
domestic and foreign tax policies, foreign governmental regulations, political unrest, wars and other acts of terrorism
and changes in other economic conditions. These risks, among others, could adversely affect our results of
operations or financial position. Additionally, some of our sales to overseas customers are made under export
licenses that must be obtained from the United States Department of Commerce. Protectionist trade legislation in
either the United States of America or other countries, such as a change in the current tariff structures, export
compliance laws, trade restrictions resulting from war or terrorism, or other trade policies could adversely affect our
ability to sell or to manufacture in international markets. Furthermore, revenues from outside the United States of
America are subject to inherent risks, including the general economic and political conditions in each country. These
risks, among others, could adversely affect our results of operations or financial position.

If we are unable to generate sufficient income in the future, we may not be able to fully utilize our net deferred
tax assets or support our current levels of goodwill and intangible assets on our balance sheet.

We cannot provide absolute assurance that we will generate sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the net
deferred tax assets of $30.3 million as of December 31, 2006. We may not generate sufficient taxable income due to
earning lower than forecasted net income or incurring charges associated with unusual events, such as restructurings
and acquisitions. Accordingly, we may record a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets if our
expectations of future taxable income are not achieved. On the other hand, if we generate taxable income in excess
of our expectations, the valuation allowance may be reduced accordingly. We also cannot provide absolute assurance
that future income will support the carrying amount of goodwill and intangibles of $110.1 million on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2006, and therefore, we may incur an impairment charge in the
future.

Our products for embedded solutions are based on industry standards, which are continually evolving, and any
failure to conform to these standards or lack of success of these standards could have a substantial negative
impact on our revenues and profitability. In addition, these standards could take longer to be deployed or may not
be deployed at all.

We develop and supply a mix of perfect fit and standards−based products. Standards−based products for
embedded computing applications are often based on industry standards, which are continually evolving. Our future
success in these products will depend, in part, upon our capacity to invest in, and successfully develop and introduce
new products based on emerging industry standards. Our inability to invest in or conform to these standards could
render parts of our product portfolio uncompetitive, unmarketable or obsolete. As new standards are developed for
our addressable markets standards, we may be unable to successfully invest in, design and manufacture new products
that address the needs of our customers or achieve substantial market acceptance.
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If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, we may lose a valuable competitive advantage or be forced to
incur costly litigation to protect our rights.

We are a technology dependent company, and our success depends on developing and protecting our intellectual
property. We rely on patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secret laws to protect our intellectual property. At the
same time, our products are complex, and are often not patentable in their entirety. We also license intellectual
property from third parties and rely on those parties to maintain and protect their technology. We cannot be certain
that our actions will protect proprietary rights. If we are unable to adequately protect our technology, or if we are
unable to continue to obtain or maintain licenses for protected technology from third parties, it could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations. In addition, some of our products are now designed, manufactured and
sold outside of the United States of America. Despite our precautions to protect our intellectual property, this
international exposure may reduce or limit protection of our intellectual property which is more prone to design
piracy.

Changes in stock−based compensation accounting rules have adversely impacted our operating results and may
adversely impact our stock price.

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share−Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R requires all
share−based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized as expense in the
financial statements based on their fair values and does not allow the pro forma disclosure previously used as an
alternative to financial statement recognition.

We were required to adopt SFAS 123R in the first quarter of 2006. Under SFAS 123R, we applied the
Black−Scholes valuation model in determining the fair value of share−based payments, with adjustments to the
methodology as necessary for reporting under SFAS 123R guidelines. As a result, our operating results for the year
ended December 31, 2006 contain, and our operating results for future periods will contain, a charge for share−based
compensation related to stock options and shares pursuant to the 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), in
addition to the share−based compensation associated with our restricted share awards and restricted stock units
(“restricted stock”). SFAS 123R had a significant impact on our operating results for the year ended December 31,
2006, with SFAS 123R charges of $6.6 million increasing operating losses to $22.2 million, and we expect the
adoption of SFAS 123R will continue to have a significant adverse impact on our operating results in the future. We
anticipate that stock−based compensation will increase by $3.4 million to approximately $10 million in 2007 due
primarily to the 2004 acceleration of employee stock options with an option price greater than $15.99. As a result of
the acceleration, we reduced the amount of stock based compensation expense recognized in 2006; however, in 2007
stock based compensation expense will increase as the benefit from the acceleration will have been fully utilized.
The increase is also due to the acquisition of Convedia. We cannot predict the effect that this adverse impact on our
reported operating results will have on the trading price of our common stock.

Decreased effectiveness of share−based payment awards could adversely affect our ability to attract and retain
employees.

We have historically used stock options and other forms of share−based payment awards as key components of
our total rewards employee compensation program in order to retain employees and provide competitive
compensation and benefit packages. In accordance with SFAS 123R, we began recording charges to earnings for
stock−based compensation expense in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. As a result, we will incur increased
compensation costs associated with our stock−based compensation programs making it more expensive for us to
grant share−based payment awards to employees in the future. Like other companies, we have reviewed our equity
compensation strategy in light of the current regulatory and competitive environment and have decided to reduce the
total number of options granted to employees and the number of employees who receive share−based payment
awards. Due to this change in our stock−based compensation strategy, we may find it difficult to attract, retain and
motivate employees, and any such difficulty could materially adversely affect our business.
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We depend on the recruitment and retention of qualified personnel, and our failure to attract and retain such
personnel could seriously harm our business.

Due to the specialized nature of our business, our future performance is highly dependent upon our ability to
attract and retain qualified engineering, manufacturing, marketing, sales and management personnel for our
operations. Competition for personnel is intense, and we may not be successful in attracting and retaining qualified
personnel. Our failure to compete for these personnel could seriously harm our business, results of operations and
financial condition. In addition, if incentive programs we offer are not considered desirable by current and
prospective employees, we could have difficulty retaining or recruiting qualified personnel. If we are unable to
recruit and retain key employees, our product development, and marketing and sales could be harmed.

Our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting do not guarantee the absence of error or
fraud.

Disclosure controls are procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports
filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Annual Report, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls are also designed to ensure that the
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Internal control over financial reporting (“internal controls”) are procedures which are designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and
includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of RadiSys; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of RadiSys are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of RadiSys; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of RadiSys’ assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements. To the extent that components of our Internal Controls are
included in our disclosure controls, they are included in the scope of our quarterly controls evaluation.

Our management, including the CEO and CFO, do not expect that our disclosure controls or internal controls
will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control
system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been
detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision−making can be faulty, and
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts
of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any
system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and we cannot
assure that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time,
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost−effective control system, misstatements due to
error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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Oregon corporate law, our articles of incorporation and our bylaws contain provisions that could prevent or
discourage a third party from acquiring us even if the change of control would be beneficial to our shareholders.

Our articles of incorporation and our bylaws contain anti−takeover provisions that could delay or prevent a
change of control of our company, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our shareholders. These
provisions:

• authorize our board of directors to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to determine the price,
rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares without prior
shareholder approval to increase the number of outstanding shares and deter or prevent a takeover attempt;

• establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing
matters that can be acted upon by shareholders at shareholder meetings;

• prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise allow less than a majority of
shareholders to elect director candidates; and

• limit the ability of shareholders to take action by written consent, thereby effectively requiring all common
shareholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our common shareholders.

In addition, if our common stock is acquired in specified transactions deemed to constitute “control share
acquisitions,” provisions of Oregon law condition the voting rights that would otherwise be associated with those
common shares upon approval by our shareholders (excluding, among other things, the acquirer in any such
transaction). Provisions of Oregon law also restrict, subject to specified exceptions, the ability of a person owning
15% or more of our common stock to enter into any “business combination transaction” with us.

The foregoing provisions of Oregon law and our articles of incorporation and bylaws could limit the price that
investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

Other Risk Factors Related to Our Business

Other risk factors include, but are not limited to, changes in the mix of products sold, regulatory and tax
legislation, changes in effective tax rates, inventory risks due to changes in market demand or our business
strategies, potential litigation and claims arising in the normal course of business, credit risk of customers and other
risk factors. Additionally, proposed changes to accounting rules could materially affect what we report under
generally accepted accounting principles and adversely affect our operating results.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Information concerning our principal properties at December 31, 2006 is set forth below:

Square

Location Type
Principal

Use Footage Ownership

Hillsboro, OR Office & Plant Headquarters, Marketing, 130,000 Leased
Manufacturing, Distribution,
Research and Engineering

Plant & Land Held For Sale 23,000 Owned
Des Moines, Iowa Office Marketing, Research, and

Engineering
12,655 Leased

Boca Raton, FL Office Marketing, Research, and
Engineering

26,211 Leased

Dublin, Ireland Office Marketing, Distribution 1,658 Leased
Burnaby, Canada Office Marketing, Research, and

Engineering
31,920 Leased
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We also lease sales offices in the United States of America located in San Diego, California, Marlborough,
Massachusetts and Sea Girt, New Jersey. We have international sales offices located in Munich, Germany and
Tokyo, Japan. We have two offices to support our contract manufacturing partners and these offices are located in
Charlotte, North Carolina and in Shenzhen, China. We also lease an office in Shanghai, China for our China−based
Development Center. In addition to the above properties, we own two parcels of land adjacent to our Hillsboro,
Oregon facility, which were acquired for future expansion but are currently held for sale.

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company accepted offers to sell its DC3 building and one of its
surrounding lots. The sales are expected to close in the second quarter and third quarter, respectively.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “RSYS.” The following
table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the highest and lowest closing sale prices for the common stock, as
reported by the Nasdaq Global Select Market.

High Low

2006
Fourth Quarter $ 21.78 $ 15.98
Third Quarter 24.94 19.88
Second Quarter 21.96 19.01
First Quarter 20.57 17.29

2005
Fourth Quarter $ 19.48 $ 15.75
Third Quarter 19.48 16.17
Second Quarter 16.58 12.95
First Quarter 19.55 13.89

The closing price as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on February 28, 2007 was $15.72 per share.
As of February 28, 2007, there were approximately 380 holders of record of our common stock. We believe that the
number of beneficial owners is substantially greater than the number of record holders because a large portion of our
outstanding common stock is held of record in broker “street names” for the benefit of individual investors.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not expect to declare cash dividends on
the common stock in the foreseeable future in compliance with our policy to retain all of our earnings to finance
future growth.
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The following graph sets forth our total cumulative shareholder return as compared to the return of the Standard
and Poor’s 500 Index (“S&P 500”) and the Nasdaq Computer Manufacturers Index for the period of December 31,
2001 through December 31, 2006. The graph reflects the investment of $100 on December 31, 2001 in our stock, the
S&P 500 and in a published industry peer group index.

Total return also assumes reinvestment of dividends. As noted above, we have never paid dividends on our
common stock. Historical stock price performance should not be relied upon as indicative of future stock price
performance.

Comparison of 5−year cumulative total return among RadiSys Corporation,
the S&P 500 index and the Nasdaq Computer Manufacturers index

Copyright © 2007, Standard & Poor’s a division of The McGraw−Hill Companies, Inc. All rights reserved.
www. researchdatagroup.com/S&P.htm

Cumulative Total Return
12/2001 12/2002 12/2003 12/2004 12/2005 12/2006

RadiSys 100.00 40.59 85.81 99.39 88.20 84.79
S&P 500 100.00 77.90 100.24 111.15 116.61 135.03
Nasdaq Computer
Manufacturers 100.00 67.48 109.37 115.04 107.28 134.84
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of
Operations Data

Revenues $ 292,481 $ 260,234 $ 245,824 $ 202,795 $ 200,087
Gross margin 78,956 76,836 79,172 65,157 59,444
Income (loss) from operations (22,229) 13,788 17,272 8,775 (3,740)
Income (loss) from continuing

operations (13,016) 15,958 13,011 6,010 (1,759)
Loss from discontinued operations

related to Savvi business, net of tax
benefit — — — (4,679) (1,546)

Net income (loss) (13,016) 15,958 13,011 1,331 (3,305)
Net income (loss) from continuing

operations per common share:
Basic $ (0.62) $ 0.79 $ 0.69 $ 0.34 $ (0.10)
Diluted $ (0.62) $ 0.68 $ 0.59 $ 0.32 $ (0.10)

Net loss from discontinued operations
related to Savvi business, net of tax
benefit per common share:
Basic $ — $ — $ — $ (0.26) $ (0.09)
Diluted $ — $ — $ — $ (0.25) $ (0.09)

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic $ (0.62) $ 0.79 $ 0.69 $ 0.07 $ (0.19)
Diluted $ (0.62) $ 0.68 $ 0.59 $ 0.07 $ (0.19)

Weighted average shares outstanding
(basic) 21,158 20,146 18,913 17,902 17,495

Weighted average shares outstanding
(diluted) 21,158 24,832 23,823 18,406 17,495

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $ 161,575 $ 249,159 $ 186,634 $ 222,324 $ 132,474
Total assets 381,654 368,711 345,238 365,562 274,299
Long term obligations, excluding

current portion 98,390 99,777 107,015 164,600 83,954
Total shareholders’ equity 223,455 217,843 191,233 160,990 152,801

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

We have shifted more of our investments from predominantly perfect fit (custom) solutions to standards−based
solutions. We believe standards−based solutions provide our customers a number of fundamental benefits. First, by
using ready−made platform solutions rather than ground−start custom−designs, our customers can achieve
significantly shorter product intervals and faster time−to−market. Second, we believe our customers can achieve a
lower total cost by using solutions that are leveraged across multiple applications rather than a single−use proprietary
solution. By offering ready−made solutions, we believe we have the opportunity to address a wider range of new
market opportunities with the potential for faster time to revenue than with ground−start, custom−designs. We
believe this ability to reuse designs makes our business and investment model more scalable. Finally, we believe a
more standards−based product model will allow us to provide more
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integrated higher value solutions to our customers than we have typically delivered under a custom−design model.
These higher value solutions drive higher price points and therefore more total revenue opportunities for our
products.

In 2005, we announced our plan for the Promentumtm family of ATCA products. The Promentumtm family of
products include turnkey platforms, universal carrier cards, switch and control modules, disk storage modules,
compute modules, packet processing modules and various chassis models. The Promentumtm SYS−6000 integrates
these individual products into a blade server platform system. We believe the Promentumtm SYS−6000 system will
provide customers a highly reliable managed platform on which to build their new voice and data offerings. The
Promentumtm ATCA−7010 is a packet processing module that allows the highest bandwidth available in a single
ATCA® slot. This product features dual Intel® IXP28xx network processors and is designed to address 10 Gbps
wirespeed packet processing in network applications that demand high bandwidth throughput such as security
gateways, GGSN’s, Broadband−Remote Access Servers, edge routers and session controllers. We have significant
experience in the design, delivery and deployment of carrier−grade, modular platforms. We believe the ATCA
standard increases our opportunity to implement reusable platforms, enabling the deployment of more flexible
solutions based on cost−effective commercial technologies. We believe our core ATCA solutions will be applicable
across a wide range of customers and applications. These integrated hardware and software platforms make
extensive use of common system architectural and component designs, using carrier grade operating systems and
middleware, and will reduce development time and costs, which enhances application portability.

In 2006, we announced nine new products in our Promentum family of ATCA solutions. Specifically, we
announced our new Promentum SYS−6010, the industry’s first 10−gigabit managed ATCA platform that will
provide the highest traffic capacity throughput and processing densities available today. Our SYS−6010 is targeted at
data plane applications such as IMS, Radio Network and Base Station Controllers, Media Gateways, Call Servers,
IPTV among a number of applications. As of December 31, 2006 our SYS−6010 became generally available to our
larger customer base. We also introduced two new products based on the latest OCTEON processors from Cavium
Networks. The new ATCA and AMC solutions provide high density Gigabit Ethernet interfaces with sophisticated
dataplane hardware acceleration. These products will help equipment manufacturers reduce R&D costs while
accelerating the introduction of high performance products such as Radio Network Controllers, Session Border
Controllers, Media Gateways, Edge Routers and Security Gateways. Our new AMC−7211 product provides power
efficient packet and security processing for customers requiring AMC modules for their ATCA and MicroTCA
platforms. The ATCA−7200 is a high performance modular gigabit line card equipped with up to four Cavium
OCTEON Plus processor AMCs. Both products have been well received in the market and we expect to begin
delivery of evaluation units in the second quarter of 2007.

In addition to our new ATCA offerings, we announced our new Proceleranttm series of modular computing
solutions, for customers in our commercial systems market for medical, transaction terminals and test and
measurement and other commercial applications. These new modular products are now available, and we believe this
family of high density, flexible solutions will enable commercial systems customers to achieve more rapid time to
market with cost effective designs. Our new Procelerant 945−GM will be the industry’s first COM Express product
that supports low voltage mobile technology. We believe it will provide our customers with greater processing power
in a smaller footprint with lower power consumption. We also announced the introduction of the high performance
RMS420−5000XI embedded server featuring two Dual−Core Intel® Xeon® 5140 processors. This new server will
be used in many demanding data and graphics processing applications such as medical image processing and display,
military, industrial machine vision, test and measurement, signal processing, and 3D and 4D image display. Finally
we announced the Procelerant RMS420, a 4U high performance embedded server with two dual−core processors and
the Procelerant CE945GM dual−core COM Express module. Both products are expected to ship in the first quarter
of 2007.

In the third quarter of 2006 we completed the acquisition of Convedia and entered the media server market with
a portfolio of media server products. RadiSys Media Servers enable service innovation and differentiation by
providing powerful, reusable and highly scalable multimedia processing platforms for VoIP and IMS
telecommunication service providers and enterprise customers. Together with our solution partners,
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the Media Server family supports the next generation of feature rich, turnkey, high−margin services that combine the
best of the Internet and telecommunications worlds.

The Media Server family consolidates the functions of traditional announcement servers, interactive voice
response units, audio and video conference bridges, messaging platforms and speech platforms into a single,
multi−service, open standards−compliant solution for network and enhanced services media processing. Our Media
Servers share identical control interfaces, media processing features and management capabilities. The many features
and benefits of our Media Servers allow our customers to increase revenues through delivery of new and innovative
services, while reducing capital and ongoing operational costs. Our CMS−1000 and CMS−6000 media servers have
been successfully deployed around the world. Our newest media servers, the CMS−3000 and CMS−9000, are
optimized for IMS network deployments and are currently in field trials with customers.

Total revenue was $292.5 million, $260.2 million and $245.8 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Backlog was approximately $21.7 million, $25.1 million and $22.6 million at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Backlog includes all purchase orders scheduled for delivery within 12 months. The general trend within
our addressable markets is for shorter lead times and supplier−managed inventory, which will generally decrease
backlog over time as a percentage of revenue. The increase in revenues during 2006 compared to 2005 was due to
increases in revenues in the communications networking and commercial systems markets of $23.6 million and
$8.6 million, respectively. The increase in revenues during 2005 compared to 2004 was due to an increase in
revenues in the communications networking market of $26.7 million offset by a $12.3 million decrease in revenues
from the commercial systems market. Revenues in the communications networking market increased from 2004 to
2006 primarily due to strong demand within the wireless submarket as we continue to design and supply more
content within our customers’ 2.5 and 3G deployments. For the fourth quarter of 2006 the increase in communication
revenues was offset by reductions in requested deliveries from a large wireless customer. We believe these
reductions were driven by their efforts to significantly reduce inventory levels. We expect our wireless market
revenues to increase in the first quarter of 2007. Revenues in the commercial systems market increased in the 2006
compared to 2005, primarily due to increases in the medical submarket partially offset by declines in our transaction
terminal and industrial automation submarkets, which is consistent with our strategies. The increase in revenues from
the medical market is attributable to design wins that have ramped into production during 2005 and 2006. The
decrease in the transaction terminal revenues was primarily due to design wins nearing the end of their life cycle.
Currently, our standards−based products do not make up a significant percentage of our total revenues, however, we
believe design wins associated with these products will begin to ramp into production in 2008.

From a geographic perspective, from 2004 to 2006 the percentage of non−U.S. revenues by delivery destination
increased as a percentage of total revenues. This was primarily due to existing multinational customers requesting
the delivery of products directly into the Asia Pacific region and increased revenues attributable to our EMEA region
associated with our wireless infrastructure products. For the year ended December 31, 2006 revenues from North
America increased by $8.4 million compared to the same periods in 2005. This increase is due to primarily to the
addition of media server business revenues and increased Nortel shipments in the fourth quarter of 2006. We expect
our non−U.S. revenues to remain a significant portion of our revenues.

During the third quarter of 2006, we announced our decision to disengage from one of our contract
manufacturers in North America. We are currently transitioning the majority of this production to our Hillsboro
facility. This has resulted in a net increase in inventory related to the transition and we expect to see inventory levels
start to decline after the first quarter of 2007 and continue to decline throughout the year to more traditional levels.

Gross margins as a percentage of revenues were 27.0%, 29.5% and 32.2% for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Approximately half of the decrease in gross margin as a percentage of revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2006 compared to the same period in 2005 was attributable to product mix as more of our revenue is
coming from higher volume products with competitive pricing. The decrease is also due to
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$1.4 million associated with purchase accounting charges attributed to the acquisition of Convedia including $978
thousand for fair value accounting for inventory and the amortization of the $400 thousand of Convedia backlog
identified as an intangible asset, an increase of $1.3 million associated with our excess and obsolete accrual and $691
thousand associated with the write down of raw material inventory that was sold to our contract manufacturing
partners during the first quarter of 2006. The decrease is also due to increased adverse purchase commitments
associated with the transfer of our production from one of our contract manufacturers to our Hillsboro facility and to
our other contract manufacturer. For the year ended December 31, 2006, cost of sales included $876 thousand of
stock−based compensation expense which is discussed in Note 18. We also continued to incur redundant
manufacturing costs as we moved forward with outsourcing our internal manufacturing to our contract
manufacturing partners. The decrease was also associated with additional manufacturing−related costs in 2006 due to
making our products RoHS (Restriction of the Use of Certain Hazardous Substances in the Electrical and Electronic
Equipment) compliant. We currently expect our gross margin percent to be higher in 2007 due to our current
forecasted revenue mix.

Net loss was $13.0 million in 2006. Net income was $16.0 million in 2005 and $13.0 million in 2004. Net loss
per share was $0.62 for 2006. Net income per share was $0.79 and $0.68, basic and diluted, respectively, in 2005.
Net income per share was $0.69 and $0.59, basic and diluted, respectively, in 2004. Net income has decreased from
2005 to 2006, due primarily to the purchase accounting charges due to the acquisition of Convedia including a
$14.0 million in−process research and development charge, $5.9 million of intangible amortization and $624
thousand of deferred compensation expenses. See Note 20 — Acquisition of Convedia.

From 2004 through 2006, we initiated multiple restructurings of our operations. These restructurings primarily
included workforce reductions. These workforce reductions were a result of the increase in outsourced
manufacturing and a result of aligning our workforce to deliver more integrated advanced embedded platforms and
solutions or standards−based solutions.

In 2004, we repurchased $58.8 million principal amount of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes for
$58.2 million. In 2005, we repurchased $7.5 million principal amount of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes for
$7.4 million. In 2006, we repurchased $100 thousand principal amount of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes
for $100 thousand.

In 2005, we began granting restricted stock to our employees. As a result, in 2005, we incurred $199 thousand
of stock−based compensation expense associated with the vesting of restricted stock. During 2004, we incurred $841
thousand of stock−based compensation expense associated with shares to be issued pursuant to the 1996 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). We incurred stock−based compensation expense because the original number of
ESPP shares approved by the shareholders was insufficient to meet employee demand for an ESPP offering which
was consummated in February of 2003 and ended in August of 2004. We subsequently received shareholder
approval for additional ESPP shares in May 2003.

The stock−based compensation expense associated with our equity instruments issued in 2005 and 2004 was
calculated using the intrinsic value method. As of January 1, 2006, we are required to account for stock−based
compensation based on the fair value method. As a result, in 2006, we incurred $6.6 million of stock−based
compensation expense associated with options, restricted stock, and ESPP.

Cash and cash equivalents and investments amounted to $136.0 million and $225.9 million at December 31,
2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents and investments was primarily
due to $106.1 million in cash provided from operating activities used to purchase Convedia. We believe that cash
flows from operations, available cash and investment balances, and short−term borrowings will be sufficient to fund
our operating liquidity needs for the short−term and long−term.

In the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations, we intend to provide information
that will assist in understanding our financial statements, changes in certain key items in those financial statements
from year to year, and the primary factors that accounted for those changes, as well as how certain accounting
principles, policies and estimates affect our financial statements.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon the
Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to
make estimates and judgments that may affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and revenues and expenses.
On an on−going basis, management evaluates its estimates. Management bases its estimates on historical experience
and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on
assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made, and if different estimates that
reasonably could have been used, or changes in the accounting estimates that are reasonably likely to occur
periodically, could materially impact the financial statements. Management believes the following critical
accounting policies reflect the more significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Inventory Reserves

We record the inventory valuation allowance for estimated obsolete or unmarketable inventories as the
difference between the cost of inventories and the estimated net realizable value based upon assumptions about
future demand and market conditions. Factors influencing the provision include: changes in demand; rapid
technological changes; product life cycle and development plans; component cost trends; product pricing; regulatory
requirements affecting components; and physical deterioration. If actual market conditions are less favorable than
those projected by management, additional provisions for inventory reserves may be required. Our estimate for the
allowance is based on the assumption that our customers comply with their current contractual obligations. We
provide long−life support to our customers and therefore we have material levels of customer specific inventory. If
our customers experience a financial hardship or if we experience unplanned cancellations of customer contracts, the
current provision for the inventory reserves may be inadequate. Additionally, we may incur additional expenses
associated with any non−cancelable purchase obligations to our suppliers if they provide customer−specific
components.

Adverse Purchase Commitments

We are contractually obligated to reimburse our contract manufacturers for the cost of excess inventory used in
the manufacture of our products, for which there is no alternative use. Excess inventory is defined as raw materials
or assemblies (“components”) used in the manufacture of our products for which the contract manufacturers’
on−hand and on−order quantities are in excess of the requirements derived from our current product forecast of
customer demand. We are liable for excess inventory only to the extent that the contract manufacturer procures
components to fulfill the manufacturing requirements as set forth in our current product forecast and agreed upon
lead times and minimum order quantities. Unexpected decreases in customer demand or our inability to accurately
forecast customer demand could result in increases in our adverse purchase commitment liability and have a material
adverse effect on our profitability. Factors influencing the adverse purchase commitments liability include: changes
in demand, rapid technological changes, product life cycle and development plans, component cost trends, product
pricing, customer liability and physical deterioration. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those
projected by management we may incur additional expenses due to increases in our adverse purchase commitment
liabilities. Our estimate for the adverse purchase commitments liabilities is based on the assumption that our
customers comply with their current contractual obligations to us. If our customers experience a financial hardship or
if we experience unplanned cancellations of customer contracts, the current adverse purchase commitments liabilities
may be inadequate

Estimates for adverse purchase commitments are derived from reports received on a quarterly basis from our
contract manufacturers. Increases to this liability are charged to cost of goods sold. When and if we take
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possession of inventory reserved for in this liability, the liability is transferred from other liabilities to our excess and
obsolete inventory valuation allowance. This liability, referred to as adverse purchase commitments, is provided for
in other accrued liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets. Adverse purchase commitments amounted to
$1.9 million and $828 thousand at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

Accrued Warranty

We provide for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized. Our standard product
warranty terms generally include post−sales support and repairs or replacement of a product at no additional charge
for a specified period of time, which is generally 24 months after shipment. The workmanship of our products
produced by contract manufacturers is covered under warranties provided by the contract manufacturer for a
specified period of time ranging from 12 to 15 months. We engage in extensive product quality programs and
processes, including actively monitoring and evaluating the quality of our component suppliers. Our estimated
warranty obligation is based upon ongoing product failure rates, internal repair costs, contract manufacturing repair
charges for repairs not covered by the contract manufacturer’s warranty, average cost per call and current period
product shipments. If actual product failure rates, repair rates, service delivery costs, or post−sales support costs
differ from our estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be required. Additionally, we accrue
warranty costs for specific customer product repairs that are in excess of our warranty obligation calculation
described above.

Long−Lived Assets

Our long−lived assets include indefinite−lived intangible assets or goodwill, definite−lived intangible assets and
property and equipment. The net balance of goodwill, definite−lived intangible assets and property and equipment at
December 31, 2006 amounted to $67.2 million, $42.9 million and $11.1 million, respectively.

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the assigned value of the net assets in connection with prior
acquisitions. Goodwill will be written down or written off when impaired. Goodwill is required to be tested for
impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances (“conditions”) indicate the carrying
value of goodwill may not be recoverable.

We completed our annual goodwill impairment analysis as of September 30, 2006 and concluded that as of
September 30, 2006, there was no goodwill impairment. Our annual goodwill impairment analysis consists of
comparing our book value to our market capitalization. If the trading price or the average trading price of our
common stock is below the book value per share for a sustained period, a goodwill impairment test will be
performed. Our book value per share was $10.41 at September 30, 2006 compared to the closing price of RadiSys
shares as quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market or the trading price on September 30, 2006 of $21.25.
Management concluded there was no indication of material changes requiring an updated goodwill impairment
analysis as of December 31, 2006.

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, primarily consist of acquired patents, completed technology,
technology licenses, trade names and customer lists. Intangible assets are being amortized on a straight−line basis
over estimated useful lives ranging from 1 to 10 years. Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation,
primarily consists of office equipment and software, manufacturing equipment, leasehold improvements, a building
and other physical assets owned by RadiSys. Property and equipment are being depreciated or amortized on a
straight−line basis over estimated useful lives ranging from 1 to 40 years. We assess impairment of intangible assets
and property and equipment whenever conditions indicate that the carrying values of the assets may not be
recoverable.

Conditions that would trigger a long−lived asset impairment assessment include, but are not limited to, a
significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate that could affect the value of an asset or an
adverse action or assessment by a regulator. If we determine that a long−lived asset impairment assessment is
required, we must determine the fair value of the asset, which is determined based on the associated net present value
of estimated future cash flows. We would estimate future cash flows using assumptions about our expected future
operating performance. Our estimates of future cash flows may differ from actual cash flow due to, among other
things, technological changes, economic conditions or changes to our business
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operations. Impairments would be recognized in operating results to the extent that the carrying value exceeds this
calculated fair value of the long−lived assets.

Considerable management judgment is required in determining if and when a condition would trigger an
impairment assessment of our long−lived assets and once such a determination has been made, considerable
management judgment is required to determine the fair market value of the long−lived asset. If the trading price or
the average trading price of our common stock is below the book value per share for a sustained period or if and
when a condition has triggered an impairment analysis of our long−lived assets, we may incur substantial
impairment losses due to the write−down or the write−off of our long−lived assets.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
and tax bases of the assets and liabilities. We record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to “more likely than not” be realized in its future tax returns. Should we determine that we would
not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets in the future, adjustments to the valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets may be required. The net deferred tax assets amounted to $30.3 million as of December 31, 2006.
As of December 31, 2006 we estimate utilization of the net deferred tax assets will require that we generate
approximately $60.0 million and $30.0 million in taxable income in the U.S. and Canada, respectively, prior to the
expiration of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards which will occur between 2006 (as we have not yet filed
our 2006 return) and 2023. We have considered future market growth, forecasted earnings, future taxable income,
the mix of earnings in the jurisdictions in which we operate and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in
determining the need for a valuation allowance. In the event we were to determine that we would not be able to
realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets in the future, we would increase the valuation allowance and make a
corresponding charge to earnings in the period in which we make such determination. Likewise, if we later
determine that we are more likely than not to realize the net deferred tax assets, we would reverse the applicable
portion of the previously provided valuation allowance.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We have a relatively small set of multinational customers that typically make up the majority of our accounts
receivable balance. Our allowance for doubtful accounts is determined using a combination of factors to ensure that
our trade receivables balances are not overstated. We record reserves for individual accounts when we become aware
of a customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us, such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or
deterioration in the customer’s operating results or financial position. If circumstances related to customers change,
our estimates of the recoverability of receivables would be further adjusted. At December 31, 2006, 50.3% of our
accounts receivable was due from our four largest customers. If one of these large customers or a number of our
smaller customers files for bankruptcy or otherwise is unable to pay the amounts due to us the current allowance for
doubtful accounts may not be adequate. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 there were no
significant account balances reserved for and the allowance for doubtful accounts decreased by $18 thousand as a
result of the write−off of previously specifically identified account balances.

We maintain a non−specific bad debt reserve for all customers based on a variety of factors, including the length
of time receivables are past due, trends in overall weighted average risk rating of the total portfolio, macroeconomic
conditions, significant one−time events and historical experience. Typically, this non−specific bad debt reserve
amounts to approximately 1% of quarterly revenues.

Accrued Restructuring and Other Charges

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 expenses associated with exit or disposal activities are
recognized when probable and estimable. Because we have a history of paying severance
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benefits, the cost of severance benefits associated with a restructuring charge is recorded when such costs are
probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

For leased facilities that were vacated and subleased, an amount equal to the total future lease obligations from
the date of vacating the premises through the expiration of the lease, net of any future sublease income, was recorded
as a part of restructuring charges.

We have engaged, and may continue to engage, in restructuring actions, which require us to make significant
estimates in several areas including: realizable values of assets made redundant or obsolete; expenses for severance
and other employee separation costs; the ability to generate sublease income, as well as our ability to terminate lease
obligations at the amounts we have estimated; and other exit costs. Should the actual amounts differ from our
estimates, the amount of the restructuring charges could be materially impacted. For a description of our
restructuring actions, refer to our discussion of restructuring charges in the Results of Operations section.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the earnings process is complete, as evidenced by the following revenue
recognition criteria: an agreement with the customer; fixed pricing; transfer of title and risk of loss and customer
acceptance, if applicable; and that the collectibility of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. When a sales
arrangement contains multiple elements, such as hardware and software products, licenses and/or services, we
allocate revenue to each element based on its relative fair value, or for software, based on vendor specific objective
evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value. In the absence of fair value for a delivered element, we first allocate revenue to the
fair value of the undelivered elements and the residual revenue to the delivered elements. Where the fair value for an
undelivered element cannot be determined, we defer revenue for the delivered elements until the undelivered
elements are delivered. We limit the amount of revenue recognition for delivered elements to the amount that is not
contingent on the future delivery of products or services or subject to customer−specified return or refund privileges.
We enter into contracts to sell our products and services, and, while the majority of our sales agreements contain
standard terms and conditions under which we recognize revenue upon shipment of product, infrequently we enter
into agreements that contain non−standard terms and conditions. Non−standard terms and conditions can include, but
are not limited to, customer acceptance criteria or other post−delivery obligations. As a result, significant contract
interpretation is sometimes required to determine the appropriate timing of revenue recognition. The components of
total revenues were as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Hardware $ 280,720 $ 252,180 $ 234,352
Software royalties and licenses 6,193 4,394 6,304
Software maintenance 1,402 1,919 939
Engineering and other services 4,166 1,738 4,220
Other — 3 9

Total revenues $ 292,481 $ 260,234 $ 245,824

Hardware

Under our standard terms and conditions of sale, we transfer title and risk of loss to the customer at the time
product is shipped to the customer and revenue is recognized accordingly, unless customer acceptance is uncertain or
significant obligations remain. We reduce revenue for estimated customer returns for rotation rights according to
agreements with our distributors. The amount of revenues derived from these distributors as a percentage of total
revenues was 3.4% for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 1.5% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2004.
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Software Royalties and Licenses

Revenue from customers for prepaid, non−refundable software royalties is recorded when the revenue
recognition criteria have been met. Revenue for non−prepaid royalties is recognized at the time the underlying
product is shipped by the customer paying the royalty. We recognize software license revenue at the time of
shipment or upon delivery of the software master provided when the revenue recognition criteria have been met and
vendor−specific objective evidence exists to allocate the total fee to all delivered and undelivered elements of the
arrangement.

Software maintenance

Software maintenance services are recognized as earned on the straight−line basis over the terms of the
contracts.

Engineering and other services

Engineering services revenue is recognized upon completion of certain contractual milestones and customer
acceptance of the services rendered. Other services revenues include hardware repair services and custom software
implementation projects. Hardware repair services revenues are recognized when the services are complete. Software
implementation revenues are recognized upon completion of certain contractual milestones and customer acceptance
of the services rendered.

Stock−based Compensation

Equity instruments are granted to employees, directors and consultants in certain instances, as defined in the
respective plan agreements. In 2006, we issued equity instruments in the form of stock options, restricted stock, and
stock issued to employees as a result of the ESPP. In 2005, we issued equity instruments in the form of stock
options, restricted shares and stock issued to employees as a result of ESPP. In 2004 we issued equity instruments in
the form of stock options and stock issued to employees as a result of the ESPP, only.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, using the modified
prospective transition method, and therefore have not restated prior periods’ results. Under this method we recognize
compensation expense for all stock−based employee benefit plan equity awards granted after January 1, 2006 and
prior to but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, in accordance with SFAS 123R. Under the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS 123R, we recognize stock−based compensation on a straight−line basis over the requisite service
period of the award for those shares expected to vest as described below. Prior to SFAS 123R adoption, we
accounted for share−based payments under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”).

We continue to use the Black−Scholes model to measure the grant date fair value of stock options and ESPP
shares. The grant date fair value of stock options that are expected to vest is recognized on a straight−line basis over
the requisite service period, which is equal to the option vesting period which is generally 3 years. The grant date fair
value of ESPP shares that are expected to vest is recognized on a straight−line basis over the requisite service period,
which is generally 18 months, subject to modification at the date of purchase due to the ESPP look−back feature.
The grant date fair value of restricted stock is equal to the closing price of RadiSys shares as quoted on the Nasdaq
Global Select Market on the date of grant. The grant date fair value of restricted stock that are expected to vest is
recognized on a straight−line basis over the requisite service period, which is 3 years. The estimate of the number of
options, ESPP shares and restricted stock expected to vest is determined based on historical experience.

To determine the fair value of the stock options and ESPP shares, using the Black−Scholes option pricing
model, the calculation takes into consideration the effect of the following:

• exercise price of the option or purchase price of the ESPP share;
• price of our common stock on the date of grant;
• expected term of the option or share;
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• expected volatility of our common stock over the expected term of the option or share; and
• risk free interest rate during the expected term of the option or share.

The calculation includes several assumptions that require management’s judgment. The expected term of the
option or share is determined based on assumptions about patterns of employee exercises and represents a
probability−weighted average time−period from grant until exercise of stock options, subject to information
available at time of grant. Determining expected volatility generally begins with calculating historical volatility for a
similar long−term period and then considers the ways in which the future is reasonably expected to differ from the
past.

As part of our SFAS 123R adoption, we also examined our historical pattern of option exercises in an effort to
determine if there were any discernable activity patterns based on certain employee populations. From this analysis,
we identified three employee populations. The expected term computation is based on historical vested option
exercises and post−vest forfeiture patterns and includes an estimate of the expected term for options that were fully
vested and outstanding at December 31, 2006 for each of the three populations identified. The estimate of the
expected term for options that were fully vested and outstanding at December 31, 2006 was determined as the
midpoint of a range of estimated expected terms determined as follows: the low end of the range assumes the fully
vested and outstanding options settle on December 31, 2006 and the high end of the range assumes that these options
expire upon contractual term. The risk free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturities in effect at
the time of grant for the expected term of the option or share.

Determining the appropriate fair value model and, as noted above, calculating the fair value of equity
instruments associated with our employee benefit plans require the input of highly subjective assumptions. The
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of these equity instruments represent management’s best estimates, but
these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. As a result, if factors
change and we use different assumptions, our stock−based compensation expense could be materially different in the
future. In addition, we are required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate and only recognize expense for those
shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our estimate the stock−based
compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period. See
Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion on stock−based compensation.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, loss before income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2006 was
$6.6 million higher and net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $6.2 million higher than if we had
continued to account for stock−based compensation under APB 25. The impact on both basic and diluted loss per
share for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $0.29.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain operating data as a percentage of revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of sales 73.0 70.5 67.8

Gross margin 27.0 29.5 32.2
Research and development 14.2 11.4 11.5
Selling, general, and administrative 13.5 11.6 12.4
Intangible assets amortization 2.1 0.8 0.9
In−process R&D charge(s) 4.8 — —
Restructuring and other charges 0.0 0.4 0.4

Income (loss) from operations (7.6) 5.3 7.0
Loss on repurchase of convertible subordinated notes — (0.0) (0.2)
Interest expense (0.6) (0.8) (1.5)
Interest income 3.2 2.4 1.4
Other income (expense), net 0.3 (0.3) (0.1)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax provision (4.7) 6.6 6.6
Income tax provision (benefit) (0.3) 0.5 1.3

Net income (loss) (4.4)% 6.1% 5.3%

Comparison of Year 2006 and Year 2005

Revenues.  Revenues increased by $32.2 million, or 12.4%, from $260.2 million in 2005 to $292.5 million in
2006. The increase in revenue during 2006 compared to 2005 was due to increases in revenues in the
communications networking and commercial systems markets of $23.6 million and $8.6 million, respectively.

Revenues in the communications networking market increased in 2006 compared to 2005 due to strong demand
within the wireless market as our product content continues to expand with 2.5 and 3G deployments. Revenues were
also higher due to deployments of new products by one of our major customers as well as the addition of media
server business revenues. For the fourth quarter of 2006 the increase in communication revenues was offset by
reductions in requested deliveries from a large wireless customer. We believe these reductions were driven by their
efforts to significantly reduce inventory levels. We expect our wireless market revenues to increase in the first
quarter of 2007 as this customer returns to more traditional volumes.

Revenues in the commercial systems market increased in the 2006 compared to 2005, primarily due to increases
within the medical submarket partially offset by declines in our transaction terminal and industrial automation
submarkets. The increase in revenues from the medical market was attributable to design wins that have ramped into
production during 2005 and 2006. The decrease in revenues attributable to the transaction terminal market was
primarily due to design wins nearing the end of their life cycle.

Given the dynamics of these markets, we may experience general fluctuations in the percentage of revenue
attributable to each market and, as a result, the quarter to quarter and year to year comparisons of our markets often
are not indicative of overall economic trends affecting the long−term performance of our markets. We currently
expect that each of our markets will continue to represent a significant portion of total revenues. We currently expect
2007 revenue to grow modestly over 2006. Currently, our standards−based products do not make up a significant
percentage of our total revenues, however, we believe design wins
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associated with these products will begin to ramp into production in 2008 based on the timing of our customers’ next
generation system deployments.

From a geographic perspective, for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the same period in 2005 the
percentage of non−US revenues by delivery destination increased as a percentage of total revenues. Revenues as
measured by destination in the EMEA region increased by $9.3 million while Asia Pacific revenues increased by
$14.5 million. This was primarily due to existing multinational customers requesting the delivery of products directly
into the Asia Pacific region and increased revenues attributable to our EMEA region associated with our wireless
infrastructure products. For the year ended December 31, 2006 revenues from North America increased by
$8.4 million compared to the same periods in 2005. This increase is due to primarily to the addition of media server
business revenues and increased Nortel shipments in the fourth quarter of 2006. We currently expect continued
fluctuations in the percentage of revenue from each geographic region. Additionally, we expect non−U.S. revenues
to remain a significant portion of our revenues.

Gross Margin.  Gross margin as a percentage of revenues for 2006 was 27.0% compared to 29.5% for 2005.
Approximately half of the decrease in gross margin as a percentage of revenues for the year ended December 31,
2006 compared to the same period in 2005 was attributable to product mix, as more of our current revenue is coming
from higher volume products with competitive pricing. The decrease is also due to $1.4 million associated with
purchase accounting charges attributed to the acquisition of Convedia, including $978 thousand for fair valuing
accounting of inventory and the amortization of the $400 thousand of Convedia backlog identified as an intangible
asset, an increase of $1.3 million associated with our excess and obsolete accrual and $691 thousand associated with
the write down of raw material inventory that was sold to our contract manufacturing partners during the first quarter
of 2006. The decrease is also due to increased adverse purchase commitments associated with the transfer of our
production from one of our contract manufacturers to our Hillsboro facility and to our other contract manufacturer.
For the year ended December 31, 2006, cost of sales included $876 thousand of stock−based compensation expense
which is discussed in Note 18. We also continued to incur redundant manufacturing costs as we moved forward with
outsourcing our internal manufacturing to our contract manufacturing partners. The decrease was also associated
with additional manufacturing−related costs in 2006 due to making our products RoHS compliant. We currently
expect our gross margin percent to be higher in 2007 due to our current forecasted revenue mix.

Research and Development.  R&D expenses consist primarily of salary, bonuses and benefits for product
development staff, and cost of design and development supplies and equipment, net of reimbursements for
non−recurring engineering services. R&D expenses increased $11.7 million, or 39.3%, from $29.8 million in 2005 to
$41.5 million in 2006.

The increase for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the same period in 2005 is primarily associated
with higher engineering headcount and increased external project expenses related to our continued investment in the
development of standards−based products, such as ATCA, COM Express and Media Servers. The increase was also
due to $2.1 million associated with our media server business as well as $1.7 million of stock−based compensation
expense which is discussed in “Stock−based Compensation Expense” below. We currently anticipate increases in
R&D associated with media server business expenses.

Selling, General, and Administrative.  Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses consist primarily
of salary, commissions, bonuses and benefits for sales, marketing, executive, and administrative personnel, as well as
professional services and costs of other general corporate activities. SG&A expenses increased $9.2 million, or
30.7%, from $30.1 million in 2005 to $39.3 million in 2006.

The increase for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the same period in 2005 is primarily associated
with higher sales and marketing headcount as we invest in the infrastructure to sell our standards−based products.
The increase is also due to $2.7 million associated with our media server business as well as $4.0 million of
stock−based compensation expense which is discussed in “Stock−based Compensation Expense” below. We
currently anticipate increases in SG&A associated with media server business expenses.

Stock−based Compensation Expense.  Stock−based compensation expense for the year ended December 31,
2006 consists of amortization of stock−based compensation associated with stock options and ESPP shares
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unvested and outstanding on January 1, 2006, new stock options and ESPP shares granted for the year ended
December 31, 2006 and unvested restricted stock. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company incurred
$6.6 million in stock−based compensation. During the year ended December 31, 2005, we incurred $199 thousand in
stock−based compensation expense. We anticipate that stock−based compensation will increase by $3.4 million to
approximately $10 million in 2007 due primarily due to the 2004 acceleration of employee stock options with an
option price greater than $15.99. As a result of the acceleration, we reduced the amount of stock based compensation
expense recognized in 2006; however, in 2007 stock based compensation expense will increase as the benefit from
the 2004 acceleration will have been fully utilized as we recognize three years of stock grants as opposed to the two
years we recognized in 2006. The increase is also due to the acquisition of Convedia.

We recognized stock−based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

2006 2005

Cost of sales $ 876 $ 23
Research and development 1,745 55
Selling, general, and administrative 3,968 121

$ 6,589 $ 199

Deferred Compensation Expense.  On September 1, 2006 all outstanding Convedia stock options vested and
were considered exercised immediately. The proceeds of which were distributed as follows: 75% of the purchase
price per share less the exercise price was paid to the option holder at closing and the remaining 25% will be paid in
full to those Convedia employees still employed by RadiSys after one year of service. The 75% paid at the time of
the acquisition is included in the purchase price and is allocated to goodwill. The remaining 25% is recorded as
deferred compensation and amortized through the Statement of Operations for the life of the asset (one year).
Pursuant to the purchase agreement any forfeitures are reallocated to the remaining Convedia employees. For the
four months ended December 31, 2006 we recognized $624 thousand in deferred compensation expense.

We recognized deferred compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

2006 2005

Cost of sales $ 34 $ —
Research and development 213 —
Selling, general, and administrative 377 —

$ 624 $ —

Intangible Assets Amortization.  Intangible assets consist of purchased technology, patents and other identifiable
intangible assets. Intangible assets amortization expense was $6.2 million and $2.1 million in 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Intangible assets amortization increased primarily due to intangible assets acquired with the purchase of
Convedia partially offset by certain intangible assets becoming fully amortized during 2005 and early 2006. We
perform reviews for impairment of the purchased intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

Restructuring and Other Charges.  We evaluate the adequacy of the accrued restructuring and other charges on
a quarterly basis. As a result, we record certain reclassifications and reversals to the accrued restructuring and other
charges based on the results of the evaluation. The total accrued restructuring and other charges for each
restructuring event are not affected by reclassifications. Reversals are recorded in the period in which we determine
that expected restructuring and other obligations are less than the amounts accrued. Tables summarizing the activity
in the accrued liability for each restructuring event are contained in Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. During 2006 and 2005, we recorded restructuring and other charges and reversals as described
below.
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Fourth Quarter 2006 Restructuring

During the fourth quarter of 2006, we initiated a restructuring plan that included the elimination of 12 positions
primarily supporting our contract manufacturing operations as a result of the termination of our relationship with one
of our contract manufacturers in North America. The restructuring plan also includes closing our Charlotte office. In
2006, we incurred severance and other employee−related separation costs of $329 thousand as a result of this
restructuring event. We expect this workforce reduction and office closure to be completed by September 30, 2007.

Second Quarter 2005 Restructuring

In June 2005, we initiated a restructuring plan that included the elimination of 93 positions primarily within our
manufacturing operations as a result of the continued outsourcing of production to our manufacturing partners. In
2006, we incurred severance and other employee−related separation costs of $589 thousand as well as $307 thousand
of restructuring reversals. During the second quarter of 2006, we announced that we were discontinuing our
relationship with one of our contract manufacturers in North America. As a result, we determined that all future
employment terminations that were originally included in the second quarter 2005 restructuring event would not
occur in the near term and the associated liability was reversed.

Fourth Quarter 2001 Restructuring

The accrual amount remaining as of December 31, 2005 represents lease obligations relating to the facilities in
Boca Raton, Florida which were paid in January 2006.

Loss on the Repurchase of Convertible Notes.  In 2006, we repurchased $100 thousand principal amount of the
outstanding 5.5% convertible subordinated notes due August 15, 2007 for $100 thousand and, as a result, recorded a
loss of $1 thousand.

In 2005, we repurchased $7.5 million principal amount of the outstanding 5.5% convertible subordinated notes,
with an associated discount of $69 thousand. We repurchased the notes in the open market for $7.4 million and, as a
result, recorded a loss of $50 thousand.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense includes interest expense incurred on the 1.375% convertible senior and the
5.5% convertible subordinated notes. Interest expense decreased $321 thousand, or 15.6%, from $2.1 million in 2005
to $1.7 million in 2006. The decrease in the interest expense for 2006 compared to 2005 is due to the decrease in
interest expense associated with the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes primarily resulting from the repurchases of
the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes in the fourth quarter of 2005.

Interest Income.  Interest income increased $3.0 million, or 47.5%, from $6.3 million in 2005 to $9.3 million in
2006. Interest income increased as a result of a higher average balance of cash, cash equivalents and investments in
2006 compared to 2005. Increasing interest rates and a shift in our investment portfolio towards higher yielding
auction rate securities has also contributed to the increase in interest income. However we expect interest income to
decrease due to our decreased cash and cash equivalents and investments balance associated with the purchase of
Convedia.

Other Income (Expense), net.  Other expense, net, primarily includes foreign currency exchange gains and
losses. Other income (expense), net, was $851 thousand in 2006 compared to $(879) thousand in 2005. Foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations resulted in a net gain of $96 thousand in 2006 compared to a net loss of $803
thousand in 2005. The change in the foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations is relatively flat for the year due to
small changes in the Japanese Yen, Euro and GBP relative the U.S. Dollar.

Income Tax Provision.  We recorded a tax benefit of $746 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2006
compared to a tax provision of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Our effective tax rate for the year
ended 2006 was (5.4%) compared to 6.9% for the year ended December 31, 2005. The Company’s current effective
tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily due to the impact of stock option expense, in−process R&D related
to the Convedia acquisition, research and development tax credits generated in 2006 and taxes on foreign income
that differ from U.S. tax rate.
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On December 20, 2006 President Bush signed the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006 (the “Tax Relief
Act”) which extended the research and development tax credit. Under the Tax Relief Act the research and
development tax credit was retroactively reinstated to January 1, 2006 and is available through December 31, 2007.
We have recorded a federal research and development credit of approximately $550 thousand for the year ended
2006.

At December 31, 2006, we had net deferred tax assets of $30.3 million. Valuation allowances of $7.0 million
and $6.8 million, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, have been provided for deferred income tax assets
related primarily to net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards that may not be realized. The increase in
valuation allowance of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2005 is primarily attributable to a projected decrease in future utilization of general business tax
credits carryforwards. Over the last three years we have generated cumulative book income. As of December 31,
2006 we estimate utilization of the net deferred tax assets will require that we generate $60.0 million and
$30.0 million in taxable income in the U.S. and Canada, respectively, prior to the expiration of the net operating loss
and tax credit carryforwards which will occur between 2006 and 2023. We cannot provide absolute assurance that
we will generate sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the net deferred tax assets, and accordingly, we may record
a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets if our expectations of future taxable income change or are not
achieved. We have considered future market growth, forecasted earnings, future taxable income, the mix of earnings
in the jurisdictions in which we operate and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in determining the need for a
valuation allowance. In the event we were to determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net
deferred tax assets in the future, we would increase the valuation allowance and make a corresponding charge to
earnings in the period in which we make such determination. Likewise, if we later determine that we are more likely
than not to realize the net deferred tax assets, we would reverse the applicable portion of the previously provided
valuation allowance. Finally, any tax benefit subsequently recognized from the acquired net operating loss and
research and development tax credit associated with our Microware acquisition, completed in 2001, would be
allocated to goodwill and will not benefit the income statement.

The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. and nine foreign countries, and on occasion, we have been
subject to corporate income tax audits. In determining the value of income tax liabilities we make estimates of the
results of future examinations of our income tax returns by taxing authorities. We believe that we have adequately
provided our financial statements for additional taxes that we estimate may result from these examinations. If these
amounts provided prove to be more than what is necessary, the reversal of the reserves would result in tax benefits
being recognized in the period in which we determine the liability is no longer necessary. If an ultimate tax
assessment exceeds our estimate of tax liabilities, an additional charge to expense will result.

Comparison of Year 2005 and Year 2004

Revenues.  Revenues increased by $14.4 million, or 5.9%, from $245.8 million in 2004 to $260.2 million in
2005. The increase in revenue during 2005 compared to 2004 was due to an increase in revenues in the
communications networking market of $26.7 million offset by a $12.3 million decrease in revenues from the
commercial systems market.

Revenues in the communications networking market increased in 2005 compared to 2004 due to strong demand
within the wireless market as our product content continues to expand with 2.5 and 3G deployments. Revenues were
also higher due to deployments of new products by one of our major customers.

Revenues in the commercial systems market decreased in the 2005 compared to 2004, primarily due to declines
in our transaction terminal and industrial automation business, partially offset by increases within our medical and
test and measurement market. The decrease in revenues attributable to the transaction terminal market was primarily
due to design wins nearing the end of their life cycle. The increase in revenues from the medical market was
attributable to design wins that ramped into production during 2005.

Given the dynamics of these markets, we may experience general fluctuations in the percentage of revenue
attributable to each market and, as a result, the quarter to quarter and year to year comparisons of our

35

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Table of Contents

markets often are not indicative of overall economic trends affecting the long−term performance of our markets. We
currently expect that each of our markets will continue to represent a significant portion of total revenues.

From a geographic perspective, for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the same period in 2004 the
overall increase in revenues was split between customers located in the EMEA and Asia Pacific regions. For the year
ended December 31, 2005 compared to the same period in 2004 revenues as measured by destination in the EMEA
region increased by $8.2 million while Asia Pacific revenues increased by $21.1 million. This increase related to the
Asia Pacific region due to shipments of products to existing multinational customers receiving products directly into
the Asia Pacific region. For the year ended December 31, 2005 revenues from North America declined by
$14.9 million compared to the same period in 2004. The decline in this region was a result of declines in our
transaction terminal and industrial automation business as well as a shift of sales for our multinational customers
requesting delivery of products directly into the Asia Pacific region. We currently expect continued fluctuations in
the percentage of revenue from each geographic region. Additionally, we expect non−U.S. revenues to remain a
significant portion of our revenues.

Gross Margin.  Gross margin as a percentage of revenues for 2005 was 29.5% compared to 32.2% for 2004.
Approximately half of the decrease in gross margin as a percentage of revenues for the year ended December 31,
2005 compared to the same period in 2004 was attributable to product mix as more of our revenue came from higher
volume products with volume−based pricing. The remainder of the decrease was associated with our write−down of
inventory valuation for excess and obsolete E&O inventory, an increase in the adverse purchase commitment
liabilities associated with our outsourced manufacturing operations and higher silicon prices due to industry
shortages. We also continued to incur some redundant manufacturing costs as we moved forward with outsourcing
our internal manufacturing to our partners. Finally, we incurred additional manufacturing−related costs in 2005 due
to making our products RoHS compliant and incurring additional warranty−related costs.

Research and Development.  R&D expenses consist primarily of salary, bonuses and benefits for product
development staff, and cost of design and development supplies and equipment, net of reimbursements for
non−recurring engineering services. R&D expenses increased $1.6 million, or 5.6%, from $28.2 million in 2004 to
$29.8 million in 2005.

Our investment in the development of standards−based products, such as ATCA, increased our R&D expense
for 2005 compared 2004. During 2005, we also continued to increase headcount at our Shanghai development center
and added other expenses in connection with the development of the infrastructure to support this location. These
increases were partially offset by a decrease in variable compensation linked to profitability.

Selling, General, and Administrative.  SG&A expenses consist primarily of salary, commissions, bonuses and
benefits for sales, marketing, executive, and administrative personnel, as well as professional services and costs of
other general corporate activities. SG&A expenses decreased $364 thousand, or 1.2%, from $30.4 million in 2004 to
$30.1 million in 2005. The decrease in SG&A expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 was primarily
associated with $619 thousand in non−recurring costs that were recognized in the 2004 associated with a potential
acquisition that was ultimately abandoned. Without these costs we would have seen an increase in SG&A expense of
$255 thousand in 2005 primarily due to annual merit increases in salaries.

Stock−based Compensation Expense.  In 2005, 97 thousand shares of restricted stock were granted. We incurred
$199 thousand of stock−based compensation related to restricted stock for the year ended December 31, 2005. We
did not incur any stock−based compensation expense associated with restricted stock for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

In 2004, we incurred $841 thousand of stock−based compensation expense associated with shares issued
pursuant to the ESPP. We incurred stock−based compensation expense because the original number of ESPP shares
approved by the shareholders was insufficient to meet employee demand for an ESPP offering which was
consummated in February 2003 and ended in August 2004. We subsequently received shareholder
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approval for additional ESPP shares in May 2003. The shares issued in the February 2003 ESPP offering in excess of
the original number of ESPP shares approved at the beginning of the offering (the “shortfall”) triggered recognition
of stock− based compensation expense under the intrinsic value method. The shortfall amounted to 138 thousand and
149 thousand shares in May 2004 and August 2004, respectively.

The expense per share was calculated as the difference between 85% of the closing price of RadiSys shares as
quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on the date that additional ESPP shares were approved (May 2003) and
the February 2003 ESPP offering purchase price. Accordingly, the expense per share was calculated as the difference
between $8.42 and $5.48. The shortfall of shares was dependent on the amount of contributions from participants
enrolled in the February 2003 ESPP offering

We recognized stock−based compensation expense in reported net income related to 2005 restricted stock grants
and the 2004 ESPP shortfall as follows (in thousands):

For the Years
Ended

December 31,
2005 2004

Cost of sales $ 23 $ 235
Research and development 55 343
Selling, general and administrative 121 263

$ 199 $ 841

Intangible Assets Amortization.  Intangible assets consist of purchased technology, patents and other identifiable
intangible assets. Intangible assets amortization expense was $2.1 million and $2.2 million in 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Intangible assets amortization decreased due to certain intangible assets becoming fully amortized
during the first and second quarters of 2004. We perform reviews for impairment of the purchased intangible assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

Restructuring and Other Charges.  We evaluate the adequacy of the accrued restructuring and other charges on
a quarterly basis. As a result, we record certain reclassifications and reversals to the accrued restructuring and other
charges based on the results of the evaluation. The total accrued restructuring and other charges for each
restructuring event are not affected by reclassifications. Reversals are recorded in the period in which we determine
that expected restructuring and other obligations are less than the amounts accrued. Tables summarizing the activity
in the accrued liability for each restructuring event are contained in Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. During 2005 and 2004, we recorded restructuring and other charges and reversals as described
below.

Second Quarter 2005 Restructuring

In June 2005, we initiated a restructuring plan that included the elimination of 93 positions primarily within our
manufacturing operations as a result of the continued outsourcing of production to our manufacturing partners. In
2005, we incurred severance and other employee−related separation costs of approximately $1.3 million as a result
of this restructuring event. We expect the workforce reduction to be substantially completed by June 30, 2006.

Other

During 2005, we came to agreement in principle with the landlord of the Birmingham, UK office to pay
5 months rent or $33 thousand as compensation for the termination of the lease agreement

Reversals

In 2005, we recorded restructuring−related reversals amounting to $379 thousand. The reversals were primarily
associated with employees who left RadiSys prior to receiving a severance payment and employees
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who were retained to fill new positions at RadiSys. In 2004, we recorded reversals amounting to $1.1 million relating
primarily to a buy−out of the remaining lease obligations on the Houston facility vacated as a result of previous
restructuring events and various amounts originally accrued for certain non−cancelable leases for facilities vacated
as a result of previous restructuring events. We entered into subleasing arrangements for a portion of these facilities
and as a result we reduced the restructuring accruals.

Loss on the Repurchase of Convertible Notes.  In 2005, we repurchased $7.5 million principal amount of the
outstanding 5.5% convertible subordinated notes, with an associated discount of $69 thousand. We repurchased the
notes in the open market for $7.4 million and, as a result, recorded a loss of $50 thousand.

In 2004, we repurchased $58.8 million principal amount of the outstanding 5.5% convertible subordinated
notes, with an associated discount of $897 thousand. We repurchased the notes in the open market for $58.2 million
and, as a result, recorded a loss of $387 thousand.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense includes interest expense incurred on the 1.375% convertible senior and the
5.5% subordinated notes. Interest expense decreased $1.5 million, or 42.4%, from $3.6 million in 2004 to
$2.1 million in 2005. The decrease in the interest expense for 2005 compared to 2004 was due to the decrease in
interest expense associated with the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes primarily resulting from the repurchases of
the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes in the fourth quarter of 2005 and the mid−year 2004 repurchases.

Interest Income.  Interest income increased $2.9 million, or 85.5%, from $3.4 million in 2004 to $6.3 million in
2005. Interest income increased as a result of a higher average balance of cash, cash equivalents and investments in
2005 compared to 2004. Increasing interest rates and a shift in our investment portfolio towards higher yielding
auction rate securities has also contributed to the increase in interest income.

Other Expense, net.  Other expense, net, primarily includes foreign currency exchange gains and losses. Other
expense, net, was $879 thousand in 2005 compared to $472 thousand in 2004. Foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations resulted in a net loss of $803 thousand in 2005 compared to a net loss of $317 thousand in 2004. The net
exchange rate loss incurred for the year ended December 31, 2005 was primarily caused by the strengthening of the
U.S. dollar relative to the Japanese Yen throughout 2005.

Income Tax Provision.  We recorded a tax provision of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005
compared to $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Our effective tax rate for the year ended 2005 was
6.9% compared to 20.0% for the year ended December 31, 2004. The decrease in the tax provision as well as the
effective tax rate in 2005 versus 2004 was primarily due to a projected increase in future utilization of deferred tax
assets causing the reversal of a portion of the related valuation allowance and taxes on foreign income that differs
from U.S. tax rate.

On October 22, 2004, the President of the United States of America signed the American Jobs Creation Act (the
“Jobs Act”). One of the key provisions of the Jobs Act includes a repeal of the extraterritorial income exclusion. In
its place, the Jobs Act provides a relief provision for domestic manufacturers by providing a new domestic
manufacturing deduction. The Jobs Act also includes a temporary incentive for U.S. multinationals to repatriate
foreign earnings and other international tax reforms designed to improve the global competitiveness of
U.S. multinationals. In 2005 we completed our evaluation of the impact of the Jobs Act and have concluded not to
repatriate any foreign earnings pursuant to the provisions of the Jobs Act and have determined that due to the
reduction of our domestic manufacturing operations, the impact of domestic manufacturing deduction was minimal.

On October 4, 2004 the Working Families Tax Relief Act of 2004 was enacted to extend several tax credits,
including the research and development tax credit. Under the new law the research and development tax credit was
retroactively reinstated to June 30, 2004 and is available through December 31, 2005. We have recorded a federal
research and development credit of approximately $362 thousand for the year ended 2005.

At December 31, 2005, we had net deferred tax assets of $29.0 million. Valuation allowances of $6.8 million
and $15.9 million, as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, have been provided for deferred income tax
assets related primarily to net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards that may not be
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realized. The decrease in valuation allowance of $9.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2004 was primarily attributable to a projected increase in future utilization of general
business tax credits and certain net operating loss carryforwards. Over the last three years we have generated
significant cumulative book income. As of December 31, 2005 we estimated utilization of the net deferred tax assets
would require that we generate $67.2 million in taxable income prior to the expiration of net operating loss
carryforwards which will occur between 2006 and 2023. We cannot provide absolute assurance that we will generate
sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the net deferred tax assets, and accordingly, we may record a valuation
allowance against the deferred tax assets if our expectations of future taxable income change or are not achieved. If
we were to record a valuation allowance, the allowance could include the entire balance of net deferred tax assets as
any significant departures from expected future taxable income could suggest uncertainty in our business and
therefore we may determine that there is no reasonable basis to calculate a partial valuation allowance. Any tax
benefit subsequently recognized from the acquired net operating loss and research and development tax credit
associated with our Microware acquisition, completed in 2001, would be allocated to goodwill and will not benefit
the income statement.

The Joint Committee of Taxation has issued a tax clearance letter to RadiSys on December 1, 2005 concurring
with the IRS audit results for the tax years 1996 through 2002.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes selected financial information for each of the years ended on the dates
indicated:

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2004

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 23,734 $ 90,055 $ 80,566
Short−term investments 102,250 135,800 78,303
Long−term investments 10,000 — 39,750
Cash and cash equivalents and investments $ 135,984 $ 225,855 $ 198,619
Working capital $ 161,575 $ 249,159 $ 186,634
Accounts receivable, net $ 42,549 $ 39,055 $ 42,902
Inventories, net $ 35,184 $ 21,629 $ 22,154
Accounts payable $ 39,699 $ 36,903 $ 31,585
Convertible senior notes $ 97,412 $ 97,279 $ 97,148
Convertible subordinated notes $ 2,410 $ 2,498 $ 9,867
Days sales outstanding(A) 53 55 54
Days to pay(B) 68 73 59
Inventory turns(C) 7.5 8.4 6.9
Inventory turns — days(D) 73 44 48
Cash cycle time — days(E) 58 26 43

(A) Based on ending net trade receivables divided by daily revenue (based on 365 days in each year presented).
(B) Based on ending accounts payable divided by daily cost of sales (based on 365 days in each year presented).
(C) Based on cost of sales divided by average ending inventory.
(D) Based on ending inventory divided by quarterly cost of sales (annualized and divided by 365 days).
(E) Days sales outstanding plus inventory turns — days, less days to pay.
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Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $66.3 million from $90.1 million at December 31, 2005 to
$23.7 million at December 31, 2006. Activities impacting cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

(In thousands)

Cash provided by operating activities $ 9,062 $ 32,171 $ 24,718
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (88,179) (23,302) (49,231)
Cash provided by (used in) by financing activities 12,366 1,224 (45,709)
Effects of exchange rate changes 430 (604) 863
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (66,321) $ 9,489 $ (69,359)

On September 1, 2006 we completed the acquisition of Convedia, paying net cash of $106.1 million.

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we used $5.2 million and $5.5 million, respectively, for
capital expenditures During the year ended December 31, 2006 capital expenditures were primarily associated with
our increased investment in our R&D and marketing efforts as we continue to develop and begin to sell
standards−based solutions. During the year ended December 31, 2005, capital expenditures included our continued
investment in equipment to support the Company’s China−based manufacturing partner as well as leasehold
improvements, office equipment and software to support our continued growth and productivity.

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we received $12.7 million and $8.7 million, respectively,
in proceeds from the issuance of common stock through the Company’s stock compensation plans.

During the third quarter of 2006, we announced our decision to disengage from one of our contract
manufacturers in North America. We are currently transitioning the majority of this production to our Hillsboro
facility . This has resulted in a net increase in inventory related to this transition and we expect to see inventory
levels start to decline after the first quarter of 2007 and continue to decline throughout the year to more traditional
levels. Also, due to the inherent risks associated with this transfer of production we may incur additional expenses
related to adverse purchase commitments or excess and obsolete inventory. We may incur additional and
unanticipated expenses or delays which may have a material adverse effect on our business or our financial
performance. Our manufacturing strategy is to outsource our higher volume products.

In conjunction with the above announcement we used approximately $17.6 million net cash provided by
operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 to purchase raw materials and work−in−process inventory
to transfer to our Hillsboro facility as well as to our other contract manufacturer. We also purchased component
material from this contract manufacturer in anticipation of transitioning out of their facilities.

Changes in foreign currency rates impacted beginning cash balances during 2006 by $430 thousand. Due to the
Company’s international operations where transactions are recorded in functional currencies other than the
U.S. Dollar, the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on existing cash balances during any given
periods results in amounts on the consolidated statements of cash flows that may not reflect the changes in the
corresponding accounts on the consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 working capital was $161.6 million and $249.2 million, respectively.
Working capital decreased by $87.6 million due primarily to the purchase of Convedia during the quarter offset by
net positive cash flow from operating and financing activities generated during 2006.

Management believes that cash flows from operations, available cash balances and short−term borrowings will
be sufficient to fund our operating liquidity needs for the short−term and long−term future.
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Investments

Short−term and long−term investments reported as (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Short−term investments, net of unamortized premium of zero and zero,
respectively $ 102,250 $ 135,800

Long−term investments, net of unamortized premium of zero and zero,
respectively $ 10,000 $ —

We invest excess cash in debt instruments of the U.S. Government and its agencies, and those of high−quality
corporate issuers. As of December 31, 2006 we had $102.3 million investments classified as available−for−sale. As
of December 31, 2006, we had $10.0 million long−term held−to−maturity investments. During 2006 we shifted our
investments to auction rate securities as we were actively evaluating potential acquisitions and partnership
opportunities. Our investment policy requires that the total investment portfolio, including cash and investments, not
exceed a maximum weighted−average maturity of 18 months. In addition, the policy mandates that an individual
investment must have a maturity of less than 36 months, with no more than 20% of the total portfolio exceeding
24 months. As of December 31, 2006, we were in compliance with our investment policy.

Line of Credit

During the quarter ended March 31, 2006, the Company transferred its line of credit facility from its commercial
bank to an investment bank, for $20.0 million at an interest rate based on the 30−day London Inter−Bank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 0.75%. The line of credit is collateralized by the Company’s non−equity investments. At
December 31, 2006, the Company had a standby letter of credit outstanding related to one of its medical insurance
carriers for $105 thousand. The market value of non−equity investments must exceed 125% of the borrowed facility
amount, and the investments must meet specified investment grade ratings.

As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, there were no outstanding balances on the standby letter of
credit or line of credit and we were in compliance with all debt covenants.

Convertible Senior Notes

During November 2003, we completed a private offering of $100 million aggregate principal amount of
1.375% convertible senior notes due November 15, 2023 to qualified institutional buyers. The discount on the
1.375% convertible senior notes amounted to $3 million.

Convertible senior notes are unsecured obligations convertible into our common stock and rank equally in right
of payment with all of our existing and future obligations that are unsecured and unsubordinated. Interest on the
senior notes accrues at 1.375% per year and is payable semi−annually on May 15 and November 15. The 1.375%
convertible senior notes are payable in full in November 2023. The notes are convertible, at the option of the holder,
at any time on or prior to maturity under certain circumstances, unless previously redeemed or repurchased, into
shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $23.57 per share, which is equal to a conversion rate of
42.4247 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes. The notes are convertible prior to maturity into shares of our
common stock under certain circumstances that include but are not limited to (i) conversion due to the closing price
of our common stock on the trading day prior to the conversion date reaching 120% or more of the conversion price
of the notes on such trading date and (ii) conversion due to the trading price of the notes falling below 98% of the
conversion value. We may redeem all or a portion of the notes at our option on or after November 15, 2006 but
before November 15, 2008 provided that the closing price of our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion
price for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day before the
date of the notice of the provisional redemption. On or after November 15, 2008, we may redeem the notes at any
time. On November 15, 2008, November 15, 2013, and November 15, 2018, holders of the 1.375% convertible
senior notes will have the
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right to require us to purchase, in cash, all or any part of the notes held by such holder at a purchase price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the notes being purchased, together with accrued and unpaid interest and additional
interest, if any, up to but excluding the purchase date.

As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 we had outstanding 1.375% convertible senior notes with a
face value of $100 million. As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 the book value of the
1.375% convertible senior notes was $97.4 million and $97.3 million respectively, net of unamortized discount of
$2.6 million and $2.7 million, respectively. The estimated fair value of the 1.375% convertible senior notes was
$96.6 million and $93.5 million at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

Convertible Subordinated Notes

During August 2000, we completed a private offering of $120 million aggregate principal amount of
5.5% convertible subordinated notes due August 15, 2007 to qualified institutional buyers. The discount on the 5.5%
convertible subordinated notes amounted to $3.6 million.

Convertible subordinated notes are unsecured obligations convertible into our common stock and are
subordinated to all of our present and future senior indebtedness. Interest on the subordinated notes accrues at
5.5% per year and is payable semi−annually on February 15 and August 15. The 5.5% convertible subordinated
notes are payable in full in August 2007. The notes are convertible, at the option of the holder, at any time on or
before maturity, unless previously redeemed or repurchased, into shares of our common stock at a conversion price
of $67.80 per share, which is equal to a conversion rate of 14.7484 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes. If
the closing price of our common stock equals or exceeds 140% of the conversion price for at least 20 trading days
within a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day before the date on which a notice of
redemption is mailed, then we may redeem all or a portion of the notes at our option at a redemption price equal to
the principal amount of the notes plus a premium (which declines annually on August 15 of each year), together with
accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.

On April 26, 2005 the Board of Directors approved the repurchase of the remaining principal amount of the
5.5% convertible subordinated notes.

In 2006, we repurchased $100 thousand principal amount of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes. We
repurchased the notes for $100 thousand, with a recorded loss of $1 thousand.

In 2005, we repurchased $7.5 million principal amount of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes, with an
associated discount of $69 thousand. We repurchased the notes in the open market for $7.4 million and, as a result,
recorded a loss of $50 thousand.

In 2004, we repurchased $58.8 million principal amount of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes, with an
associated discount of $897 thousand. We repurchased the notes in the open market for $58.2 million and, as a result,
recorded a loss of $387 thousand.

From 2000 to 2003, we repurchased $51.3 million principal amount of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes,
with an associated discount of $1.4 million. We repurchased the notes for $41.0 million and, as a result, recorded a
gain of $8.9 million.

As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 we had outstanding 5.5% convertible subordinated notes with
a face value of $2.4 million and $2.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 the
book value of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes was $2.4 million and $2.5 million, respectively, net of
amortized discount of $8 thousand and $20 thousand, respectively. The estimated fair value of the 5.5% convertible
subordinated notes was $2.4 million and $2.5 million at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

Contractual Obligations

The following summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2006 and the effect of such on its
liquidity and cash flows in future periods (in thousands).
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2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter

Future minimum lease payments $ 3,662 $ 3,505 $ 2,991 $ 2,595 $ 1,626 $ —
Purchase obligations(A) 24,382 — — — — —
Celestica Charlotte obligations 790 — — — — —
Interest on convertible notes 1,508 1,375 1,375 1,375 1,375 16,500
Convertible senior notes(B) — 100,000 — — — —
Convertible subordinated notes(B) 2,418 — — — — —

Total $ 32,760 $ 104,880 $ 4,366 $ 3,970 $ 3,001 $ 16,500

(A) Purchase obligations include agreements or purchase orders to purchase goods or services that are enforceable
and legally binding and specify all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased;
fixed, minimum or variable price provisions and the approximate timing of the transaction. Purchase
obligations exclude agreements that are cancelable without penalty.

(B) The 1.375% convertible senior notes and the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes are shown at their face
values, gross of unamortized discount amounting to $2.6 million and $8 thousand, respectively at
December 31, 2005. On or after November 15, 2008, we may redeem the convertible senior notes at any time.
On November 15, 2008, November 15, 2013, and November 15, 2018, holders of the 1.375% convertible
senior notes will have the right to require us to purchase, in cash, all or any part of the notes held by such
holder at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes being purchased, together with
accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, up to but excluding the purchase date. The
5.5% convertible subordinated notes are payable in full in August 2007.

Off−Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not engage in any activity involving special purpose entities or off−balance sheet financing.

Liquidity Outlook

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and investments, net, amounting to $136.0 million at
December 31, 2006 and the cash generated from operations will satisfy our short and long−term expected working
capital needs, capital expenditures, stock repurchases, and other liquidity requirements associated with our existing
business operations. Capital expenditures are expected to range from $1.5 million to $2.0 million per quarter as we
make additional R&D and IT capital investments. We plan to actively continue evaluating potential acquisitions and
partnership opportunities which could affect our liquidity.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements
including the respective expected dates of adoption and effects on results of operations and financial condition.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and equity
trading prices, which could affect our financial position and results of operations.

Interest Rate Risk.  We invest excess cash in debt instruments of the U.S. Government and its agencies, and
those of high−quality corporate issuers. We attempt to protect and preserve our invested funds by limiting default,
market, and reinvestment risk. Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest earning instruments carry a
degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their fair value adversely affected due to a rise in interest
rates while floating rate securities may produce less income than expected if interest rates decline. Due to the short
duration of most of the investment portfolio, an immediate 10% change in interest rates would not have a material
effect on the fair value of our investment portfolio. Additionally,
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the interest rate changes affect the fair market value but do not necessarily have a direct impact on our earnings or
cash flows. Therefore, we would not expect our operating results or cash flows to be affected, to any significant
degree, by the effect of a sudden change in market interest rates on the securities portfolio. The estimated fair value
of our debt securities that we have invested in at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $112.5 million and
$202.6 million, respectively. The effect of an immediate 10% change in interest rates would not have a material
effect on our operating results or cash flows.

Foreign Currency Risk.  We pay the expenses of our international operations in local currencies, namely, the
Euro, British Pound Sterling, New Shekel, Japanese Yen, Chinese Renminbi and Canadian Dollar. The international
operations are subject to risks typical of an international business, including, but not limited to: differing economic
conditions, changes in political climate, differing tax structures, foreign exchange rate volatility and other regulations
and restrictions. Accordingly, future results could be materially and adversely affected by changes in these or other
factors. We are also exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations as the balance sheets and income statements of our
foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. Dollars during the consolidation process. Because exchange rates vary,
these results, when translated, may vary from expectations and adversely affect overall expected profitability.
Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations resulted in a net gain of $96 thousand for the year ended December 31,
2006, and a net loss of $803 thousand and $317 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2005, and 2004,
respectively.

Convertible Senior Notes.  During November 2003, we completed a private offering of $100 million aggregate
principal amount of 1.375% convertible senior notes due November 15, 2023 to qualified institutional buyers. The
discount on the 1.375% convertible senior notes amounted to $3 million.

Convertible senior notes are unsecured obligations convertible into our common stock and rank equally in right
of payment with all of our existing and future obligations that are unsecured and unsubordinated. Interest on the
senior notes accrues at 1.375% per year and is payable semi−annually on May 15 and November 15. The
1.375% convertible senior notes are payable in full in November 2023. The notes are convertible, at the option of the
holder, at any time on or prior to maturity under certain circumstances, unless previously redeemed or repurchased,
into shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $23.57 per share, which is equal to a conversion rate of
42.4247 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes. The notes are convertible prior to maturity into shares of our
common stock under certain circumstances that include but are not limited to (i) conversion due to the closing price
of our common stock on the trading day prior to the conversion date reaching 120% or more of the conversion price
of the notes on such trading date and (ii) conversion due to the trading price of the notes falling below 98% of the
conversion value. We may redeem all or a portion of the notes at our option on or after November 15, 2006 but
before November 15, 2008 provided that the closing price of our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion
price for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day before the
date of the notice of the provisional redemption. On or after November 15, 2008, we may redeem the notes at any
time. On November 15, 2008, November 15, 2013, and November 15, 2018, holders of the 1.375% convertible
senior notes will have the right to require us to purchase, in cash, all or any part of the notes held by such holder at a
purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes being purchased, together with accrued and unpaid
interest and additional interest, if any, up to but excluding the purchase date.

The fair value of the 1.375% convertible senior notes is sensitive to interest rate changes. Interest rate changes
would result in increases or decreases in the fair value of the 1.375% convertible senior notes, due to differences
between market interest rates and rates in effect at the inception of the obligation. Unless we elect to repurchase our
1.375% convertible senior notes in the open market, changes in the fair value of 1.375% convertible senior notes
have no impact on our cash flows or consolidated financial statements. The estimated fair value of the
1.375% convertible senior notes was $96.6 million, $93.5 million and $106.8 million at December 31, 2006,
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively.

Convertible Subordinated Notes.  During August 2000, we completed a private offering of $120 million
aggregate principal amount of 5.5% convertible subordinated notes due August 15, 2007 to qualified institutional
buyers. The discount on the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes amounted to $3.6 million.

Convertible subordinated notes are unsecured obligations convertible into our common stock and are
subordinated to all present and future senior indebtedness of RadiSys. Interest on the subordinated notes
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accrues at 5.5% per year and is payable semi−annually on February 15 and August 15. The 5.5% convertible
subordinated notes are payable in full in August 2007. The notes are convertible, at the option of the holder, at any
time on or before maturity, unless previously redeemed or repurchased, into shares of our common tock at a
conversion price of $67.80 per share, which is equal to a conversion rate of 14.7484 shares per $1,000 principal
amount of notes. If the closing price of our common stock equals or exceeds 140% of the conversion price for at
least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day before the date on
which a notice of redemption is mailed, then we may redeem all or a portion of the notes at our option at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount of the notes plus a premium (which declines annually on August 15
of each year), together with accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. The fair value of the
5.5% convertible subordinated notes is sensitive to interest rate changes. Interest rate changes would result in
increases or decreases in the fair value of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes, due to differences between
market interest rates and rates in effect at the inception of the obligation. Unless we elect to repurchase our
5.5% convertible subordinated notes in the open market, changes in the fair value of 5.5% convertible subordinated
notes have no impact on our cash flows or consolidated financial statements. The estimated fair value of the
5.5% convertible subordinated notes was $2.4 million, $2.5 million and $10.0 million at December 31, 2006,
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively.

We have cumulatively repurchased 5.5% convertible subordinated notes in the amount of $117.7 million, face
value, for $106.7 million. These repurchases were financed from our investment portfolio and cash from operations.
As of December 31, 2006, our aggregate cash and cash equivalents and investments were $136.0 million.

Part II, Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006 For the Year Ended December 31, 2005
First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues $ 65,811 $ 84,539 $ 81,430 $ 60,701 $ 57,517 $ 65,956 $ 74,856 $ 61,905
Gross margin 17,734 23,593 20,686 16,943 18,542 19,399 21,715 17,180
Income (loss) from

operations(A) 21 3,489 (15,617) (10,122) 3,261 2,740 6,326 1,460
Net income (loss) 1,426 4,359 (13,330) (5,471) 2,586 2,565 5,922 4,885
Net income (loss) per

share:
Basic 0.07 0.21 (0.62) (0.25) 0.13 0.13 0.29 0.24
Diluted 0.07 0.18 (0.62) (0.25) 0.12 0.11 0.25 0.20

(A) Second Quarter 2005 Restructuring.  In June 2005, we initiated a restructuring plan that included the
elimination of 93 positions primarily within our manufacturing operations as a result of the continued
outsourcing of production to our manufacturing partners. In 2005, we incurred severance and other
employee−related separation costs of approximately $1.3 million as a result of this restructuring event.

Third Quarter 2006 Acquisition of Convedia.  On September 1, 2006, we completed the acquisition of all of the
capital stock of Convedia for approximately $106.1 million cash and incurred a $14.0 million in−process
research and development charge.
Fourth Quarter 2006 Restructuring.  During the fourth quarter of 2006, we initiated a restructuring plan that
included the elimination of 12 positions primarily supporting our contract manufacturing operations as a result of
the termination of our relationship with one of our manufacturing partners in North America. The restructuring
plan also includes closing our Charlotte, North Carolina manufacturing support office. In 2006, we incurred
severance and other employee−related separation costs of $329 thousand as a result of this restructuring event.
We expect this workforce reduction and office closure to be completed by September 30, 2007.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a−15(f) and 15d−15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework.  Based on our assessment, we conclude that, as of December 31, 2006, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting, the disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls
of Convedia which was acquired effective September 1, 2006. Convedia represents approximately 3% and 18% (4%
excluding acquired goodwill and intangibles) of RadiSys’ consolidated revenues and consolidated total assets,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2006. Management was unable to assess the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting of Convedia because of the timing of
the acquisition. Management expects to update its assessment of the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting to include Convedia as soon as practicable but in any event,
no later than in the Form 10−Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2007.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006, has been audited by KPMG, LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who also audited the
Company’s consolidated financial statements included in this Item 8, as stated in the report which appears on
page 47 hereof.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
RadiSys Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RadiSys Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and comprehensive
income (loss) and cash flows for each of the years in the two−year period ended December 31, 2006. In connection with our audits of
the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited financial statement schedule II. These consolidated financial statements
and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of RadiSys Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the years in the two−year period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in notes 14 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements, in the year ended December 31, 2006, RadiSys
Corporation adopted SEC staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 108, “Considering the Effect of Prior Year Misstatements When
Quantifying Misstatements in the Current Year Financial Statements” and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 123(R), “Share−Based Payments,” respectively.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of RadiSys Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO), and our report dated March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective
operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP

Portland, Oregon
March 1, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
RadiSys Corporation:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting, that RadiSys Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). RadiSys Corporation’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that RadiSys Corporation maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, RadiSys Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
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RadiSys Corporation acquired Convedia Corporation during 2006, and management excluded from its
assessment of the effectiveness of RadiSys Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, Convedia Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets of
$11,522,000, exclusive of acquired goodwill of $39,720,000 and acquired identifiable intangible assets of
$41,501,000, and total revenues of $5,887,000 included in the consolidated financial statements of RadiSys
Corporation and subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting of RadiSys Corporation also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial
reporting of Convedia Corporation.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of RadiSys Corporation as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and comprehensive
income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the two−year period ended December 31, 2006, and our report
dated March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMG LLP

Portland, Oregon
March 1, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
RadiSys Corporation:

In our opinion, the consolidated statements listed in the index under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of RadiSys Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule
listed in the index under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when
read in conjunction with the related December 31, 2004 consolidated financial statements. These financial statements
and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audit. We conducted
our audit of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Portland, Oregon
March 7, 2005
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RADISYS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues $ 292,481 $ 260,234 $ 245,824
Cost of sales 213,525 183,398 166,652

Gross margin 78,956 76,836 79,172
Research and development 41,492 29,784 28,214
Selling, general and administrative 39,330 30,084 30,448
Intangible assets amortization 6,224 2,052 2,226
In−process research and development charge 14,000 — —
Restructuring and other charges 139 1,128 1,012

Income (loss) from operations (22,229) 13,788 17,272
Loss on repurchase of convertible subordinated notes — (50) (387)
Interest expense (1,732) (2,053) (3,565)
Interest income 9,348 6,337 3,416
Other income (expense), net 851 (879) (472)

Income (loss) before income tax provision (benefit) (13,762) 17,143 16,264
Income tax provision (benefit) (746) 1,185 3,253
Net income (loss) $ (13,016) $ 15,958 $ 13,011
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ (0.62) $ 0.79 $ 0.69
Diluted $ (0.62) $ 0.68 $ 0.59

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 21,158 20,146 18,913
Diluted 21,158 24,832 23,823

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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RADISYS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

(In thousands)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 23,734 $ 90,055
Short term investments, net (Note 2) 102,250 135,800
Accounts receivable, net (Notes 3 and 19) 42,549 39,055
Other receivables (Note 3) 3,782 3,886
Inventories, net (Note 4) 35,184 21,629
Other current assets (Note 9) 4,609 2,426
Assets held for sale (Note 5) 3,497 —
Deferred tax assets (Note 17) 5,779 7,399

Total current assets 221,384 300,250
Property and equipment, net (Note 6 and 19) 11,075 13,576
Goodwill (Notes 7, 19 and 20) 67,183 27,463
Intangible assets, net (Notes 8, 19 and 20) 42,935 2,159
Long−term investments (Note 2) 10,000 —
Long−term deferred tax assets (Note 17) 24,531 21,634
Other assets (Note 9) 4,546 3,629

Total assets $ 381,654 $ 368,711

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 39,699 $ 36,903
Accrued wages and bonuses 5,995 4,829
Accrued interest payable (Note 13) 222 224
Accrued restructuring (Note 10) 329 856
Convertible subordinated notes, net (Note 13) 2,410 —
Other accrued liabilities (Notes 11 and 15) 11,154 8,279

Total current liabilities 59,809 51,091
Long−term liabilities:

Convertible senior notes, net (Note 13) 97,412 97,279
Convertible subordinated notes, net (Note 13) — 2,498
Other long−term liabilities (Note 14) 978 —

Total long−term liabilities 98,390 99,777
Total liabilities 158,199 150,868

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15) — —
Shareholders’ equity (Notes 14, 16 and 18):

Preferred stock — $.01 par value, 10,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding — —
Common stock — no par value, 100,000 shares authorized; 21,835 and 20,703 shares

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 212,887 193,839
Retained earnings 6,555 20,275
Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Cumulative translation adjustments 4,013 3,729
Total shareholders’ equity 223,455 217,843
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 381,654 $ 368,711

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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RADISYS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Retained
Cumulative Earnings Total

Common Stock Translation (Accumulated Comprehensive

Shares Amount Adjustments Deficit) Total
Income
(Loss)

(In thousands)
Balances, December 31, 2003 18,274 $ 166,445 $ 3,239 $ (8,694) $ 160,990

Comprehensive income, for the year
ended December 31, 2003 $ 3,229

Shares issued pursuant to benefit plans 1,381 12,459 — — 12,459
Tax benefit associated with employee

benefit plans — 2,960 — — 2,960
Stock based compensation 841 841
Translation adjustments — — 1,118 — 1,118 1,118
Recognition of accumulated foreign

currency translation adjustment due
to liquidation of subsidiary — — (146) — (146) (146)

Net income for the period — — — 13,011 13,011 13,011
Balances, December 31, 2004 19,655 182,705 4,211 4,317 191,233

Comprehensive income, for the year
ended December 31, 2004 $ 13,983

Shares issued pursuant to benefit plans 953 8,673 — — 8,673
Restricted shares granted, net 95 — — — —
Stock based compensation — 199 — — 199
Tax benefit associated with employee

benefit plans — 2,262 — — 2,262
Translation adjustments — — (482) — (482) (482)
Net income for the period — — — 15,958 15,958 15,958

Balances, December 31, 2005 20,703 193,839 3,729 20,275 217,843
Comprehensive income, for the year

ended December 31, 2005 $ 15,476
Cumulative effect of adjustment

resulting from the adoption of
SAB 108, net of tax — — — (704) (704)

Adjusted Balances, January 1, 2006 20,703 193,839 3,729 19,571 217,139
Shares issued pursuant to benefit plans 1,000 12,723 — — 12,723
Stock based compensation associated

with employee benefit plans — 6,589 — — 6,589
Restricted shares granted, net 144 — — — —
Net settlement of restricted shares (12) (257) — — (257)
Tax deficiency associated with

employee benefit plans — (7) — — (7)
Translation adjustments — — 350 — 350 350
Recognition of accumulated foreign

currency translation adjustment due
to liquidation of subsidiary — — (66) — (66) (66)

Net loss for the period — — — (13,016) (13,016) (13,016)
Balances, December 31, 2006 21,835 $ 212,887 $ 4,013 $ 6,555 $ 223,455

Comprehensive loss, for the year ended
December 31, 2006 $ (12,732)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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RADISYS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (13,016) $ 15,958 $ 13,011
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 12,015 8,099 7,677
Inventory valuation adjustment 5,593 4,505 2,778
Non−cash amortization of fair value adjustments to net tangible

assets acquired from Convedia 1,428 — —
Amortization of deferred compensation associated with the

acquisition of Convedia 624 — —
In−process research and development charge 14,000 — —
Non−cash restructuring adjustments — (188) (858)
Non−cash interest expense 217 236 339
Non−cash amortization of (discount) premium on investments — (86) 1,193
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment 27 4 (100)
Loss on early extinguishments of convertible subordinated notes — 50 387
Deferred income taxes (562) (1,535) 1,369
Stock−based compensation expense 6,589 199 841
Tax benefit of stock−based compensation plans — 2,262 2,960
Other 46 (603) 139
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (1,547) 3,785 (12,837)
Other receivables 156 (1,078) (671)
Inventories (17,563) (3,980) 1,165
Other current assets (238) (1,142) 111
Accounts payable 1,556 5,355 9,655
Accrued restructuring (557) (467) (391)
Accrued interest payable (2) (154) (1,199)
Accrued wages and bonuses 211 (749) 761
Other accrued liabilities 85 1,700 (1,612)

Net cash provided by operating activities 9,062 32,171 24,718

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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RADISYS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from held−to−maturity investments 39,750 62,056 70,981
Purchase of held−to−maturity investments (10,000) (44,667) (53,779)
Proceeds from sale of auction rate securities 136,250 83,950 9,000
Purchase of auction rate securities (142,450) (119,000) (70,000)
Capital expenditures (5,185) (5,527) (4,821)
Purchase of long−term assets (549) (124) (740)
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 73 10 128
Acquisition of Convedia, net of cash acquired (106,068) — —
Net cash used in investing activities (88,179) (23,302) (49,231)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Early extinguishments of convertible subordinated notes (100) (7,449) (58,168)
Borrowings under revolving line of credit — — 13,000
Repayments on revolving line of credit — — (13,000)
Net settlement of restricted shares (257) — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 12,723 8,673 12,459
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 12,366 1,224 (45,709)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 430 (604) 863
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (66,321) 9,489 (69,359)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 90,055 80,566 149,925
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 23,734 $ 90,055 $ 80,566

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 1,514 $ 1,966 $ 4,417
Income taxes paid (refunded) (154) 199 130

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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RADISYS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

RadiSys Corporation (“RadiSys” or the “Company”) was incorporated in March 1987 under the laws of the
State of Oregon for the purpose of developing, producing and marketing computer system (hardware and software)
products for embedded computer applications in the manufacturing automation, medical, transportation,
telecommunications and test equipment marketplaces. The Company has evolved into a leading provider of
embedded systems for compute, data processing and network−intensive applications to original equipment
manufacturers (“OEM”) within the communications networking and commercial systems markets.

The Company, in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”), adjusted its
beginning retained earnings for fiscal 2006 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. See Note 14 for
additional information on the adoption SAB 108.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly
owned subsidiaries. All inter−company accounts and transactions have been properly eliminated in consolidation.

Management Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported
in the financial statements and accompanying notes. This includes, among other things, collectibility of accounts
receivable; valuation of inventories, intangible assets and deferred income taxes; and the adequacy of warranty
obligations and restructuring liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to amounts in prior years to conform to current year presentation.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the earnings process is complete, as evidenced by the following
revenue recognition criteria: an agreement with the customer, fixed pricing, transfer of title and risk of loss and
customer acceptance, if applicable, and that the collectibility of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. When
a sales arrangement contains multiple elements, such as hardware and software products, licenses and/or services,
the Company allocates revenue to each element based on its relative fair value, or for software, based on vendor
specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value. In the absence of fair value for a delivered element, the
Company first allocates revenue to the fair value of the undelivered elements and the residual revenue to the
delivered elements. Where the fair value for an undelivered element cannot be determined, the Company defers
revenue for the delivered elements until the undelivered elements are delivered. The Company limits the amount of
revenue recognition for delivered elements to the amount that is not contingent on the future delivery of products or
services or subject to customer−specified return or refund privileges.

Hardware

Under the Company’s standard terms and conditions of sale, the Company transfers title and risk of loss to the
customer at the time product is shipped to the customer and revenue is recognized accordingly, unless

56

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Table of Contents

RADISYS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
customer acceptance is uncertain or significant obligations remain. The Company reduces revenue for estimated
customer returns for rotation rights according to agreements with its distributors. The amount of revenues derived
from these distributors as a percentage of revenues was 3.4% for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 1.5% for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. The Company accrues the estimated cost of post−sale obligations for
product warranties, based on historical experience at the time the Company recognizes revenue.

Software Royalties and Licenses

Revenue from customers for prepaid, non−refundable software royalties is recorded when the revenue
recognition criteria have been met. Revenue for non−prepaid royalties is recognized at the time the underlying
product is shipped by the customer paying the royalty. The Company recognizes software license revenue at the time
of shipment or upon delivery of the software master provided when the revenue recognition criteria have been met
and VSOE exists to allocate the total fee to all delivered and undelivered elements of the arrangement.

Software maintenance

Software maintenance services are recognized as earned on the straight−line basis over the terms of the
contracts.

Engineering and other services

Engineering services revenue is recognized upon completion of certain contractual milestones and customer
acceptance of the services rendered. Other services revenues include hardware repair services and custom software
implementation projects. Hardware repair services revenues are recognized when the services are complete. Software
implementation revenues are recognized upon completion of certain contractual milestones and customer acceptance
of the services rendered.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

The Company does not capitalize internal software development costs incurred in the production of computer
software as the Company concluded it would not incur any material costs between the point of technological
feasibility and general release of the product to customers in the future. As such software and development costs are
expensed as R&D costs.

Shipping Costs

The Company’s shipping and handling costs for product sales are included under cost of sales for all periods
presented. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 shipping and handling costs represented
approximately 1% of cost of sales.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original or remaining maturity of three
months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents in accordance with a Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 95 “Statement of Cash Flows.”

Investments

Auction rate securities are classified as available−for−sale short−term investments. Available−for−sale
securities are recorded at fair value, and unrealized holding gains and losses are recorded, net of tax, as a
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RADISYS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income, which has historically been immaterial.
Investments classified as held−to−maturity with original maturities of more than three months but less than a year
are classified as short−term investments, and investments classified as held−to−maturity with original maturities
more than a year are classified as long−term investments in the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s investments consist of auction rate municipal securities and U.S. government notes and bonds.
The Company classifies, at the date of acquisition, its investments into categories in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” The Company’s investments
consisting of U.S. government notes and bonds are classified as held−to−maturity as the Company has the positive
intent and ability to hold those securities to maturity and are stated at amortized cost in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The Company’s investment policy requires that the held to maturity investments, including cash and
investments, not exceed a maximum weighted−average maturity of 18 months. In addition, the policy mandates that
an individual investment must have a maturity of less than 36 months, with no more than 20% of the total portfolio
exceeding 24 months. Realized gains and losses, and interest and dividends on all securities are included in other
expense, net and Interest income, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are stated net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. An allowance for doubtful
accounts is maintained for estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers to make required payments.
Management reviews the allowance for doubtful accounts quarterly for reasonableness and adequacy. If the financial
condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional provisions for uncollectible accounts receivable may be required. In the event the Company
determined that a smaller or larger reserve was appropriate, it would record a credit or a charge in the period in
which such determination is made. In addition to customer accounts that are specifically reserved for, the Company
maintains a non−specific bad debt reserve for all customers based on a variety of factors, including the length of time
receivables are past due, trends in overall weighted average risk rating of the total portfolio, macroeconomic
conditions, significant one−time events and historical experience. Typically, this non−specific bad debt reserve
amounts to at least 1% of quarterly revenues. The Company’s customers are concentrated in the technology industry
and the collection of its accounts receivable are directly associated with the operational results of the industry.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, net of an inventory valuation allowance. RadiSys uses the
first−in, first−out (“FIFO”) method to determine cost. We evaluate inventory on a quarterly basis for obsolete or
slow−moving items to ascertain if the recorded allowance is reasonable and adequate. Inventory is written down for
estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the
estimated net realizable value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions.

Long−Lived Assets

Long−lived assets, such as property and equipment and definite−life intangible assets are evaluated for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be
recoverable in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long−Lived Assets.”
The Company assesses the impairment of the assets based on the undiscounted future cash flow the assets are
expected to generate compared to the carrying value of the assets. If the carrying amount of the assets is determined
not to be recoverable, a write−down to fair value is recorded. Management estimates future cash flows using
assumptions about expected future operating performance. Management’s estimates of
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RADISYS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
future cash flows may differ from actual cash flow due to, among other things, technological changes, economic
conditions or changes to our business operations.

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the assigned value of the net assets in connection with all
acquisitions. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 142 requires goodwill to be tested for impairment at least annually and under certain
circumstances and will be written down when impaired.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at historical cost and depreciated or amortized on a straight−line basis as
follows:

Buildings 40 years
Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures 5 years
Software, computer hardware, vehicles and manufacturing test fixtures 3 years
Engineering equipment and demonstration products 1 year

Leasehold improvements
Lesser of the lease term or
estimated useful lives

Ordinary maintenance and repair expenses are charged to income when incurred.

Accounting for Leases

The Company leases most of its facilities, certain office equipment and vehicles under non−cancelable operating
leases that expire at various dates through 2011, along with options that permit renewals for additional periods. Rent
escalations are considered in the determination of straight−line rent expense for operating leases. Leasehold
improvements made at the inception of or during the lease are amortized over the shorter of the asset life or the lease
term.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company leases most of its facilities under various operating leases, some of which contain clauses that
require the Company to restore the leased facility to its original state at the end of the lease term. In accordance with
SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” and FIN 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations”, the Company has completed its analysis to identify asset retirement obligations and to
estimate the associated fair value. As of December 31, 2006 the Company did not identify any material asset
retirement obligations. If the Company had identified and estimated material asset retirement obligations it would
then initially measure the obligation at fair value and record it as a liability with a corresponding increase in the
carrying amount of the underlying property. Subsequently, the asset retirement obligation would accrete until the
time the retirement obligation is expected to settle while the asset retirement cost is amortized over the useful life of
the underlying property.

Accrued Restructuring and Other Charges

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 expenses associated with exit or disposal activities are
recognized when probable and estimable under SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities” for everything but severance. Because the Company has a history of paying severance benefits,
the cost of severance benefits associated with a restructuring charge is recorded when such costs are probable and the
amount can be reasonably estimated.
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RADISYS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

For leased facilities that were vacated, an amount equal to the total future lease obligations from the date of
vacating the premises through the expiration of the lease, net of any future sublease income, was recorded as a part
of restructuring charges.

Warranty

The Company provides for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time it recognizes revenue. Products
are generally sold with warranty coverage for a period of 24 months after shipment. On a quarterly basis the
Company assesses the reasonableness and adequacy of the warranty liability and adjusts such amounts as necessary.

Warranty reserves are included in other accrued liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as
of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. See also Notes 11 and 15.

Research and Development

Research and development (“R&D”) costs are expensed as incurred. R&D expenses consist primarily of salary,
bonuses and benefits for product development staff, and cost of design and development supplies and equipment, net
of reimbursements for non−recurring engineering services.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. This approach requires the
recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Valuation allowances are
established in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to “more likely than not” be realized in future tax returns. Tax law and rate changes are reflected in
the period such changes are enacted.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

RadiSys estimates the fair value of its monetary assets and liabilities including cash and cash equivalents,
short−term investments, long−term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, convertible senior notes and
convertible subordinated notes based upon comparative market values of instruments of a similar nature and degree
of risk in accordance with SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments.” The carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are a reasonable estimate of their
fair values. The fair value for the investments, 1.375% convertible senior notes and the 5.5% convertible
subordinated notes is based on quoted market prices as of the balance sheet date. See Note 13.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

In accordance with SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” the Company reports accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) in its Consolidated Balance Sheets. Comprehensive income (loss) includes net
income (loss) and translation adjustments. The cumulative translation adjustments consist of unrealized gains
(losses) in accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” In 2004, the Company liquidated the
assets of a redundant foreign subsidiary. As a result, in 2004, the Company realized a net gain of approximately $146
thousand, previously classified as a translation adjustment and included in other expenses, net in the consolidated
financial statements. In 2006, the Company liquidated the assets of two separate redundant foreign subsidiaries. As a
result, the Company realized a net gain of approximately $66 thousand, previously classified as translation
adjustments and included such amounts in other expenses, net in the consolidated financial statements.
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Stock−Based Compensation

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
“Share−Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS 123R, using the modified prospective transition method and therefore has not restated results for
prior periods. Under this transition method, stock−based compensation expense for fiscal 2006 includes
compensation expense for all stock−based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1,
2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provision of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock−Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). Stock−based compensation expense for all
stock−based compensation awards granted after January 1, 2006 is based on the grant−date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. The Company recognizes these compensation costs on a straight−line
basis over the requisite service period of the award. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company recognized
stock−based compensation expense in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”). In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107
(“SAB 107”) regarding the SEC’s interpretation of SFAS 123R and the valuation of share−based payments for
public companies. The Company has applied the provisions of SAB 107 in its adoption of SFAS 123R. See Note 18
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion on stock−based compensation.

Net income (loss) per share

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company computed earnings per share in accordance
with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share,” (“SFAS 128”). Accordingly, basic earnings per share amounts were
computed based on the weighted−average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share
amounts incorporated the incremental shares issuable upon assumed exercise of stock options, incremental shares
associated with the assumed vesting of restricted stock and the assumed conversion of the Company’s convertible
notes, as if the conversion to common shares had occurred at the beginning of the fiscal year and when such
conversion would have the effect of reducing earnings per share. When the conversion of the Company’s convertible
notes has the effect of reducing earnings per share earnings have also been adjusted for the interest expense on the
convertible notes. See also Note 16.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company was in a loss position, and as a result only computed basic
net loss per share based on the weighted−average number of common shares outstanding.

Foreign currency translation

Assets and liabilities of international operations, using a functional currency other then the U.S. dollar, are
translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. Income and expense accounts are
translated into U.S. dollars at the actual daily rates of exchange prevailing during the period. Adjustments resulting
from translating foreign functional currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are recorded as a separate
component in shareholders’ equity in accordance with SFAS No. 130. Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses
are included in other expense, net, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations resulted in a net gain of $96 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2006, and a net loss of $803
thousand and $317 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement (“SFAS”) No. 109.” This
Interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial

61

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Table of Contents

RADISYS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The interpretation describes a
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or
expected to be taken. It also provides for guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting
in interim periods, disclosures and transition. FIN No. 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2006. The Company will be required to adopt this interpretation in the first quarter of fiscal year 2007. We are
currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN No. 48 on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued EITF 06−3, “How Taxes Collected from Customers and
Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net
Presentation)” (“EITF 06−3”) to clarify diversity in practice on the presentation of different types of taxes in the
financial statements. The Task Force concluded that, for taxes within the scope of the issue, a company may adopt a
policy of presenting taxes either gross within revenue or net. That is, it may include charges to customers for taxes
within revenues and the charge for the taxes from the taxing authority within cost of sales, or, alternatively, it may
net the charge to the customer and the charge from the taxing authority. If taxes subject to this Issue are significant, a
company is required to disclose its accounting policy for presenting taxes and the amounts of such taxes that are
recognized on a gross basis. The guidance in this consensus is effective for the first interim reporting period
beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, that the adoption of this
EITF will have on its financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC issued SAB 108. SAB 108 provides guidance on how prior year misstatements
should be taken into consideration when quantifying misstatements in current year financial statements for purposes
of determining whether the current year’s financial statements are materially misstated. SAB 108 permits registrants
to record the cumulative effect of initial adoption by recording the necessary “correcting” adjustments to the carrying
values of assets and liabilities as of the beginning of that year with the offsetting adjustment recorded to the opening
balance of retained earnings only if material under the dual method. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending on
or after November 15, 2006. See Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further
discussion.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157
provides guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. It also responds to investors’ requests for
expanded information about the extent to which companies measure assets and liabilities at fair value, the
information used to measure fair value, and the effect of fair value measurements on earnings. SFAS 157 applies
whenever other standards require (or permit) assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value, and does not expand
the use of fair value in any new circumstances. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, that the adoption of
SFAS 157 will have on its financial statements.
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Note 2 — Cash Equivalents and Investments

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(In thousands)

December 31, 2006
Money market mutual funds $ 251 $ — $ — $ 251
Auction rate securities 102,250 — — 102,250
U.S. government notes and bonds 10,000 — (16) 9,984

$ 112,501 $ — $ (16) $ 112,485
Less investments classified as cash equivalents (251)
Total short−term and long−term investments $ 112,250

December 31, 2005
Money market mutual funds $ 636 $ — $ — $ 636
Commercial paper 58,301 — (17) 58,284
Auction Rate Securities 96,050 — — 96,050
U.S. government notes and bonds 47,985 — (339) 47,646

$ 202,972 $ — $ (356) $ 202,616
Less investments classified as cash equivalents (67,172)
Total short−term and long−term investments $ 135,800

Auction rate securities primarily consist of municipal bonds and have been classified as available−for−sale
short−term investments. Available−for−sale securities are recorded at fair value, and unrealized holding gains and
losses are recorded, net of tax, as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income. For the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 the Company did not recognize any gains or losses on the sales of
available−for−sale investments. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were no unrealized gains or
losses on available−for−sale investments. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had the intent and ability
to hold held−to−maturity investments to maturity, and the securities are stated at amortized cost in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The fair market value disclosed in this footnote is representative of the portfolio’s value at
December 31, 2006 had there been an unusual or unplanned liquidation of the underlying investments. The
Company’s investment policy requires that the total investment portfolio, including cash and investments, not exceed
a maximum weighted−average maturity of 18 months. In addition, the policy mandates that an individual investment
must have a maturity of less than 36 months, with no more than 20% of the total portfolio exceeding 24 months. As
of December 31, 2006, the Company was in compliance with its investment policy.

63

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Table of Contents

RADISYS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table shows the Company’s investment gross unrealized losses and fair values aggregated by
investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position
at December 31, 2006 (in thousands):

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Fair Value Loss
Fair

Value Loss Fair Value Loss

Description of securities
Auction rate securities $ 102,250 $ — $ — $ — $ 102,250 $ —
US government notes and bonds — — 9,984 (16) 9,984 (16)
Total $ 102,250 $ — $ 9,984 $ (16) $ 112,234 $ (16)

The unrealized losses of these investments represented less than 1% of the cost of our investment portfolio at
December 31, 2006.

The Company reviewed all investments with unrealized losses at December 31, 2006 and based on this
evaluation concluded that these declines in fair value were temporary after considering:

• That the majority of such losses for securities in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 months were
interest rate related;

• Our intent and ability to keep the security until maturity.

Short−term and long−term investments reported as (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Short−term held−to−maturity investments $ — $ 39,750
Short−term investments, classified as available for sale 102,250 96,050

Total short−term investments $ 102,250 $ 135,800
Long−term held−to−maturity investments $ 10,000 $ —

Note 3 — Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables

Accounts receivable balances as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Accounts receivable, gross $ 43,407 $ 39,931
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (858) (876)
Accounts receivable, net $ 42,549 $ 39,055

Accounts receivable at December 31, 2006 and 2005 primarily consists of sales to the Company’s customers
which are generally based on standard terms and conditions. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
the Company did not record a provision for allowance for doubtful accounts. During the third quarter of 2006, the
Company recorded a $200 thousand provision for allowance for doubtful accounts which was collected in the
subsequent quarter.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 other receivables was $3,782 thousand and $3,886 thousand, respectively.
Other receivables consisted primarily of non−trade receivables including receivables for inventory
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sold to our contract manufacturing partners. Sales to the Company’s contract manufacturing partners are based on
terms and conditions similar to the terms offered to the Company’s regular customers. There is no revenue recorded
associated with non−trade receivables.

Note 4 — Inventories

Inventories as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Raw materials $ 32,034 $ 20,790
Work−in−process 3,138 2,282
Finished goods 8,624 5,829

43,796 28,901
Less: inventory valuation allowance (8,612) (7,272)
Inventories, net $ 35,184 $ 21,629

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 the Company recorded provision for excess and
obsolete inventory of $5.6 million, $4.5 million and $2.8 million, respectively.

The following is a summary of the change in the Company’s inventory valuation allowance for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2006 2005

Inventory valuation allowance, beginning of the year $ 7,272 $ 7,353
Usage:

Inventory scrapped (1,837) (2,241)
Inventory utilized (2,943) (2,487)

Subtotal — usage (4,780) (4,728)
Write−downs of inventory valuation 5,593 4,505
Transfer from other liabilities(A) 527 142
Remaining valuation allowance, end of the year $ 8,612 $ 7,272

(A) Transfer from other liabilities is related to obsolete inventory purchased from contract manufacturers during
the year which was previously reserved for as an adverse purchase commitment. (Notes 11 and 15)

Note 5 — Long−Lived Assets Held for Sale

Beginning in 2001, RadiSys made it part of its strategic plan to significantly reduce its costs. As part of its plan
to reduce costs RadiSys began in 2004 to outsource the manufacture of most of its products. Through various
restructuring activities, facilities requirements for manufacturing and other activities in the Hillsboro, Oregon
location have decreased significantly. As a result, management decided to transfer operations currently located in
one of the Company’s buildings in Hillsboro, Oregon (“DC3 building”) to its other building located in Hillsboro,
Oregon and its contract manufacturing partners.

In January 2006, RadiSys vacated the DC3 building and put it and the surrounding land, which had previously
been held for future expansion, on the market for sale. The assets held for sale had a recorded
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value of $3.5 million which included land with a value of $2.2 million, building and building improvements with a
net value of $1.3 million, and machinery and equipment with a net value of $38 thousand. The Company classified
this facility in net assets held for sale as of January 31, 2006, and as a result ceased depreciation of these assets.
Refer to Note 22 — Subsequent Events for further information.

Note 6 — Property and Equipment

Property and equipment as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Land $ — $ 2,162
Building — 1,756
Manufacturing equipment 15,856 16,803
Office equipment and software 25,332 22,413
Leasehold improvements 4,126 4,103

45,314 47,237
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (34,239) (33,661)
Property and equipment, net $ 11,075 $ 13,576

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004 was $5.1 million, $5.9 million and $5.4 million, respectively.

Note 7 — Goodwill

The Company tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. Additionally, the Company assesses goodwill for
impairment if any adverse conditions exist that would indicate impairment. Conditions that would trigger an
impairment assessment, include, but are not limited to, a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business
climate that could affect the value of an asset or an adverse action or assessment by a regulator. The Company is
considered one reporting unit. As a result, to determine whether or not goodwill may be impaired, the Company
compares its book value to its market capitalization. If the trading price of the Company’s common stock is below
the book value per share at the date of the annual impairment test or if the average trading price of the Company’s
common stock is below book value per share for a sustained period, a goodwill impairment test will be performed by
comparing book value to estimated market value. The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment analysis
as of September 30, 2006 and concluded that as of September 30, 2006, there was no goodwill impairment. See
Note 20 — Acquisition of Convedia for further information.
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Note 8 — Intangible Assets

The following tables summarize details of the Company’s total purchased intangible assets (in thousands):

Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net

December 31, 2006
Existing technology $ 38,315 $ (6,231) $ 32,084
Technology licenses 6,790 (6,790) —
Patents 6,647 (5,918) 729
Customer lists 8,200 (1,139) 7,061
Trade names 3,636 (575) 3,061
Other 637 (637) —

Total $ 64,225 $ (21,290) $ 42,935
December 31, 2005
Existing technology $ 2,415 $ (1,764) $ 651
Technology licenses 6,790 (6,601) 189
Patents 6,647 (5,757) 890
Trade names 736 (307) 429
Other 237 (237) —

Total $ 16,825 $ (14,666) $ 2,159

Intangible assets amortization expense was $6.6 million, $2.1 million and $2.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company’s purchased intangible assets have lives ranging from 4 to 10 years. In accordance with
SFAS No. 144, the Company reviews for impairment of all its purchased intangible assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The estimated future
amortization expense of purchased intangible assets as of December 31, 2006 is as follows (in thousands):

Estimated
Intangible

Amortization
For
the
Years
Ending
December 31, Amount

2007 17,006
2008 15,650
2009 8,412
2010 1,294
2011 573
Total $ 42,935
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Note 9 — Other Assets

Other current assets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Prepaid maintenance, rent and other $ 2,967 $ 2,074
Interest receivable on investments 392 352
Deferred compensation associated with the acquisition of Convedia (Note 20) 1,250 —
Other current assets $ 4,609 $ 2,426

Other assets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Employee deferred compensation arrangement $ 3,266 $ 2,509
Other 1,280 1,120
Other assets $ 4,546 $ 3,629

Employee deferred compensation arrangement represents the cash surrender value of insurance contracts
purchased by the Company as part of its deferred compensation plan established in January 2001 Any elective
deferrals by the eligible employees are invested in insurance contracts.

Note 10 — Accrued Restructuring and Other Charges

Accrued restructuring as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 consisted of the following (in
thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Fourth quarter 2006 restructuring charge $ 329 $ —
Second quarter 2005 restructuring charge — 803
Fourth quarter 2001 restructuring charge — 20
Other — 33

Total $ 329 $ 856

The Company evaluates the adequacy of the accrued restructuring charges on a quarterly basis. The Company
records certain reclassifications between categories and reversals to the accrued restructuring charges based on the
results of the evaluation. The total accrued restructuring charges for each restructuring event are not affected by
reclassifications. Reversals are recorded in the period in which the Company determines that expected restructuring
obligations are less than the amounts accrued.

Fourth Quarter 2006 Restructuring

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company initiated a restructuring plan that included the elimination of 12
positions primarily supporting the Company’s contract manufacturing operations as a result of the termination of our
relationship with one of our contract manufacturers in North America. The restructuring plan also includes closing
our Charlotte, North Carolina manufacturing support office. We expect this workforce reduction and office closure
to be completed by September 30, 2007.
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The following table summarizes the changes to the fourth quarter 2006 restructuring costs (in thousands):

Employee
Termination and

Related Costs

Restructuring and other costs $ 329
Additions —
Expenditures —
Reversals —

Balance accrued as of December 31, 2006 $ 329

Second Quarter 2005 Restructuring

In 2005, the Company entered into a restructuring plan that included the elimination of 93 positions primarily
within the Company’s manufacturing operations. These employee positions were to be eliminated as a result of
continued outsourcing of production to the Company’s manufacturing partners.

The following table summarizes the changes to the second quarter 2006 restructuring costs (in thousands):

Employee
Termination and

Related Costs

Restructuring and other costs $ 1,108
Additions 219
Expenditures (355)
Reversals (169)

Balance accrued as of December 31, 2005 $ 803
Additions 93
Expenditures (589)
Reversals (307)

Balance accrued as of December 31, 2006 $ —

Employee termination and related costs include severance and other related separation costs. Additions to the
original accrual were primarily attributable to the additional retention bonuses and related expenses for employment
terminations that were expected to occur later in 2006. During the second quarter of 2006, the Company announced
that it was discontinuing its relationship with one of its contract manufacturers in North America. As a result, the
Company determined that all future employment terminations that were originally included in the second quarter
2005 restructuring event would not occur in the near term and the majority of the associated liability was reversed in
the second quarter of 2006. The balance of the accrual related to two employees who were terminated as of
December 31, 2006.

Fourth Quarter 2001 Restructuring

The accrual amount remaining as of December 31, 2005 represents lease obligations relating to the facilities in
Boca Raton, Florida which were paid in January 2006.

69

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Table of Contents

RADISYS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Note 11 — Other accrued liabilities

Other accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Accrued tax liability $ 1,882 $ 1,569
Accrued warranty reserve 2,000 2,124
Deferred compensation plan liability 2,458 2,014
Deferred revenues 1,242 539
Adverse purchase commitments 1,911 828
Accrued royalties 287 75
Other 1,374 1,130
Other accrued liabilities $ 11,154 $ 8,279

Note 12 — Short−Term Borrowings

During the quarter ended March 31, 2006, the Company transferred its line of credit facility from its commercial
bank to an investment bank, for $20.0 million at an interest rate based on the 30−day London Inter−Bank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 0.75%. The line of credit is collateralized by the Company’s non−equity investments. At
December 31, 2006, the Company had a standby letter of credit outstanding related to one of its medical insurance
carriers for $105 thousand. The market value of non−equity investments must exceed 125.0% of the borrowed
facility amount, and the investments must meet specified investment grade ratings.

As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, there were no outstanding balances on the standby letter of
credit or line of credit and we were in compliance with all debt covenants.

Note 13 — Long−Term Liabilities

Convertible Senior Notes

During November 2003, the Company completed a private offering of $100 million aggregate principal amount
of 1.375% convertible senior notes due November 15, 2023 to qualified institutional buyers. The discount on the
1.375% convertible senior notes amounted to $3 million.

Convertible senior notes are unsecured obligations convertible into the Company’s common stock and rank
equally in right of payment with all existing and future obligations that are unsecured and unsubordinated. Interest
on the senior notes accrues at 1.375% per year and is payable semi−annually on May 15 and November 15. The
1.375% convertible senior notes are payable in full in November 2023. The notes are convertible, at the option of the
holder, at any time on or prior to maturity under certain circumstances, unless previously redeemed or repurchased,
into shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $23.57 per share, which is equal to a
conversion rate of 42.4247 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes. The notes are convertible prior to maturity
into shares of the Company’s common stock under certain circumstances that include but are not limited to
(i) conversion due to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the trading day prior to the conversion
date reaching 120% or more of the conversion price of the notes on such trading date and (ii) conversion due to the
trading price of the notes falling below 98% of the conversion value. Upon conversion the Company will have the
right to deliver, in lieu of common stock, cash or a combination of cash and common stock. The Company may
redeem all or a portion of the notes at its option on or after November 15, 2006 but before November 15, 2008
provided that the closing price of the Company’s common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price for at least 20
trading days within a period
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of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day before the date of the notice of the provisional redemption.
On or after November 15, 2008, the Company may redeem the notes at any time. On November 15, 2008,
November 15, 2013, and November 15, 2018, holders of the 1.375% convertible senior notes will have the right to
require the Company to purchase, in cash, all or any part of the notes held by such holder at a purchase price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the notes being purchased, together with accrued and unpaid interest and additional
interest, if any, up to but excluding the purchase date. The accretion of the discount on the notes is calculated using
the effective interest method.

As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 the Company had outstanding 1.375% convertible senior
notes with a face value of $100 million. As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 the book value of the
1.375% convertible senior notes was $97.4 million and $97.3 million respectively, net of unamortized discount of
$2.6 million and $2.7 million, respectively. Amortization of the discount on the 1.375% convertible senior notes was
$133 thousand and $131 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The estimated fair
value of the 1.375% convertible senior notes was $96.6 million and $93.5 million at December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2005, respectively.

Convertible Subordinated Notes

During August 2000, the Company completed a private offering of $120 million aggregate principal amount of
5.5% convertible subordinated notes due August 15, 2007 to qualified institutional buyers. The discount on the 5.5%
convertible subordinated notes amounted to $3.6 million.

Convertible subordinated notes are unsecured obligations convertible into the Company’s common stock and
are subordinated to all present and future senior indebtedness of the Company. Interest on the 5.5% convertible
subordinated notes accrues at 5.5% per year and is payable semi−annually on February 15 and August 15. The
5.5% convertible subordinated notes are payable in full in August 2007. The notes are convertible, at the option of
the holder, at any time on or before maturity, unless previously redeemed or repurchased, into shares of the
Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $67.80 per share, which is equal to a conversion rate of
14.7484 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes. If the closing price of the Company’s common stock equals or
exceeds 140% of the conversion price for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days
ending on the trading day before the date on which a notice of redemption is mailed, then the Company may redeem
all or a portion of the notes at our option at a redemption price equal to the principal amount of the notes plus a
premium (which declines annually on August 15 of each year), together with accrued and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, the redemption date. The accretion of the discount on the notes is calculated using the effective interest
method.

In 2005 the Board of Directors approved the repurchase of the remaining principal amount of the
5.5% convertible subordinated notes. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company repurchased $100
thousand principal amount of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes for $100 thousand with a recorded loss of $1
thousand. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company repurchased $7.5 million principal amount of the
5.5% convertible subordinated notes with an associated discount of $69 thousand. The Company repurchased the
notes in the open market for $7.4 million and recorded a loss of $50 thousand.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 the Company had outstanding 5.5% convertible subordinated notes with a
face value of $2.4 million and $2.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 the book
value of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes was $2.4 million and $2.5 million, respectively, net of amortized
discount of $8 thousand and $20 thousand, respectively. Amortization of the discount on the 5.5% convertible
subordinated notes was $12 thousand and $106 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The estimated fair value of the 5.5% convertible subordinated notes was $2.4 million and $2.5 million
at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.
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The aggregate maturities of long−term liabilities for each of the years in the five year period ending
December 31, 2010 and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):

Convertible Convertible
Senior Subordinated

For
the
Years
Ending
December 31, Notes Notes

2007 — 2,418
2008(A) 100,000 —
2009 — —
2010 — —
2011 — —
Thereafter — —

100,000 2,418
Less: unamortized discount (2,588) (8)
Less: current portion — 2,410
Long−term liabilities $ 97,412 $ —

(A) On or after November 15, 2008, the Company may redeem the 1.375% Convertible Senior Notes at any time.
On November 15, 2008, November 15, 2013, and November 15, 2018, holders of the 1.375% convertible
senior notes will have the right to require the Company to purchase, in cash, all or any part of the notes held by
such holder at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes being purchased, together
with accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, up to but excluding the purchase date.

Note 14 — Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108

As discussed under Recent Accounting Pronouncements in Note 1, in September 2006, the SEC released
SAB 108. The transitional provisions of SAB 108 permit the Company to adjust for the cumulative effect on retained
earnings of immaterial errors relating to prior years. SAB 108 also requires the adjustment of any prior quarterly
financial statements within the fiscal year of adoption for the effects of such errors on the quarters when the
information is next presented. Such adjustments do not require previously filed reports with the SEC to be amended.
In accordance with SAB 108, the Company has adjusted beginning retained earnings for fiscal 2006 in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for the items described below. The Company considers these
adjustments to be immaterial to prior periods.

The Company currently leases two buildings in Hillsboro Oregon, which serve as the Company’s headquarters
and primary in−house manufacturing facilities. The leases were entered into in October of 1996 and March of 1997
and extend to October of 2011. The terms of each lease include escalating lease payments over the life of the leases.
These leases have been properly accounted for as operating leases but the expense associated with these leases was
based on actual payments instead of a straight−line basis in accordance with the SFAS 13, “Accounting for Leases”.
The cumulative error resulted in a reduction to 2006 beginning retained earnings, net of tax of $704 thousand and an
increase in current and long−term liabilities for the deferred rent liability as of January 1, 2006 of $1.1 million.
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Note 15 — Commitments and Contingencies

RadiSys leases most of its facilities, certain office equipment, and vehicles under non−cancelable operating
leases which require minimum lease payments expiring from one to 5 years after December 31, 2006. Amounts of
future minimum lease commitments in each of the five years ending December 31, 2007 through 2011 are as follows
(in thousands):

Future Minimum
For
the
Years
Ending
December 31, Lease Payments

2007 3,662
2008 3,505
2009 2,991
2010 2,595
2011 1,626

$ 14,379

Rent expense totaled $3.6 million, $3.2 million and $3.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively.

Adverse Purchase Commitments

The Company is contractually obligated to reimburse its contract manufacturers for the cost of excess inventory
used in the manufacture of the Company’s products, for which there is no alternative use. Estimates for adverse
purchase commitments are derived from reports received on a quarterly basis from the Company’s contract
manufacturers. Increases to this liability are charged to cost of goods sold. When and if the Company takes
possession of inventory reserved for in this liability, the liability is transferred from other accrued liabilities
(Note 11) to our excess and obsolete inventory valuation allowance (Note 4).

Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” an interpretation of SFAS No. 5, 57, and 107
and rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34. FIN No. 45 requires that a guarantor recognize, at the inception of a
guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken by issuing the guarantee and requires additional
disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under
certain guarantees it has issued. The following is a summary of the agreements that the Company has determined are
within the scope of FIN No. 45.

As permitted under Oregon law, the Company has agreements whereby it indemnifies its officers, directors and
certain finance employees for certain events or occurrences while the officer, director or employee is or was serving
in such capacity at the request of the Company. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer’s, director’s
or employee’s lifetime. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make
under these indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, the Company has a Director and Officer insurance
policy that limits its exposure and enables the Company to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. To date, the
Company has not incurred any costs associated with these indemnification agreements and, as a result, management
believes the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal. Accordingly, the Company has not
recorded any liabilities for these agreements as of December 31, 2006.

The Company enters into standard indemnification agreements in its ordinary course of business. Pursuant to
these agreements, the Company indemnifies, holds harmless, and agrees to reimburse the indemnified party
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for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party, generally our business partners or customers, in connection
with patent, copyright or other intellectual property infringement claims by any third party with respect to our
current products, as well as claims relating to property damage or personal injury resulting from the performance of
services by us or our subcontractors. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to
make under these indemnification agreements is generally limited. Historically, our costs to defend lawsuits or settle
claims relating to such indemnity agreements have been minimal and accordingly management believes the
estimated fair value of these agreements is immaterial.

The Company provides for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time it recognizes revenue. Products
are generally sold with warranty coverage for a period of 24 months after shipment. Parts and labor are covered
under the terms of the warranty agreement. The workmanship of our products produced by contract manufacturers is
covered under warranties provided by the contract manufacturer for a specified period of time ranging from 12 to
15 months. The warranty provision is based on historical experience by product family. The Company engages in
extensive product quality programs and processes, including actively monitoring and evaluating the quality of its
components suppliers; however ongoing failure rates, material usage and service delivery costs incurred in correcting
product failure, as well as specific product class failures out of the Company’s baseline experience affect the
estimated warranty obligation. If actual product failure rates, material usage or service delivery costs differ from
estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be required.

The following is a summary of the change in the Company’s warranty accrual reserve for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2006 2005

Warranty liability balance, beginning of the year $ 2,124 $ 1,719
Product warranty accruals 3,384 3,244
Adjustments for payments made (3,508) (2,839)

Warranty liability balance, end of the year $ 2,000 $ 2,124

The warranty liability balance is included in other accrued liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. The Company offers fixed price support or maintenance contracts to its
customers however, revenues from fixed price support or maintenance contracts were not significant to the
Company’s operations for the years reported.

On November 22, 2005, the Company received a notice from a customer claiming a breach of a software
maintenance support contract and claiming damages. In the fourth quarter of 2006 the Company received additional
notice that the customer intended on settling their claim, however the amount has not yet been agreed upon.
Although the Company disputes the validity of the claim it has determined that any likely settlement of this claim
will range from zero to $950 thousand and has accordingly recorded its current best estimate of the probable
settlement of the matter as an accrual. The Company maintains their original accrual is still their best estimate of the
probable settlement of the matter.
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Note 16 — Basic and Diluted Income per Share

A reconciliation of the numerator and the denominator used to calculate basic and diluted income per share is as
follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Numerator — Basic
Net income (loss), basic $ (13,016) $ 15,958 $ 13,011
Numerator — Diluted
Net income (loss), basic (13,016) 15,958 13,011

Interest on convertible senior notes, net of tax benefit(A) — 969 964
Net income (loss), diluted $ (13,016) $ 16,927 $ 13,975
Denominator — Basic
Weighted average shares used to calculate income per share from

continuing operations and net income (loss) per share, basic 21,158 20,146 18,913
Denominator — Diluted
Weighted average shares used to calculate net income per share, basic21,158 20,146 18,913

Effect of dilutive restricted stock — 5 —
Effect of dilutive stock options(B) — 438 667
Effect of convertible senior notes(A) — 4,243 4,243

Weighted average shares used to calculate net income per share, diluted21,158 24,832 23,823
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ (0.62) $ 0.79 $ 0.69
Diluted $ (0.62) $ 0.68 $ 0.59

(A) For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, interest on the 1.375% convertible subordinated notes
and related if−converted shares were excluded from the net income per share calculation as the effect would be
anti−dilutive. As of December 31, 2006 the if−converted shares associated with the 5.5% convertible
subordinated notes were excluded from the calculation as the effect would be anti−dilutive. As of
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the total number of if−converted shares associated with the
5.5% convertible subordinated notes excluded from the net income per share calculation was 36 thousand, 117
thousand and 485 thousand, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, the total number of if−converted shares
associated with the 1.375% convertible senior notes was 4.2 million.

(B) For the year ended December 31, 2006, options amounting to 3.1 million were excluded from the calculation
as the Company was in a loss position. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, options amounting
to 1.8 million and 2.0 million, respectively, were excluded from the calculation as the exercise prices were
higher than the average market price of the common shares; therefore, the effect would be anti−dilutive.
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Note 17 — Income Taxes

The income tax provision consists of the following (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Current payable (receivable):
Federal $ (133) $ 2,064 $ 1,556
State (178) 198 258
Foreign 135 457 70

Total current payable (receivable) (176) 2,719 1,884
Deferred:

Federal 824 (1,975) (228)
State (109) 313 67
Foreign (1,285) 128 1,530

Total income tax provision (benefit) $ (746) $ 1,185 $ 3,253

The income tax provision differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to
pretax income as a result of the following differences:

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Statutory federal tax (benefit) rate (35.0)% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in rates resulting from:

State taxes (1.5) 3.4 3.4
Goodwill benefit from acquisitions (1.8) (1.4) (0.6)
Valuation allowance (0.4) (11.1) 1.8
Taxes on foreign income that differ from U.S. tax rate (5.1) (14.3) (12.1)
Tax credits (5.5) (2.2) (3.9)
Export sale benefit (1.4) (2.6) (2.6)
Non−deductible stock−based compensation expense 5.7 — —
In process research and development 37.1 — —
Other 2.5 0.1 (1.0)

Effective tax rate (5.4)% 6.9% 20.0%
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The components of deferred taxes consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued warranty $ 680 $ 815
Inventory 3,707 2,986
Restructuring accrual 120 229
Net operating loss carryforwards 19,415 17,348
Tax credit carryforwards 14,664 11,422
Stock−based compensation 1,264 —
Capitalized research and development 1,914 2,301
Fixed assets 2,630 749
Other 1,048 2,231

Total deferred tax assets 45,442 38,081
Less: valuation allowance (7,039) (6,812)
Net deferred tax assets 38,403 31,269
Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible assets — Convedia/Microware (6,261) (816)
Goodwill (1,832) (653)
Foreign dividend — (767)

Total deferred tax liabilities (8,093) (2,236)
Total net deferred tax assets $ 30,310 $ 29,033

The Company has recorded valuation allowances of $7.0 million and $6.8 million at December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2005, respectively, due to uncertainty involving utilization of certain net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. The increase in valuation allowance of $227 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2006
compared to the year ended December 31, 2005 is primarily attributable to a projected decrease in future utilization
of general business tax credits carryforwards based on estimates of future taxable income.

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had total available federal net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $38.1 million and $38.8 million, respectively, before valuation allowance. The federal net operating
loss carryforwards expire between 2009 and 2023 and consist of approximately $14.9 million of consolidated taxable
loss remaining after loss carrybacks to prior years, $9.1 million of loss carryforwards from the Texas Micro merger
in 1999, and $14.1 million of loss carryforwards from the Microware acquisition in August of 2001. The net
operating losses from Texas Micro and Microware are stated net of limitations pursuant to Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code. The annual utilization limitations are $5.7 million and approximately $732 thousand for
Texas Micro and Microware, respectively. Any tax benefit recognized from the acquired Microware net operating
loss carryforwards will be allocated to goodwill and will not benefit the income statement. The Company had total
state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $42.3 million and $48.4 million at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively, before valuation allowance. The state net operating loss carryforwards expire between 2007 and
2023. The Company also had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $17.2 million from certain non
U.S. jurisdictions. The non U.S. net operating loss carryforwards are primarily attributable to Canada, Germany and
the U.K., and amount to approximately $14.5 million, $741 thousand, and $2.0 million,
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respectively. The Canada tax losses are attributable to the Convedia acquisition in September of 2006 and they
expire between 2008 and 2014. The U.K. and German tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely provided
certain requirements are met.

The Company has federal and state research and development tax credit and other federal tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $12.5 million at December 31, 2006, to reduce future income tax liabilities. The
federal and state tax credits expire between 2007 and 2026. The federal tax credit carryforwards include research and
development tax credits of $2.3 million and $268 thousand from the Texas Micro and Microware acquisitions,
respectively. The utilization of these acquired credits is subject to an annual limitation pursuant to Section 383 of the
Internal Revenue Code. Any tax benefit recognized from the acquired Microware tax credit carryforwards will be
allocated to goodwill and will not benefit the income statement. On December 20, 2006 President Bush signed the
Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006 which extended the research and development tax credit. Under the Act the
research and development tax credit was retroactively reinstated to January 1, 2006 and is available through
December 31, 2007. The Company also had approximately $550 thousand in investment tax credit, $6.1 million in
unclaimed scientific research and experimental expenditures and $6.0 million in undepreciated capital cost to be
carried forward and applied against future income in Canada related to the Convedia acquisition.

Realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income prior to the
expiration of the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Although realization is not assured, management
believes that it is more likely than not that the balance of the deferred tax assets, net of the valuation allowance, as of
December 31, 2006 will be realized. The amount of the net deferred tax assets that is considered realizable, however,
could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced.
Should management determine that the Company would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax
assets in the future, adjustments to the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets may be required. As of
December 31, 2006 we estimate utilization of the net deferred tax assets will require that we generate $60.0 million
and $30.0 million in taxable income in the U.S. and Canada, respectively, prior to the expiration of the net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards.

Pretax book income from domestic operations for the fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $2.4 million,
$9.2 million, and $9.7 million, respectively. Pretax book income (loss) from foreign operations for fiscal years 2006,
2005 and 2004 was $(16.2) million, $7.9 million, and $6.6 million, respectively.

The Company has indefinitely reinvested approximately $9.2 million of the undistributed earnings of certain
foreign subsidiaries at December 31, 2006. Such earnings would be subject to U.S. taxation if repatriated to the
U.S. On December 9, 2005, RadiSys Technology (Ireland) Ltd., a wholly owned foreign subsidiary of the Company,
declared a dividend of $15.5 million under Section 301 of the Internal Revenue Code. The first dividend payment of
$13.5 million was completed on December 21, 2005 and the remaining dividend payment of $2.0 million was
completed on June 2, 2006. Both dividend payments were fully subject to U.S. taxation. The deferred tax liability of
$767 thousand recorded at December 31, 2005 related to the $2.0 million dividend was fully reversed in 2006.

Note 18 — Employee Benefit Plans

Stock−Based Employee Benefit Plans

Equity instruments are granted to employees, directors and consultants in certain instances, as defined in the
respective plan agreements. Beginning in the second quarter of 2005, the Company issued equity instruments in the
form of stock options, restricted shares and shares issued to employees as a result of the employee stock purchase
plan (“ESPP”). Beginning in the third quarter of 2006, the Company began issuing restricted stock units in
conjunction with the other equity instruments. Prior to the second quarter of 2005, the Company issued equity
instruments in the form of stock options and ESPP shares, only.
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Stock Options and Restricted Stock Awards

The Company’s 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (“1995 Plan”) and 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan (“2001
Plan”) provide the Board of Directors broad discretion in creating employee equity incentives. Unless otherwise
stipulated in the plan document, the Board of Directors, at their discretion, determines stock option exercise prices,
which may not be less than the fair market value of RadiSys common stock at the date of grant, vesting periods and
the expiration periods which are a maximum of 10 years from the date of grant. Under the 1995 Plan, as amended,
5,425,000 shares of common stock have been reserved and authorized for issuance to any non−employee directors
and employees, with a maximum of 450,000 shares in connection with the hiring of an employee and 100,000 shares
in any calendar year to one participant. Under the 2001 Plan, as amended, 2,250,000 shares of common stock have
been reserved and authorized for issuance to selected employees, who are not executive officers or directors of the
Company. Currently, all non−director stock option grants are issued under an option agreement that provides, among
other things, that the option grant vests over a 3 year period; specifically, 33% of the options vest one year after the
grant date and approximately 2.75% of the options vest monthly for 24 months after the first year.

On March 1, 2005, the Compensation and Development Committee (the “Compensation Committee) of the
Board of Directors approved the form of the restricted share agreement to be used in connection with restricted stock
awards to be granted to employees of the Company under the terms of the Company’s 1995 Stock Incentive Plan.
The agreement provides, among other things, that 33% of the shares vest each year following the date of the grant.

In connection with the acquisition of Convedia Corporation described in Note 20, on September 30, 2006, the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors adopted the RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for Convedia
Employees (“Convedia Plan”). The Convedia Plan was adopted without shareholder approval in reliance upon the
exception provided under Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4350(i)(1)(A)(iv) relating to awards granted in connection with
an acquisition and in connection with the hiring of new employees. The Plan became effective as of September 1,
2006 (the “Effective Date”). The Convedia Plan permits the granting of stock options, restricted stock and restricted
stock units. The maximum number of shares of common stock with respect to which awards may be granted is
365,000 shares (subject to adjustment in accordance with the Convedia Plan). In order to comply with Nasdaq
Marketplace Rule 4350, the awards may only be granted to employees transferred from Convedia in connection with
the acquisition of Convedia and in connection with the future hiring of new employees of Convedia. The Convedia
Plan provides that the Compensation Committee will determine the option price at which common stock may be
purchased, but the price will not be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date the option is
granted. The Compensation Committee will determine the term of each option, but no option will be exercisable
more than 10 years after the date of grant. The vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units may be conditioned
upon the completion of a specified period of employment, upon attainment of specified performance goals and/or
upon such other criteria as the Compensation Committee determines.
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The table below summarizes the activities related to the Company’s stock plans (in thousands, except weighted
average exercise prices):

Weighted
Average

Shares Stock Options Remaining Aggregate
Available for Outstanding Contractual Intrinsic

Grant Number Average Price Life (Years) Value

Balance, December 31, 2003 2,672 3,706 $ 14.86
Options granted (1,255) 1,255 $ 19.32
Options canceled 362 (362) $ 20.15
Options expired — — —
Options exercised — (802) $ 11.03

Balance, December 31, 2004 1,779 3,797 $ 16.64
Options granted (946) 946 $ 15.01
Restricted shares granted (97) — —
Options canceled 807 (807) $ 19.68
Restricted shares canceled 2 — —
Options exercised — (560) $ 9.37

Balance, December 31, 2005 1,545 3,376 $ 16.66
Authorized 365
Options granted (684) 684 $ 21.31
Restricted shares granted (150) — —
Restricted stock units granted (132) — —
Options forfeited 54 (54) $ 16.96
Options expired 171 (171) $ 20.68
Restricted shares canceled 7 — —
Restricted shares repurchased 12 — —
Options exercised — (723) $ 12.56

Balance, December 31, 2006 1,188 3,112 $ 18.41 4.57 $ 4,869
Vested and expected to vest, December 31,

2006 3,054 $ 18.36 4.51 $ 4,625
Vested at December 31, 2006 2,096 $ 18.01 3.72 $ 4,224

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value (the difference
between the closing price of RadiSys shares as quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market for December 31, 2006
and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in−the−money options) that would have been received by the
option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December 31, 2006. The intrinsic value of options
changes based on the fair market value of RadiSys stock. Total intrinsic value of options exercised for the year ended
December 31, 2006 was $6.4 million.

In 2006, 169,300 stock options, 5,800 restricted stock awards and 132,035 restricted stock units were granted in
connection with the closing of the acquisition of Convedia. The shares were granted under the RadiSys Corporation
Stock Plan for Convedia Employees. The Plan is intended to comply with the National Association of Securities
Dealers, Inc.’s (“NASD”) Marketplace Rule 4350 which provides an exception to the
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NASD stockholder approval requirement for the issuance of securities with regard to grants to new employees of the
Company, including grants to transferred employees in connection with a merger or other acquisition.

The following table summarizes the information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2006 (shares
in thousands):

Options Outstanding
Weighted Options Exercisable

Number Average Weighted Number Weighted
Outstanding Remaining Average Exercisable Average

As of Contractual Exercise As of Exercise
Range
of
Exercise
Prices 12/31/2006 Life Price 12/31/2006 Price

$ 3.79−$14.09 427 3.25 $ 8.38 418 $ 8.29
$14.14−$15.27 571 5.29 $ 14.46 311 $ 14.52
$15.30−$18.54 562 4.27 $ 17.19 454 $ 17.06
$18.55−$20.65 506 4.88 $ 19.35 412 $ 19.16
$20.75−$21.28 588 5.49 $ 20.98 246 $ 21.28
$21.50−$49.91 458 3.71 $ 29.82 255 $ 34.93
$ 3.79−$49.91 3,112 4.57 $ 18.41 2,096 $ 18.01

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In December 1995, the Company established an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). All employees of
RadiSys and its subsidiaries who customarily work 20 or more hours per week, including all officers, are eligible to
participate in the ESPP. Separate offerings of common stock to eligible employees under the ESPP (an “Offering”)
commence on February 15, May 15, August 15 and November 15 of each calendar year (“Enrollment Dates”) and
continue for a period of 18 months. Multiple separate Offerings are in operation under the ESPP at any given time.
An employee may participate in only one Offering at a time and may purchase shares only through payroll
deductions permitted under the provisions stipulated by the ESPP. The purchase price is the lesser of 85% of the fair
market value of the common stock on date of grant or that of the purchase date (“look−back feature”). Pursuant to
the provisions of the ESPP, as amended, the Company is authorized to issue up to 4,150,000 shares of common stock
under the plan. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 the Company issued 278,173, 391,819 and
579,773 shares under the plan, respectively. At December 31, 2006, 1,299,033 shares are available for issuance
under the plan.

Stock−Based Compensation associated with Stock−Based Employee Benefit Plans

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock−based compensation associated with its stock−based
employee benefit plans using the intrinsic value method in accordance with the provisions of APB 25 and, in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock−Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure, An Amendment of SFAS No. 123,” the Company provided pro forma disclosures of net income (loss)
and net income (loss) per common share for periods prior to January 1, 2006 as if the fair value method had been
applied in measuring compensation expense in accordance with SFAS 123.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, which replaces SFAS 123 and supersedes APB 25.
SFAS 123R requires companies to account for stock−based compensation based on the fair value method, which
replaces the intrinsic value method. The Company adopted SFAS 123R as of January 1, 2006 using the modified
prospective method, which requires that compensation expense be recorded for all unvested stock options and ESPP
shares outstanding as of January 1, 2006. Prior periods will not be restated. Beginning January 1, 2006, the pro
forma disclosures previously permitted are no longer an alternative to financial statement recognition.
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In 2004, in an effort to reduce the amount of stock−based compensation expense that the Company would
include in its financial statements after the effective date of SFAS 123R or January 1, 2006, the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors approved an acceleration of vesting of those non−director employee stock
options with an option price greater than $15.99, which was greater than the fair market value of the shares on that
date ($14.23). Approximately 1.1 million options with varying remaining vesting schedules were subject to the
acceleration and became immediately exercisable. Historically the Company has not accelerated the vesting of
employee stock options. As a result of the acceleration, the Company reduced the stock−based compensation
expense that it would include in net income after January 1, 2006. Included in the pro forma stock−based
compensation expense for fiscal year 2004 was $6.1 million associated with the acceleration, net of related tax
effects. As a result of the acceleration, the Company estimates that stock−based compensation expense, net of related
tax effects, was reduced by approximately $2.5 million and $1.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2006, respectively, and estimates a reduction of approximately $213 thousand for fiscal year 2007.

In an effort to further reduce the impact of SFAS 123R, based on Board of Director approval received on
March 1, 2005, the Company changed its equity instrument compensation structure such that it has reduced the total
number of options granted to employees and the number of employees who receive stock−based employee benefit
plan awards.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, loss before income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2006 was
$6.6 million higher, and net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $6.2 million higher, than if the Company
had continued to account for stock−based compensation under APB 25. The impact on both basic and diluted loss
per share for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $0.29. In addition, prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the
Company presented the tax benefit of stock option exercises as operating cash flows. Upon the adoption of
SFAS 123R, tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized for those
options will be classified as financing cash flows when realized as a reduction of cash taxes owed.

The Company continues to use the Black−Scholes model to measure the grant date fair value of stock options
and ESPP shares. The grant date fair value of stock options that are expected to vest is recognized on a straight−line
basis over the requisite service period, which is equal to the option vesting period which is, generally, 3 years. The
grant date fair value of ESPP shares that are expected to vest is recognized on a straight−line basis over the requisite
service period, which is generally, 18 months, subject to modification at the date of purchase due to the ESPP
look−back feature. The Company computes the grant date fair value of restricted stock granted as the closing price of
RadiSys shares as quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on the earlier of the date of grant or the first date of
the service period. The grant date fair value of restricted stock that are expected to vest is recognized on a
straight−line basis over the requisite service period, which is 3 years. The estimate of the number of options, ESPP
shares and restricted stock expected to vest is determined based on historical experience.

To determine the fair value of the stock options and ESPP shares using the Black−Scholes option pricing model,
the calculation takes into consideration the effect of the following:

• Exercise price of the option or purchase price of the ESPP share;
• Price of our common stock on the date of grant;
• Expected term of the option or share;
• Expected volatility of our common stock over the expected term of the option or share; and
• Risk free interest rate during the expected term of the option or share.
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The calculation includes several assumptions that require management’s judgment. The expected term of the
option or share is determined based on assumptions about patterns of employee exercises, and represents a
probability−weighted−average time period from grant until exercise of stock options, subject to information
available at time of grant. Determining expected volatility generally begins with calculating historical volatility for a
similar long−term period and then considering the ways in which the future is reasonably expected to differ from the
past.

As part of its SFAS 123R adoption, the Company also examined its historical pattern of option exercises in an
effort to determine if there were any discernable activity patterns based on certain employee populations. From this
analysis, the Company identified three employee populations. The expected term computation is based on historical
vested option exercise and post−vest forfeiture patterns and included an estimate of the expected term for options
that were fully vested and outstanding, for each of the three populations identified. The estimate of the expected term
for options that were fully vested and outstanding was determined as the midpoint of a range of estimated expected
terms determined as follows: the low end of the range assumes the fully vested and outstanding options settle on the
evaluation date and the high end of the range assumes that these options expire upon contractual term. The risk free
interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturities in effect at the time of grant for the expected term of
the option or share.

As required by SFAS No. 123, the Company computed the value of options granted and ESPP shares issued
during 2006, 2005 and 2004 using the Black−Scholes option pricing model for pro forma disclosure purposes. The
fair value of the following stock−based awards was estimated using the Black−Scholes model with the following
weighted−average assumptions for the fiscal years ended December 31:

Options Employee Stock Purchase Plan
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Expected life (in years) 4.0 4.2 3.9 1.5 1.5 1.5
Interest rate 4.95% 3.80% 2.39% 4.73% 1.95% 1.43%
Volatility 56% 64% 82% 42% 84% 85%
Dividend yield — — — — — —

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the total value of the options granted was
approximately $7.0 million, $7.4 million and $9.5 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004 the weighted−average valuation per option granted was $10.18, $7.87 and $11.08, respectively. The
total estimated value associated with ESPP shares to be granted under enrollment periods beginning in the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $1.9 million, $362 thousand and $2.8 million, respectively.

83

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Table of Contents

RADISYS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The table below summarizes the activities related to the Company’s unvested restricted stock grants (in
thousands; except weighted−average grant date fair values):

Weighted−Average
Restricted Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Balance, December 31, 2004 — $ —
Shares granted 97 16.62
Shares canceled (2) 14.23

Balance, December 31, 2005 95 $ 16.67
Shares granted 150 21.14
Stock units granted 132 23.46
Shares vested (32) 20.82
Shares canceled (6) 18.19
Stock units canceled (1) 23.46

Balance, December 31, 2006 338 $ 21.24

The Company expects that approximately 291 thousand of the balance of restricted stock at December 31, 2006
will vest. According to the Restricted Stock Grant Agreement, upon the vesting dates, the holder of the restricted
stock unit grant shall be issued a number of shares equal to the number of restricted stock units which have vested.

The pro forma table below reflects net income and basic and diluted net income per share for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 had RadiSys accounted for these plans in accordance with SFAS No. 123, as follows
(in thousands, except per share amounts):

2005 2004

Net income $ 15,958 $ 13,011
Add: Stock−based compensation expense included in reported net income, net of

related tax effects(A) 123 520
Deduct: Stock−based compensation expense determined under fair value method for

all awards, net of related tax effects(B) (3,128) (12,048)
Pro forma net income $ 12,953 $ 1,483
Net income per share:

Basic $ 0.79 $ 0.69
Diluted $ 0.68 $ 0.59
Pro forma basic $ 0.64 $ 0.08
Pro forma diluted $ 0.56 $ 0.10

(A) In 2005, 97 thousand shares of restricted stock were granted. The Company incurred $199 thousand of
stock−based compensation related to restricted stock for the year ended December 31, 2005. The Company did
not incur any stock−based compensation expense associated with restricted stock for the year ended
December 31, 2004.
In 2004, the Company incurred $841 thousand of stock−based compensation expense associated with shares
issued pursuant to the Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The Company
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incurred stock−based compensation expense because the original number of ESPP shares approved by the
shareholders was insufficient to meet employee demand for an ESPP offering which was consummated in
February 2003 and ended in August 2004. The Company subsequently received shareholder approval for
additional ESPP shares in May 2003. The shares issued in the February 2003 ESPP offering in excess of the
original number of ESPP shares approved at the beginning of the offering (the “shortfall”) triggered recognition
of stock−based compensation expense under the intrinsic value method. The shortfall amounted to 138 thousand
and 149 thousand shares in May 2004 and August 2004, respectively.

The expense per share was calculated as the difference between 85% of the closing price of RadiSys shares as
quoted on NASDAQ on the date that additional ESPP shares were approved (May 2003) and the February
2003 ESPP offering purchase price. Accordingly, the expense per share was calculated as the difference
between $8.42 and $5.48. The shortfall of shares was dependent on the amount of contributions from
participants enrolled in the February 2003 ESPP offering.

(B) In 2004, in an effort to reduce the amount of stock−based compensation expense that the Company would
include in its financial statements after the effective date of SFAS 123R or January 1, 2006, the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors approved an acceleration of vesting of those non−director employee
stock options with an option price greater than $15.99, which was greater than the fair market value of the
shares on that date ($14.23). Approximately 1.1 million options with varying remaining vesting schedules
were subject to the acceleration and became immediately exercisable. Historically the Company has not
accelerated the vesting of employee stock options. As a result of the acceleration, the Company reduced the
stock−based compensation expense that it would include in net income after January 1, 2006. Included in the
pro forma stock−based compensation expense for fiscal year 2004 was $6.1 million associated with the
acceleration, net of related tax effects. As a result of the acceleration, the Company estimates that stock−based
compensation expense, net of related tax effects, was reduced by approximately $2.5 million and $1.8 million
for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, and estimates a reduction of approximately
$213 thousand for fiscal year 2007.
The effects of applying SFAS 123 for providing pro forma disclosure for 2005 and 2004 are not likely to be
representative of the effects on reported net income and net income per share for future years since options
vest over several years and additional awards are made each year.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, stock−based compensation was recognized and
allocated as follows (in thousands):

2006 2005 2004

Cost of sales $ 876 $ 23 $ 235
Research and development 1,745 55 343
Selling, general and administrative 3,968 121 263

6,589 199 841
Income tax benefit (357) (76) (321)
Total stock−based compensation expense after, income tax benefit $ 6,232 $ 123 $ 520

For the year ended December 31, 2006, stock−based compensation associated with stock options, restricted
stock and ESPP shares amounted to $3.8 million, $1.4 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2006, $8.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options is
expected to be recognized over a weighted−average period of 2.04 years. As of December 31, 2006, $5.8 million of
unrecognized stock−based compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock is expected to be recognized
over a weighted−average period of 2.46 years.
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401(k) Savings Plan

The Company established a 401(k) Savings Plan (“401(k) Plan”), a defined contribution plan, as of January 1,
1989 and amended through January 1, 2001, in compliance with Section 401(k) and other related sections of the
Internal Revenue Code and corresponding Regulations issued by the Department of Treasury and Section 404(c) of
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), to provide retirement benefits for its United States of
America employees. Under the provisions of the plan, eligible employees are allowed pre−tax contributions of up to
20% of their annual compensation or the maximum amount permitted by the applicable statutes. Additionally,
eligible employees can elect after−tax contributions of up to 5% of their annual compensation, within the limits set
forth by pre−tax contributions, or to the maximum amount permitted by the applicable statutes. Pursuant to the
provisions of the 401(k) Plan, the Company may contribute 50% of pre−tax contributions made by eligible
employees, adjusted for loans and withdrawals, up to 6% of annual compensation for each eligible employee. The
Company may elect to make supplemental contributions as periodically determined by the Board of Directors at their
discretion. The contributions made by the Company on behalf of eligible employees become 100% vested after three
years of service, or 33% per year after one year of service. The Company’s total contributions to the 401(k) Plan
amounted to $887 thousand, $792 thousand and $812 thousand in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In addition,
some of the Company’s employees outside the United States of America are covered by various defined contribution
plans, in compliance with the statutes of respective countries. The participants pay for the 401(k) Savings Plan
administrative expenses.

Deferred Compensation Plan

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company established a Deferred Compensation Plan, providing its directors and
certain eligible employees with opportunities to defer a portion of their compensation as defined by the provisions of
the plan. The Company credits additional amounts to the deferred compensation plan to make up for reductions of
Company contributions under the 401(k) Plan. The deferred amounts are credited with earnings and losses under
investment options chosen by the participants. The Company sets aside deferred amounts, which are then invested in
long−term insurance contracts. All deferred amounts and earnings are 100% vested at all times, but are subject to the
claims of creditors of the Company under a bankruptcy proceeding. Benefits are payable to a participant upon
retirement, death, and other termination of employment on such other date as elected by the participant in accordance
with the terms of the plan (see Note 9). Deferred amounts may be withdrawn by the participant in case of financial
hardship as defined in the plan agreement.

Note 19 — Segment Information

The Company has adopted SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information.” SFAS No. 131 establishes standards for the reporting by public business enterprises of information
about operating segments, products and services, geographic areas, and major customers. The method for
determining what information to report is based upon the way that management organizes the segments within the
Company for making operating decisions and assessing financial performance.

The Company is one operating segment according to the provisions of SFAS No. 131.
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Revenues on a product and services basis are as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Hardware $ 280,720 $ 252,180 $ 234,352
Software royalties and licenses 6,193 4,394 6,304
Software maintenance 1,402 1,919 939
Engineering and other services 4,166 1,738 4,220
Other — 3 9

Total revenues $ 292,481 $ 260,234 $ 245,824

Generally, the Company’s customers are not the end−users of its products. The Company ultimately derives its
revenues from two end markets as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Communication Networking $ 217,744 $ 194,146 $ 167,458
Commercial Systems 74,737 66,088 78,366

$ 292,481 $ 260,234 $ 245,824

Information about the Company’s geographic revenues and long−lived assets by geographical area is as follows
(in thousands):

Geographic Revenues

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

United States $ 89,404 $ 80,739 $ 95,429
Other North America 11,836 12,115 12,343

North America 101,240 92,854 107,772
Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) 140,719 131,403 123,197
Asia Pacific 50,522 35,977 14,855

Total $ 292,481 $ 260,234 $ 245,824
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Long−lived assets by Geographic Area

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Property and equipment, net
United States $ 7,881 $ 11,372 $ 11,630
Other North America 1,096 — —
EMEA 143 170 752
Asia Pacific 1,955 2,034 1,620

Total $ 11,075 $ 13,576 $ 14,002
Goodwill

United States $ 27,463 $ 27,463 $ 27,521
Other North America 39,720 — —

Total $ 67,183 $ 27,463 $ 27,521
Intangible assets, net

United States $ 1,434 $ 2,159 $ 4,211
Other North America 18,416 — —
EMEA 23,085 — —

Total $ 42,935 $ 2,159 $ 4,211

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 the following customers accounted for more than 10%
of total revenues. These customers accounted for the following percentages of total revenue:

2006 2005 2004

Nokia 39.4% 36.2% 28.5%
Nortel 10.3% 14.3% 13.7%

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 the following customers accounted for more than 10% of accounts
receivable. These customers accounted for the following percentages of accounts receivable:

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Nokia 24.4% 32.3%
Nortel 10.2% 12.9%

Note 20 — Acquisition of Convedia

On September 1, 2006, RadiSys completed the acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of all of the capital stock of
Convedia for approximately $105 million in cash at closing (“Initial Consideration”). Up to an additional $10 million
in cash (the “Final Consideration”) is payable based on a contingent payment formula tied to achieving certain
profitability goals during the twelve−month period which began on October 1, 2006 (“Contingent Payment
Provision”). The total preliminary purchase price of the acquisition which consists of the Initial Consideration and
the estimated direct acquisition−related expenses (“Preliminary Purchase Price”) is currently estimated to be
approximately $110.9 million and has been accounted for as a purchase business combination under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”). The Final Consideration and any
associated direct expenses will be recorded as additional goodwill when the Contingent Payment Provision is
determinable beyond a reasonable doubt.
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Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

In accordance with the purchase method of accounting as prescribed by SFAS 141 the Company allocated the
Preliminary Purchase Price to the net tangible and identifiable intangibles assets, based on their estimated fair values.
Until the Final Consideration and any associated direct expenses are determinable beyond a reasonable doubt, the
purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to adjustment. Additionally, the Company has currently not
identified any material pre−acquisition contingencies where a liability is probable and the amount of the liability can
be reasonably estimated. If information becomes available to the Company prior to the end of the purchase price
allocation period or one year from the acquisition date, which would indicate that it is probable that such
contingencies had existed and the amounts can be reasonably estimated, such items will be included in the final
purchase price allocation. The Preliminary Purchase Price has been allocated as follows (in thousands):

September 1,
2006

Fair value of tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,874
Accounts receivable, net 2,027
Other receivables 51
Inventories, net 2,546
Deferred tax assets, current 3,606
Other current assets 672
Property and equipment, net 923
Long−term deferred tax assets 5,768
Other assets 531
Accounts payable (1,228)
Accrued wages and bonuses (921)
Other accrued liabilities (1,839)
Deferred tax liabilities (3,606)
Long−term deferred tax liabilities (5,456)

7,948
Deferred compensation 1,874
Identifiable intangible assets 47,400
In−process research and development charges 14,000
Goodwill 39,720

Total preliminary purchase price $ 110,942

Deferred Compensation

According to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, all outstanding Convedia stock options vested and were
considered exercised immediately upon closing or September 1, 2006. The proceeds of which would be distributed
as follows: 75% of the purchase price per share less the exercise price was paid to the option holder at closing or
September 1, 2006 and the remaining 25% is to be paid in full to those Convedia employees still employed by
RadiSys after one year of service. The 75% paid at the time of the acquisition is included in the purchase price and is
allocated to goodwill. The remaining 25% is recorded as deferred
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compensation and amortized through the Statement of Operations for the life of the asset (one year). Pursuant to the
purchase agreement any forfeitures are reallocated to the remaining Convedia employees.

Identifiable intangible assets

The fair value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets, which are subject to amortization, was determined
using the income approach. The following table sets forth the components of these intangible assets and their
weighted average estimated useful lives (in thousands):

Weighted Average
Preliminary Remaining Useful
Fair Value Life (In Years)

Core and developed technology 35,900 3.0
Trademark and tradename 2,900 4.9
Customer−related intangible 8,200 2.4
Backlog 400 0.2

Total acquired identifiable intangible assets $ 47,400

In−process research and development

In−process research and development (“IPR&D”) represents Convedia R&D projects that had not reached
technological feasibility and had no alternative future use when acquired but had been developed to a point where
there was value associated with them in relation to potential future revenue. Using the income approach to value the
IPR&D, RadiSys determined that $14.0 million of the purchase price represents purchased in−process technology.
Because technological feasibility was not yet proven and no alternative future uses were believed to exist for the
in−process technologies, the assigned value was expensed immediately upon the closing date of the acquisition.

The fair value underlying the $14.0 million assigned to acquire IPR&D from the Convedia acquisition
(recognized in the third quarter of 2006) was determined by identifying research projects in areas for which
technological feasibility had not been established and there were no alternative future uses. The acquired IPR&D
consisted of next generation media server products and was approximately 75% complete as of September 1, 2006. It
was completed as of December 31, 2006. In addition, this technology along with subsequently developed technology
is being integrated into other new products expected to be completed in 2008. There has been no material change in
the estimated cost of these projects.

The fair value of IPR&D was determined by an income approach where fair value is the present value of
projected net free cash flows that will be generated by the products incorporating the acquired technologies under
development, assuming they are successfully completed. The estimated net free cash flows generated by the products
over a 7 year period was discounted at a rate of 22% which was based on the weighted average cost capital and
reflected the stage of completion and the technical risks associated with achieving technological feasibility. Other
factors considered were the inherent uncertainties in future revenue estimates from technology investments including
the uncertainty surrounding the successful development of the IPR&D, the useful life of the technology and the
profitability levels of the technology. The estimated net cash flows from these products were based on estimates of
related revenues, cost of sales, R&D costs, SG&A costs, asset requirements and income taxes. The stage of
completion of the products at the date of the acquisition were estimated based on R&D costs that had been expended
as of the date of acquisition as compared to total R&D costs expected at completion. The percentages derived from
this calculation were then applied to the net present value of future cash flows to determine the IPR&D charge. The
nature of the efforts to develop the in−process technology into commercially viable products principally related to
the completion of all planning, designing, prototyping, verification and testing activities that are necessary to
establish that the product can be
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produced to meet its design specification, including function, features and technical performance requirements.
These estimates are subject to change, given the uncertainties of the development process, and no assurance can be
given that deviations from these estimates will not occur or that the Company will realize any anticipated benefits of
the acquisition. The risks associated with IPR&D are considered high and no assurance can be made that these
products will generate any benefit or meet market expectations.

To the extent that estimated completion dates are not met, the risk of competitive product introduction is greater
and revenue opportunity may be permanently lost.

Taxes

The Company allocated a portion of the Preliminary Purchase Price to identifiable intangible assets, which are
subject to amortization. The goodwill and amortization expense associated with the identifiable intangible assets are
not deductible for tax purposes. As a result, the Company recorded $9.1 million in deferred tax liabilities.

Pro forma financial information

The pro forma financial information for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 combine the historical
RadiSys and Convedia statements of operations as if the Acquisition had been completed at the beginning of each
fiscal year being presented. The pro forma financial information is presented for informational purposes only and is
not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the acquisition had taken place at the
beginning of each of the periods presented. The pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31,
2006 includes adjustments to amortization on acquired intangibles and adjustments to tax related effects on the
acquisition.

2006 2005

Total revenues $ 305,234 $ 273,959
Net income (loss) $ (32,649) $ (3,965)
Basic net income (loss) per share $ (1.54) $ (0.20)
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ (1.54) $ (0.20)

Included in the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 is $7.2 million of stock−based compensation
expense associated with the acceleration of the Convedia stock options as of the date of the acquisition. According to
the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, all outstanding Convedia stock options vested and considered exercised
immediately upon closing or September 1, 2006. Historically Convedia had not accelerated the vesting of employee
stock options.

Note 21 — Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business, the Company becomes involved in litigation. As of December 31, 2006, in the
opinion of management RadiSys had no pending litigation that would have a material effect on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Note 22 — Subsequent Events

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company accepted offers to sell its DC3 building and one of its
surrounding lots. The sales are expected to close in the second quarter and third quarter, respectively.
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On May 11, 2005, RadiSys Corporation (the “Company”) informed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) that
PwC had been dismissed as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm on May 9, 2005, the date
PwC completed its procedures on the Company’s unaudited interim financial statements as of and for the quarter
ended March 31, 2005 and on the Form 10−Q in which such financial statements were included. The dismissal of
PwC on May 9, 2005 was approved by the Company’s Audit Committee.

The reports of PwC on the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and PwC’s report on management’s assessment of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified
as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principle.

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and through May 9, 2005 (the “Relevant Period”), there
have been no disagreements with PwC on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement
disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of PwC, would
have caused PwC to make reference thereto in their reports on the financial statements for such years. Also, during
the Relevant Period, there were no reportable events as described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) (“Reportable Events”) of
Regulation S−K issued by the United States of America Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”).

The Company has requested that PwC furnish it with a letter addressed to the Commission stating whether or
not PwC agrees with the statements set forth in this subsection (a) above. A copy of such letter, dated May 13, 2005,
is filed as Exhibit 16.1 to a Form 8−K filed with the Commission on May 13, 2005.

On May 12, 2005, the Company engaged KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) as its independent registered public
accounting firm to audit the Company’s financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2005. The
engagement of KPMG was approved by the Company’s Audit Committee.

During the Relevant Period, neither the Company nor (to the Company’s knowledge) anyone acting on behalf of
the Company consult with KPMG regarding either (i) the application of accounting principles to a specified
transaction (either completed or proposed), (ii) the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company’s
financial statements, or (iii) any Reportable Event.

There have been no disagreements with accountants on any matter of accounting principles or practices or
financial statement disclosure required to be reported under this item.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures.  Based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10−K, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded
that the Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Rules 13a−15(e) and 15d−15(e) under the
Exchange Act) are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it
files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

During the Company’s fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2006, no change occurred in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting, the disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls
of Convedia which was acquired effective September 1, 2006. Convedia represents approximately 3% and 18% of
RadiSys’ consolidated revenues and consolidated total assets, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2006.
Management was unable to assess the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures and internal control
over financial reporting of Convedia because of the timing of the acquisition.
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Management expects to update its assessment of the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting to include Convedia as soon as practicable but in any event, no later than in
the Form 10−Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2007.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial reporting appears on page 46 hereof. KPMG LLP’s
attestation report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting appears on
page 48 hereof.

Item 9B. Other Information

On February 27, 2007, the Company entered into agreements to amend and update the existing indemnification
agreements for the Board of Directors. The Indemnity Agreements, all in substantially the same form (the
“Indemnity Agreements”), were entered into with each of C. Scott Gibson, Ken J. Bradley, Richard J. Faubert, Scott
C. Grout, William W. Lattin, Kevin C. Melia, Carl W. Neun and Lorene K. Steffes, being all of the members of the
Board of Directors. Each Indemnity Agreement, among other things, requires the Company to (1) indemnify a
director against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of his or her status or service as a director, (2) to advance
his or her expenses incurred as a result of a proceeding as to which he or she may be indemnified and (3) to cover
such person under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy the Company chooses to maintain. The
Indemnity Agreements also contain other provisions customary for such agreements. The Indemnity Agreements are
intended to provide indemnification rights to the fullest extent permitted under applicable indemnification rights
statutes in the State of Oregon and are in addition to any rights the directors may have under the Company’s Second
Restated Articles of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws.

The foregoing description of the Indemnity Agreements does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the form of Indemnity Agreement which is filed as Exhibit 10.23 hereto.

On February 27, 2007, the Company and each of Scott C. Grout, Julia A. Harper, Keith Lambert, Brian Bronson
and Christian Lepiane (collectively, the “Executives” and each an “Executive”) also entered into Amended and
Restated Change of Control Agreements (the “Change of Control Agreements”).

The primary purposes of the amendments to the Change of Control Agreements were to make the Change of
Control Agreements compliant with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the
related proposed regulations and other guidance, including provisions specifying the timing of payments and
distributions to the Executives, and to include other technical amendments. The Change of Control Agreements also
contain other changes, including changes to provide more consistency and uniformity among the agreements. The
Change of Control Agreements define the benefits each Executive would receive in connection with certain change
of control, or potential change of control, events coupled with their loss of employment and contain other provisions
customary for such agreements.

The foregoing description of the Change of Control Agreements does not purport to be complete and is qualified
in its entirety by reference to each Change of Control Agreement, all of which are filed as Exhibits 10.17 through
10.21 hereto.

In addition, on February 27, 2007, the Company and Mr. Lambert entered into the Executive Severance
Agreement (the “Severance Agreement”). Pursuant to the Severance Agreement, among other things, if
Mr. Lambert’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for cause, death or disability, Mr. Lambert will
be entitled to (1) a payment of nine months base pay, (2) up to nine months of continued coverage pursuant to
COBRA under the Company’s group health plan, and (3) incentive compensation plan payout, if any, for the first six
months of the calendar year if termination occurs after June 1 of any year. The Severance Agreement contains other
provisions customary for such agreements.

The foregoing description of the Severance Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the Severance Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 10.22 hereto.
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PART III

The Registrant will file its definitive proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on
May 15, 2007, pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act (the “Proxy Statement”), not later than 120 days
after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Report. This Report incorporates by reference specified information
included in the Proxy Statement.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information with respect to our directors and officers and corporate governance is included in our Proxy
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information with respect to executive compensation is included under “Director Compensation,” “Executive
Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation,” “Comparison of Cumulative Total
Returns,” and “Employment Contracts and Severance Arrangements” in the Company’s Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and equity
compensation plan information is included under “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in the Company’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s equity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2006. All outstanding awards relate to the Company’s common stock.

Number of Securities Number of Securities
to be Issued Upon Weighted−Average Remaining Available

Exercise of Exercise Price of for Future Issuance
Outstanding

Options, Outstanding Options, Under Equity
Plan
Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights ($) Compensation Plans

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 1,751,347(A) $ 19.04 2,382,224(B)

Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders(C) 1,492,186(D) 18.12 104,850
Total 3,243,533 $ 18.61 2,487,074

(A) Includes 1,660 shares subject to employee stock options assumed in the merger with Texas Micro Inc. with
weighted average exercise prices of $17.40.

(B) Includes 1,299,033 of securities authorized and available for issuance in connection with the RadiSys
Corporation 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

(C) Includes 300,935 shares granted and 58,265 shares available for future issuance under the RadiSys
Corporation Stock Plan For Convedia Employees. The Plan is intended to comply with the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.’s (“NASD”) Marketplace Rule 4350 which provides an exception to the
NASD stockholder approval requirement for the issuance of securities with regard to grants to new employees
of the Company, including grants to transferred employees in connection with a merger or other acquisition.

(D) Includes 131,635 restricted stock units which will vest only if specific service measures are met.
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Description of Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Shareholders

2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan

In February 2001, the Company established the 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, under which
2,250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved as of December 31, 2006. Grants under the 2001
Nonqualified Stock Option Plan may be awarded to selected employees, who are not executive officers or directors
of the Company. The purpose of the 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan is to enable the Company to attract and
retain the services of selected employees of the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company. Unless
otherwise stipulated in the plan document, the Board of Directors, at their discretion, determines the exercise prices
(which may not be less than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant), vesting
periods, and the expiration periods, which are a maximum of 10 years from the date of grant.

RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for Convedia Employees

On August 31, 2006, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors adopted the RadiSys Corporation
Stock Plan for Convedia Employees (the “Plan”) for awards to be made in connection with the acquisition of
Convedia Corporation. The Plan was adopted without shareholder approval in reliance upon the exception provided
under Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4350(i)(1)(A)(iv) relating to awards granted in connection with an acquisition and
in connection with the hiring of new employees. The Plan became effective as of September 1, 2006 (the “Effective
Date”). The Plan permits the granting of stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units. The maximum
number of shares of common stock with respect to which awards may be granted is 365,000 shares (subject to
adjustment in accordance with the Plan). In order to comply with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4350, the awards may
only be granted to employees transferred from Convedia Corporation in connection with the acquisition of Convedia
Corporation and in connection with the future hiring of new employees of Convedia Corporation. Unless sooner
terminated by the Board of Directors, the Plan will terminate on the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date. The Plan
provides that the Compensation Committee will determine the option price at which common stock may be
purchased, but the price will not be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date the option is
granted. The Compensation Committee will determine the term of each option, but no option will be exercisable
more than 10 years after the date of grant. The Plan provides for certain terms and conditions pursuant to which
restricted stock and restricted stock units may be granted under the Plan; including the term stating that all restricted
stock units are to be settled in stock. Each grant of restricted stock and restricted stock units must be evidenced by an
award agreement in a form approved by the Compensation Committee. The vesting of restricted stock or restricted
stock units may be conditioned upon the completion of a specified period of employment, upon attainment of
specified performance goals and/or upon such other criteria as the Compensation Committee determines.

Additional information required by this item is included in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held May 15, 2007 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information with respect to certain relationships and related transactions is included under “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Company’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information with respect to principal accountant fees and services is included under “Principal Accountant
Fees and Services” in the Company’s proxy statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial Statements

Index to Financial Statements

Form 10−K
Page No.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 47
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 51
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 52
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2006,

2005 and 2004 53
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 54
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 56

(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedule

Form 10−K
Page No.

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 99

(a) (3) Exhibits

Exhibit
No. Description

2.1 Arrangement Agreement among RadiSys Corporation, Convedia Corporation and RadiSys Canada
Inc., effective as of July 26, 2006. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8−K filed on July 28, 2006, SEC File No. 000−26844.

3.1 Second Restated Articles of Incorporation and amendments thereto. Incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC
File No. 333−137060.

3.2 Restated Bylaws. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S−8, filed on June 9, 2000, SEC Registration No. 333−38966.

4.1 Indenture dated August 9, 2000 between the Company and U.S. Trust Company, National
Association. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement of
Form S−3, filed on November 1, 2000, SEC Registration No. 333−49092.

4.2 Form of Note. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S−3, filed on November 1, 2000, SEC Registration No. 333−49092.

4.4 Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2003, between the Company and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as
Trustee. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S−3, filed December 24, 2003, SEC Registration No. 333−111547.

4.5 Form of Note. See Exhibit 4.4.
10.1* RadiSys Corporation 1995 Employee Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. Incorporated by reference

from Exhibit (d)(1) to the Tender Offer Statement filed by the Company on Schedule TO−I, filed
July 31, 2003, SEC File No. 005−49160.

10.2* RadiSys Corporation 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended. Incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10−Q for the quarterly period ended
June 30, 2004, filed on August 5, 2004, SEC File No. 0−26844.

10.3* RadiSys Corporation 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, as amended. Incorporated by reference
from Exhibit (d)(2) to the Tender Offer Statement filed by the Company on Schedule TO−I, filed
July 31, 2003, SEC File No. 005−49160.
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Exhibit
No. Description

10.4* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, as amended. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10−Q, for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2006,
filed on May 9, 2006, SEC File No. 000−26844.

10.5* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant for the 1995 Stock Incentive Plan. Incorporated by
reference from Exhibit (d)(3) to the Tender Offer Statement filed by the Company on TO−I, filed
July, 31, 2003, SEC File No. 005−49160.

10.6* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant for the 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan. Incorporated
by reference from Exhibit (d)(4) to the Tender Offer Statement filed by the Company on TO−I,
filed July, 31, 2003, SEC File No. 005−49160.

10.7* Deferred Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10−Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2001, filed on May 15,
2001, SEC File No. 000−26844.

10.8* Summary of Compensation and Performance Goals and Business Criteria for Payment of
Incentive Awards. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8−K filed on October 27, 2006, SEC File No. 000−26844.

10.9* Summary of Performance Goals and Business Criteria for Payment of Awards. Incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8−K, filed on July 28,
2006, SEC File No. 000−26844.

10.10* RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006,
SEC Registration No. 333−137060.

10.11* Form of Notice of Option Grant for United States employees for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan
for Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No.
333−137060.

10.12* Form of Notice of Option Grant for Canada employees for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for
Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S−8 filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No. 333−137060.

10.13* Form of Notice of Option Grant for international employees for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan
for Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No.
333−137060.

10.14* Form of Notice of Option Grant for China employees for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for
Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No. 333−137060.

10.15* Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for Convedia
Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No. 333−137060.

10.16* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for
Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.10 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No. 333−137060.

10.17*/** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Julia A. Harper.

10.18*/** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Scott C. Grout.

10.19*/** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Keith Lambert.

10.20*/** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Christian Lepiane.

10.21*/** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Brian Bronson.

10.22*/** Executive Severance Agreement dated February 27, 2007 between the Company and Keith
Lambert.
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Exhibit
No. Description

10.23*/** Form of Indemnity Agreement for directors of the Company.
10.24*/** Offer letter dated September 16, 2002 between the Company and Scott C. Grout.
10.25*/** Offer letter dated August 15, 2003 between the Company and Christian Lepiane.
10.26 Dawson Creek II lease, dated March 21, 1997, incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the

Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10−Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 1997, filed
on August 13, 1997, SEC File No. 000−26844.

16.1 Letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, dated May 13, 2005. Incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 16.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8−K, filed on May 13, 2005, SEC File
No. 000−26844.

21.1** List of Subsidiaries.
23.1** Consent of KPMG LLP.
23.2 ** Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
24.1** Powers of Attorney.
31.1** Certification of the Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a−14(a) or Rule 15d−14(a) of the

Exchange Act pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2** Certification of the Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a−14(a) or Rule 15d−14(a) of the

Exchange Act pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1** Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2** Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002.

* This Exhibit constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
** Filed herewith

(b) See (a) (3) above.

(c) See (a) (2) above.
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SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Reserves
Balance at Charged to Write−Offs Acquired Balance at
Beginning Costs and Net of through End of
of Period Expenses Recoveries Acquisitions Period

(In thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2006
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 876 $ 200 $ (218) $ — $ 858
Obsolescence reserve 7,272 6,084 (4,780) 36 8,612
Tax valuation allowance 6,812 227 — — 7,039

For the year ended December 31, 2005
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 888 $ — $ (12) $ — $ 876
Obsolescence reserve 7,353 4,647 (4,728) — 7,272
Tax valuation allowance 15,886 (9,074) — — 6,812

For the year ended December 31, 2004
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,301 $ — $ (413) $ — $ 888
Obsolescence reserve 9,491 3,046 (5,184) — 7,353
Tax valuation allowance 17,410 (1,524) — — 15,886
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: /s/  SCOTT C. GROUT
Scott C. Grout
President and

Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 2, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 28, 2007.

Signature Title

/s/  SCOTT C. GROUT

Scott C. Grout

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/  BRIAN J. BRONSON

Brian J. Bronson

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Directors:

/s/  C. SCOTT GIBSON*

C. Scott Gibson

Chairman of the Board and Director

/s/  KEN BRADLEY*

Ken Bradley

Director

/s/  RICHARD J. FAUBERT*

Richard J. Faubert

Director

/s/  DR. WILLIAM W. LATTIN*

Dr. William W. Lattin

Director

/s/  KEVIN C. MELIA*

Kevin C. Melia

Director

/s/  CARL NEUN*

Carl Neun

Director

/s/  LORENE K. STEFFES*

Lorene K. Steffes

Director

*By: 
/s/  SCOTT C. GROUT*
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Scott C. Grout, as attorney−in−fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
No Description

2.1 Arrangement Agreement among RadiSys Corporation, Convedia Corporation and RadiSys Canada
Inc., effective as of July 26, 2006. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8−K filed on July 28, 2006, SEC File No. 000−26844.

3.1 Second Restated Articles of Incorporation and amendments thereto. Incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC
File No. 333−137060.

3.2 Restated Bylaws. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S−8, filed on June 9, 2000, SEC Registration No. 333−38966.

4.1 Indenture dated August 9, 2000 between the Company and U.S. Trust Company, National
Association. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement of
Form S−3, filed on November 1, 2000, SEC Registration No. 333−49092.

4.2 Form of Note. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S−3, filed on November 1, 2000, SEC Registration No. 333−49092.

4.4 Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2003, between the Company and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as
Trustee. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S−3, filed December 24, 2003, SEC Registration No. 333−111547.

4.5 Form of Note. See Exhibit 4.4.
10.1* RadiSys Corporation 1995 Employee Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. Incorporated by reference

from Exhibit (d)(1) to the Tender Offer Statement filed by the Company on Schedule TO−I, filed
July 31, 2003, SEC File No. 005−49160.

10.2* RadiSys Corporation 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended. Incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10−Q for the quarterly period ended
June 30, 2004, filed on August 5, 2004, SEC File No. 0−26844.

10.3* RadiSys Corporation 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, as amended. Incorporated by reference
from Exhibit (d)(2) to the Tender Offer Statement filed by the Company on Schedule TO−I, filed
July 31, 2003, SEC File No. 005−49160.

10.4* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, as amended. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10−Q, for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2006,
filed on May 9, 2006, SEC File No. 000−26844.

10.5* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant for the 1995 Stock Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference
from Exhibit (d)(3) to the Tender Offer Statement filed by the Company on TO−I, filed July, 31,
2003, SEC File No. 005−49160.

10.6* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant for the 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan. Incorporated by
reference from Exhibit (d)(4) to the Tender Offer Statement filed by the Company on TO−I, filed
July, 31, 2003, SEC File No. 005−49160.

10.7* Deferred Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10−Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2001, filed on May 15,
2001, SEC File No. 000−26844.

10.8* Summary of Compensation and Performance Goals and Business Criteria for Payment of Incentive
Awards. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8−K filed on October 27, 2006, SEC File No. 000−26844.

10.9* Summary of Performance Goals and Business Criteria for Payment of Awards. Incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8−K, filed on July 28, 2006,
SEC File No. 000−26844.

10.10* RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC
Registration No. 333−137060.

10.11* Form of Notice of Option Grant for United States employees for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for
Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No. 333−137060.
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10.12* Form of Notice of Option Grant for Canada employees for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for
Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S−8 filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No. 333−137060.

10.13* Form of Notice of Option Grant for international employees for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan
for Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No.
333−137060.

10.14* Form of Notice of Option Grant for China employees for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for
Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No. 333−137060.

10.15* Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for Convedia
Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No. 333−137060.

10.16* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement for RadiSys Corporation Stock Plan for
Convedia Employees. Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.10 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S−8, filed on September 1, 2006, SEC Registration No.
333−137060.

10.17*/** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Julia A. Harper.

10.18*/** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Scott C. Grout.

10.19*/ ** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Keith Lambert.

10.20*/** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Christian Lepiane.

10.21*/** Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement dated February 27, 2007
between the Company and Brian Bronson.

10.22*/** Executive Severance Agreement dated February 27, 2007 between the Company and Keith
Lambert.

10.23*/** Form of Indemnity Agreement for directors of the Company.
10.24*/** Offer letter dated September 16, 2002 between the Company and Scott C. Grout.
10.25*/** Offer letter dated August 15, 2003 between the Company and Christian Lepiane.
10.26 Dawson Creek II lease, dated March 21, 1997, incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the

Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10−Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 1997, filed
on August 13, 1997, SEC File No. 000−26844.

16.1 Letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, dated May 13, 2005. Incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 16.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8−K, filed on May 13, 2005, SEC File
No. 000−26844.

21.1** List of Subsidiaries.
23.1** Consent of KPMG LLP.
23.2** Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
24.1** Powers of Attorney.
31.1** Certification of the Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a−14(a) or Rule 15d−14(a) of the

Exchange Act pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2** Certification of the Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a−14(a) or Rule 15d−14(a) of the

Exchange Act pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1** Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2** Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002.

* This Exhibit constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
** Filed herewith
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AMENDED AND RESTATED
EXECUTIVE CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT

February 27, 2007

Julia Harper
2 Othello Street
Lake Oswego, OR 97035 Executive

RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation
5445 NE Dawson Creek Parkway
Hillsboro, OR 97124 the Company

     1. Employment Relationship. Executive is currently employed by the Company as Vice President of Corporate Operations.
Executive and the Company acknowledge that either party may terminate this employment relationship at any time and for any or no
reason, provided that each party complies with the terms of this Agreement.

     2. Release of Claims. In consideration for and as a condition precedent to receiving the severance benefits outlined in this
Agreement, Executive agrees to execute a Release of Claims in the form attached as Exhibit A (“Release of Claims”). Executive
promises to execute and deliver the Release of Claims to the Company within the later of (a) 21 days (or, if required by applicable
law, 45 days) from the date Executive receives the Release of Claims or (b) the last day of Executive’s active employment.

     3. Additional Compensation Upon Certain Termination Events.

          3.1 Change of Control. In the event of a Termination of Executive’s Employment (as defined in Section 6.1) (i) by the
Company other than for Cause (as defined in Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.4), or (ii) by Executive for Good
Reason, and provided any of the events identified in the preceding clauses (i) and (ii) occurs within 12 months following a Change of
Control (as defined in Section 6.3 of this Agreement) or within three months preceding a Change of Control, and contingent upon
Executive’s execution of the Release of Claims without revocation and compliance with Section 9, Executive shall be entitled to the
following benefits:

          (a) As severance pay and in lieu of any other compensation for periods subsequent to the date of termination, the Company shall
pay Executive, in a lump sum, an amount equal to twelve (12) months of Executive’s annual base pay at the highest annual rate in
effect at any time within the 12−month period preceding the date of termination. Severance pay that is payable under this Agreement
shall be paid to Executive on the date that is the earlier of (i) six months and one day following Executive’s date of termination or
(ii) the date of Executives death.
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          (b) As an additional severance benefit, the Company will provide Executive with up to twelve (12) months of continued
coverage pursuant to COBRA under the Company’s group health plan at the level of benefits (whether single of family coverage)
previously elected by Executive immediately before the Termination of Executive’s Employment and to the extent that Executive
elects to continue coverage during such 12−month period.

          (c) All stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units
and other similar awards granted to Executive under the Company’s 1995 Stock Incentive Plan, 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan
or any other similar incentive plan shall vest in full; all stock options, stock appreciation rights and other similar purchase rights shall
be immediately exercisable in full in accordance with the applicable provisions of the relevant award agreement and plan; and any risk
of forfeiture included in any restricted stock, restricted stock unit, performance share, performance unit or other similar award shall
immediately lapse. Stock options that are not incentive stock options under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), and stock appreciation rights shall also be amended to permit Executive to exercise such stock options and stock appreciation
rights for a period of time equal to the shorter of (i) the period of 90 days after the date of Executive’s termination; or (ii) the longer of
(A) the period ending on the 15th day of the 3rd calendar month following the date at which the stock option or stock appreciation
right would otherwise have expired due to Executive’s termination based on the terms of the stock option or stock appreciation right at
the original grant date or (B) December 31 of the calendar year in which the stock option or stock appreciation right would otherwise
have expired due to Executive’s termination based on the terms of the stock option or stock appreciation right at the original grant
date. Such vesting and extension of stock options and stock appreciation rights shall occur notwithstanding any provision in any plan
or award agreement which provides a shorter period of exercise following termination of employment, and such vesting and lapsing of
any risk of forfeiture shall occur notwithstanding any provision in any plan or award agreement to the contrary. Any restricted stock
unit, performance share, or performance unit that vests, becomes immediately exercisable in full, or is no longer subject to a risk of
forfeiture pursuant to this clause (c) shall be paid or settled at such time and in such manner so as to be exempt from the requirements
of Code Section 409A or, to the extent that it cannot be so paid or settled, shall comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A.

          3.2 Parachute Payments. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the total payments and benefits to be paid to or for the benefit of
Executive under this Agreement would cause any portion of those payments and benefits to be “parachute payments” as defined in
Code Section 280G(b)(2), or any successor provision, the total payments and benefits to be paid to or for the benefit of Executive
under this Agreement shall be reduced to an amount that would not cause any portion of those payments and benefits to constitute
“parachute payments.”

     4. Withholding; Subsequent Employment.

          4.1 Withholding. All payments provided for in this Agreement are subject to applicable withholding obligations imposed by
federal, state and local laws and regulations.
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          4.2 Offset. The amount of any payment provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced, offset or subject to recovery by the
Company by reason of any compensation earned by Executive as the result of employment by another employer after termination.

     5. Other Agreements. If cash severance pay is payable to Executive under this Agreement, cash severance pay shall not be
payable to Executive under any other agreement with the Company in effect at the time of termination (including but not limited to
any employment agreement, but excluding for this purpose any stock option, stock appreciation right, restricted stock, restricted stock
unit, performance share, performance unit or other similar award agreement that may provide for accelerated vesting or related
benefits).

     6. Definitions.

          6.1 Termination of Executive’s Employment. Termination of Executive’s Employment means that (i) the Company has
terminated Executive’s employment with the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) other than for Cause (as defined in
Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.4), or (ii) Executive, by written notice to the Company, has terminated her
employment with the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) for Good Reason (as defined below). For purposes of this
Agreement, Good Reason means:

          (a) a significant reduction by the Company or the surviving company in Executives base pay from the highest annual rate in
effect at any time within the 12−month period preceding the Change of Control, other than a salary reduction that is part of a general
salary reduction affecting employees generally;

          (b) a significant reduction by the Company or the surviving company in total benefits available to Executive under cash
incentive, stock incentive and other employee benefit plans after the Change of Control compared to the total package of such benefits
as in effect immediately prior to the Change of Control;

          (c) the Company or the surviving company requires Executive to be based more than 25 miles from where Executives office is
located immediately prior to the Change of Control except for required travel on Company business to an extent substantially
consistent with the business travel obligations which Executive undertook on behalf of the Company immediately prior to the Change
of Control; or

          (d) the assignment of Executive to a different title, job or responsibilities that results in a material decrease in the level of
responsibility of Executive with respect to the surviving company after the Change of Control when compared to Executives level of
responsibility for the Companys operations immediately prior to the Change of Control, provided that Good Reason shall not exist if
Executive continues to have substantially the same or a greater general level of responsibility with respect to the former operations of
the Company after the Change of Control as Executive had prior to the Change of Control even if the former such operations are a
subsidiary or division of the surviving company.

          6.2 Cause. Termination of Executive’s Employment for “Cause” shall mean termination upon (a) the willful and continued
failure by Executive to perform substantially
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Executive’s reasonably assigned duties with the Company (other than any such failure resulting from Executive’s incapacity due to
physical or mental illness) after a demand for substantial performance is delivered to Executive by the Board of Directors, the Chief
Executive Officer or the President of the Company which specifically identifies the manner in which the Board of Directors believes
that Executive has not substantially performed Executive’s duties or (b) the willful engaging by Executive in illegal conduct which is
materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company. No act, or failure to act, on Executive’s part shall be considered “willful”
unless done, or omitted to be done, by Executive without reasonable belief that Executive’s action or omission was in, or not opposed
to, the best interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by
the Board of Directors shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by Executive in the best interests of the
Company.

          6.3 Change of Control. A Change of Control shall mean that one of the following events has taken place:

          (a) The shareholders of the Company approve one of the following:

     (i) Any merger or statutory plan of exchange involving the Company (“Merger”) in which the Company is not the continuing
or surviving corporation or pursuant to which Common Stock would be converted into cash, securities or other property, other
than a Merger involving the Company in which the holders of Common Stock immediately prior to the Merger continue to
represent more than 50 percent of the voting securities of the surviving corporation after the Merger; or

     (ii) Any sale, lease, exchange, or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or substantially all
of the assets of the Company.

          (b) A tender or exchange offer, other than one made by the Company, is made for Common Stock (or securities convertible into
Common Stock) and such offer results in a portion of those securities being purchased and the offeror after the consummation of the
offer is the beneficial owner (as determined pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)), directly or indirectly, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting power of outstanding securities
of the Company.

          (c) The Company receives a report on Schedule 13D of the Exchange Act reporting the beneficial ownership by any person, or
more than one person acting as a group, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting power of outstanding securities
of the Company, except that if such receipt shall occur during a tender offer or exchange offer described in (b) above, a Change of
Control shall not take place until the conclusion of such offer.

Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, no Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred for purposes of this
Agreement by virtue of any transaction which results in Executive, or a group of persons which includes Executive, acquiring, directly
or
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indirectly, securities representing 20 percent or more of the voting power of outstanding securities of the Company.

          6.4 Disability. “Disability” means Executive’s absence from Executive’s full−time duties with the Company for 180
consecutive days as a result of Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness, unless within 30 days after notice of
termination by the Company following such absence Executive shall have returned to the full−time performance of Executive’s duties.
This Agreement does not apply if the Executive is terminated due to Disability.

     7. Successors; Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the Company and its
successors and assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive and Executive’s legal
representatives, executors, administrators and heirs.

     8. Entire Agreement. The Company and Executive agree that the foregoing terms and conditions constitute the entire agreement
between the parties relating to the termination of Executives employment with the Company under the conditions described in
Section 3.1, that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any prior agreements relating to the matters covered by this Agreement,
specifically the Executive Change of Control Agreement by and between Executive and the Company dated October 3, 2001, and that
there exist no other agreements between the parties, oral or written, express or implied, relating to any matters covered by this
Agreement.

     9. Resignation of Corporate Offices; Reasonable Assistance. Executive will resign Executive’s office, if any, as a director,
officer or trustee of the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates and of any other corporation or trust of which Executive serves as such
at the request of the Company, effective as of the date of termination of employment. Executive further agrees that, if requested by the
Company or the surviving company following a Change of Control, Executive will continue her employment with the Company or the
surviving company for a period of up to six months following the Change of Control in any capacity requested, consistent with
Executive’s area of expertise, provided that Executive receives the same salary and substantially the same benefits as in effect prior to
the Change of Control. Executive agrees to provide the Company such written resignation(s) and assistance upon request and that no
severance will be paid until after such resignation(s) or services are provided.

     10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon,
without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions.

     11. Amendment. No provision of this Agreement may be modified unless such modification is agreed to in writing signed by
Executive and the Company.

     12. Severability. If any of the provisions or terms of this Agreement shall for any reason be held invalid or unenforceable, such
invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other terms of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such
unenforceable term had never been contained in this Agreement.

     13. Code Section 409A. The parties intend that this Agreement and the severance pay and other benefits provided hereunder
comply with Code Section 409A to the extent
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applicable thereto. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed
consistent with this intent, and the Company reserves the right to amend or modify this Agreement without the consent of Executive to
the extent deemed necessary or appropriate to effectuate this intent or otherwise to comply with Code Section 409A, provided that the
Company shall use reasonable efforts to provide written notice to Executive within ten (10) days of the date an amendment pursuant to
this Section 13 is adopted by the Company, which notice shall include a copy of the amendment and shall provide a general
description of the terms of the amendment and of the basis for the determination that such amendment is necessary or appropriate to
comply with Code Section 409A.

     14. Costs and Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of any administrative or civil action brought by Executive to enforce the provisions of
this Agreement, the Company shall pay Executive’s reasonable attorneys’ fees through trial and/or on appeal.

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Scott Grout /s/ Julia Harper
Scott Grout, President and CEO Julia Harper

6

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



EXHIBIT A

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

1. Parties.

     The parties to Release of Claims (hereinafter “Release”) are Julia Harper and RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, as
hereinafter defined.

     1.1 Executive and Releasing Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release, “Executive” means Julia Harper, and “Releasing Parties” means Executive and her attorneys,
heirs, legatees, personal representatives, executors, administrators, assigns, and spouse.

     1.2 The Company and the Released Parties.

     For the purposes of this Release the “Company” means RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, and “Released Parties”
means the Company and its predecessors and successors, affiliates, and all of each such entity’s officers, directors, employees,
insurers, agents, attorneys or assigns, in their individual and representative capacities.

2. Background And Purpose.

     Executive was employed by the Company. Executive’s employment is ending effective                     under the conditions described
in Section 3.1 of the Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement (“Agreement”) by and between Executive and
the Company dated February 27, 2007.

     The purpose of this Release is to settle, and the parties hereby settle, fully and finally, any and all claims the Releasing Parties may
have against the Released Parties, whether asserted or not, known or unknown, including, but not limited to, claims arising out of or
related to Executive’s employment, any claim for reemployment, or any other claims whether asserted or not, known or unknown, past
or future, that relate to Executive’s employment, reemployment, or application for reemployment.

3. Release.

          In consideration for the payments and benefits set forth in Section 3.1 of the Agreement and other promises by the Company all
of which constitute good and sufficient consideration, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives, acquits and
forever discharges the Released Parties from any obligations the Released Parties have and all claims the Releasing Parties may have
as of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 4 below) of this Release, including but not limited to obligations and/or claims arising
from the Agreement or any other document or oral agreement relating to employment compensation, benefits, severance or
post−employment issues. Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, hereby releases the Released Parties from any and all
claims, demands, actions, or causes of action,
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whether known or unknown, arising from or related in any way to any employment of or past failure or refusal to employ Executive
by the Company, or any other past claim that relates in any way to Executive’s employment, compensation, benefits, reemployment,
or application for employment, with the exception of any claim Executive may have against the Company for enforcement of the
Agreement. This Release includes any and all claims, direct or indirect, which might otherwise be made under any applicable local,
state or federal authority, including but not limited to any claim arising under state statutes dealing with employment, discrimination
in employment, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Americans With Disabilities Act, the
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, Executive Order 11246, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the
Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), the
Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Oregon Fair Employment Practices Act, OR ST
Section 659.030 et seq., Oregon wage and hour laws, OR ST Section 652.010 et seq., the Oregon Family Leave Act, OR ST
Section 659A.150 et seq., state wage and hour statutes, all as amended, any regulations under such authorities, and any applicable
contract (express or implied), tort, or common law theories. Further, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives and
releases the Released Parties from any claims that this Release was procured by fraud or signed under duress or coercion so as to make
the Release not binding. Executive is not relying upon any representations by the Company’s legal counsel in deciding to enter into
this Release. Executive understands and agrees that by signing this Release Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing
Parties, is giving up the right to pursue any legal claims that Executive or the Releasing Parties may have against the Released
Parties. Provided, nothing in this provision of this Release shall be construed to prohibit Executive from challenging the validity of
the ADEA release in this Section of the Release or from filing a charge or complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission or any state agency or from participating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission or state agency. However, the Released Parties will assert all such claims have been released in a final
binding settlement.

     3.1 IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING ADEA RELEASE. Executive understands and agrees that:

(a) this Release is worded in an understandable way;

(b) claims under the ADEA that may arise after the date of this Release are not waived;

(c) the rights and claims waived in this Release are in exchange for additional consideration over and above any consideration to
which Executive was already undisputedly entitled;

(d) Executive has been advised to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release and has had sufficient time and
opportunity to do so;

(e) Executive has been given a period of time of 21 days (or, if required by applicable law, 45 days) (the “Statutory Period”), if
desired, to consider this Release and understands that Executive may revoke her waiver and release of any ADEA
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claims covered by this Release within seven (7) days from the date Executive executes this Release. Notice of revocation must
be in writing and received by RadiSys Corporation, 5445 NE Dawson Creek Drive, Hillsboro, Oregon 97124 Attention: Vice
President, Human Resources within seven (7) days after Executive signs this Release;

(f) any changes made to this Release, whether material or immaterial, will not restart the running of the Statutory Period.

     3.2 Reservations Of Rights.

          This Release shall not affect any rights which Executive may have under any medical insurance, disability plan, workers’
compensation, unemployment compensation, indemnifications, applicable company stock incentive plan(s), or the 401(k) plan
maintained by the Company.

     3.3 No Admission Of Liability.

          It is understood and agreed that the acts done and evidenced hereby and the release granted hereunder is not an admission of
liability on the part of Executive or the Company or the Released Parties, by whom liability has been and is expressly denied.

4. Effective Date.

     The “Effective Date” of this Release shall be the eighth day after it is signed by Executive.

5. No Disparagement.

     Executive agrees that henceforth Executive will not disparage or make false or adverse statements about the Company or the
Released Parties. The Company should report to Executive any actions or statements that are attributed to Executive that the Company
believes are disparaging. The Company may take actions consistent with breach of this Release should it determine that Executive has
disparaged or made false or adverse statements about the Company or the Released Parties.

     The Company agrees that henceforth the Company’s officers and directors will not disparage or make false or adverse statements
about Executive. Executive should report to the Company any actions or statements that are attributed to the Company’s officers and
directors that Executive believes are disparaging. Executive may take actions consistent with breach of this Release should it
determine that the Company’s officers and directors have disparaged or made false or adverse statements about Executive.

6. Confidentiality, Proprietary, Trade Secret And Related Information

     Executive acknowledges the duty and agrees not to make unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential, proprietary or trade
secret information learned as an employee about the Company, its products, customers and suppliers, and covenants not to breach that
duty.
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Moreover, Executive acknowledges that, subject to the enforcement limitations of applicable law, the Company reserves the right to
enforce the terms of Executive’s Employee Agreement with the Company and any section(s) therein. Should Executive, Executive’s
attorney or agents be requested in any judicial, administrative, or other proceeding to disclose confidential, proprietary or trade secret
information Executive learned as an employee of the Company, Executive shall promptly notify the Company of such request by the
most expeditious means in order to enable the Company to take any reasonable and appropriate action to limit such disclosure.

7. Scope Of Release.

     The provisions of this Release shall be deemed to obligate, extend to, and inure to the benefit of the parties; the Company’s parents,
subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, predecessors, assigns, directors, officers, and employees; and each party’s insurers, transferees,
grantees, legatees, agents, personal representatives and heirs, including those who may assume any and all of the above−described
capacities subsequent to the execution and Effective Date of this Release.

8. Entire Release.

     This Release and the Agreement signed by Executive contain the entire agreement and understanding between the parties and,
except as reserved in Sections 3 and 6 of this Release, supersede and replace all prior agreements, written or oral, prior negotiations
and proposed agreements, written or oral. Executive and the Company acknowledge that no other party, nor agent nor attorney of any
other party, has made any promise, representation, or warranty, express or implied, not contained in this Release concerning the
subject matter of this Release to induce this Release, and Executive and the Company acknowledge that they have not executed this
Release in reliance upon any such promise, representation, or warranty not contained in this Release.

9. Severability.

     Every provision of this Release is intended to be severable. In the event any term or provision of this Release is declared to be
illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever by a court of competent jurisdiction or by final and unappealed order of an administrative
agency of competent jurisdiction, such illegality or invalidity should not affect the balance of the terms and provisions of this Release,
which terms and provisions shall remain binding and enforceable.

10. References.

          The Company agrees to follow the applicable policy(ies) regarding release of employment reference information.

11. Parties May Enforce Release.

     Nothing in this Release shall operate to release or discharge any parties to this Release or their successors, assigns, legatees, heirs,
or personal representatives from any rights, claims, or causes of action arising out of, relating to, or connected with a breach of any
obligation of any party contained in this Release.
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12. Governing Law.

     This Release shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon, without regard to its conflicts
of laws provisions.

Dated:
Julia Harper

STATE OF OREGON ) 
)ss.

County of                    ) 

     Personally appeared the above named Julia Harper and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be her voluntary act and deed.

Before me:
NOTARY PUBLIC — OREGON
My commission expires:                                        

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: Dated:

Its:
On Behalf of RadiSys Corporation and
“Company”
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Exhibit 10.18

AMENDED AND RESTATED
EXECUTIVE CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT

February 27, 2007

Scott C. Grout
9137 NW McKenna Drive
Portland, OR 97229

Executive

RadiSys Corporation
an Oregon corporation
5445 NE Dawson Creek Parkway
Hillsboro, Oregon 97124

the Company

     1. Employment Relationship. Executive is currently employed by the Company as President and Chief Executive Officer.
Executive and the Company acknowledge that either party may terminate this employment relationship at any time and for any or no
reason, provided that each party complies with the terms of this Agreement.

     2. Release of Claims. In consideration for and as a condition precedent to receiving the severance benefits outlined in this
Agreement, Executive agrees to execute a Release of Claims in the form attached as Exhibit A (“Release of Claims”). Executive
promises to execute and deliver the Release of Claims to the Company within the later of (a) 21 days (or, if required by applicable
law, 45 days) from the date Executive receives the Release of Claims or (b) the last day of Executive’s active employment.

     3. Compensation Upon Termination Following a Change of Control; Noncompetition. In the event of a Termination of
Executive’s Employment (as defined in Section 6.1) (i) by the Company other than for Cause (as defined in Section 6.2), death or
Disability (as defined in Section 6.4), or (ii) by Executive for Good Reason, and provided any of the events identified in the preceding
clauses (i) and (ii) occurs within 12 months following a Change of Control (as defined in Section 6.3 of this Agreement) or within
three months preceding a Change of Control, and contingent upon Executive’s execution of the Release of Claims without revocation
and compliance with Section 9, and, with respect to the Remaining Payments (as defined below), continued compliance with the
provisions of Section 3.1(a), Executive shall be entitled to the following benefits:

          3.1 As severance pay and in lieu of any other compensation for periods subsequent to the date of termination, the Company
shall pay Executive a total amount in cash equal to twelve (12) months of Executive’s annual base pay at the highest annual rate in
effect at any time within the 12−month period preceding the date of termination (the “Base Severance”), payable as follows: (a) 25%
of the Base Severance (the “First Payment”) will be paid in a single payment after employment has ended and eight days have passed
following execution of the Release of Claims without revocation, and (b) the remaining 75% of the Base Severance (the
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“Remaining Payments”) will be paid in periodic payments on regular paydays over twelve months beginning on the first regular
payday following payment of the First Payment. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, Base Severance shall not be payable any
earlier than the earlier of (i) the date that is six months and one day following Executive’s date of termination or (ii) the date of
Executive’s death, at which time the Company shall pay all delayed payments to Executive in a lump sum payment. Payment of the
Remaining Payments is subject to the following restrictions:

     (a) During the period of the Remaining Payments, Executive agrees that Executive will not individually, and will not serve as
or become a director, officer, partner, limited partner, employee, agent, representative, material stockholder (greater than ten
percent (10%) of a company’s outstanding shares), creditor, or consultant of or to, or serve in any other capacity with any
business worldwide which shall in any manner:

          (i) Engage or prepare to engage in any business which competes directly with the Company; or

          (ii) Solicit, hire or otherwise assist in any effort that attempts to employ or otherwise utilize the services of any employee
of the Company.

For purposes of subclause (i), any company named as a competitor in the “Competition” section of the Company’s most recent
Annual Report on Form 10−K will be deemed to be engaged in a business which competes directly with the Company; provided
however, if a company so named as a competitor had revenues in its last fiscal year in excess of five times the Company’s
revenues in its last fiscal year, and only a division or business unit representing less than half of such competitor’s revenues is
engaged in a business which competes directly with the Company, only such division or business unit shall be deemed to be a
competitor for purposes of subclause (i).

     (b) Executive acknowledges and agrees that the time, scope, worldwide geographic area, and other provisions of this
Section 3.1 are reasonable under the circumstances. Executive further agrees that if, at any time, despite the express agreement of
the parties hereto, a court of competent jurisdiction holds that any portion of this Section 3.1 is unenforceable for any reason, the
maximum restrictions of time, scope, or geographic area reasonable under the circumstances, as determined by such court, will
be substituted for any such restrictions held unenforceable.

          3.2 As an additional severance benefit, the Company will provide Executive with up to twelve (12) months of continued
coverage pursuant to COBRA under the Company’s group health plan at the level of benefits (whether single or family coverage)
previously elected
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by Executive immediately before the Termination of Executive’s Employment and to the extent that Executive elects to continue
coverage during such 12−month period.

          3.3 All stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units
and other similar awards granted to Executive under the Company’s 1995 Stock Incentive Plan, 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan
or any other similar incentive plan shall vest in full; all stock options, stock appreciation rights and other similar purchase rights shall
be immediately exercisable in full in accordance with the applicable provisions of the relevant award agreement and plan; and any risk
of forfeiture included in any restricted stock, restricted stock unit, performance share, performance unit or other similar award shall
immediately lapse (all such accelerated vesting and lapsing of any risk of forfeiture is hereinafter referred to as the “Acceleration”).
Stock options that are not incentive stock options under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and stock
appreciation rights shall also be amended to permit Executive to exercise such stock options and stock appreciation rights for a period
of time equal to the shorter of (i) the period of 90 days after the date of Executive’s termination; or (ii) the longer of (A) the period
ending on the 15th day of the 3rd calendar month following the date at which the stock option or stock appreciation right would
otherwise have expired due to Executive’s termination based on the terms of the stock option or stock appreciation right at the original
grant date or (B) December 31 of the calendar year in which the stock option or stock appreciation right would otherwise have expired
due to Executive’s termination based on the terms of the stock option or stock appreciation right at the original grant date. Such
vesting and extension of stock options and stock appreciation rights shall occur notwithstanding any provision in any plan or award
agreement which provides a shorter period of exercise following termination of employment, and such vesting and lapsing of any risk
of forfeiture shall occur notwithstanding any provision in any plan or award agreement to the contrary. Any restricted stock unit,
performance share, or performance unit that vests, becomes immediately exercisable in full, or is no longer subject to a risk of
forfeiture pursuant to this clause (c) shall be paid or settled at such time and in such manner so as to be exempt from the requirements
of Code Section 409A or, to the extent that it cannot be so paid or settled, shall comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A.

          3.4 Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in the event that Executive would receive a greater after−tax benefit
from the Capped Benefit (as defined below) than from the payments (including the monetary value of any non−cash benefits and the
Acceleration) otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement (the “Specified Benefits”), the Capped Benefit shall be paid to Executive
and the Specified Benefits shall not be paid. The “Capped Benefit” equals the Specified Benefits, reduced by the minimum amount
necessary to prevent any portion of the Specified Benefits from being subject to the excise tax imposed by Code Section 4999 or any
successor provision. In determining the “Capped Benefit,” the Company shall reduce or eliminate the Specified Benefits, first by
reducing or eliminating the portion of the Specified Benefits that is payable in cash, including by reducing or eliminating the Base
Severance, second by reducing or eliminating the portion of the Specified Benefits that is not payable in cash (other than Specified
Benefits as to which Treasury Regulations Section 1.280G−1 Q/A – 24(c) (or any successor provision thereto) applies (“Q/A−24(c)
Payments”)), and third by reducing or eliminating Q/A−24(c) Payments (including by reducing or eliminating the Acceleration). In the
event that any Q/A−24(c) Payment or Acceleration is to be reduced, such Q/A−24(c) Payment or Acceleration shall be reduced or
cancelled in the reverse order of
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the date of grant of the awards. For purposes of determining whether Executive would receive a greater after−tax benefit from the
Capped Benefit than from the Specified Benefits there shall be taken into account any excise tax that would be imposed under Code
Section 4999 and all federal, state and local taxes required to be paid by Executive in respect of the receipt of such payments,
assuming that such payments would be taxed at the highest marginal rate applicable to individuals in the year in which the benefits are
to be paid or such lower rate as Executive advises the Company in writing is applicable to Executive. The independent public
accounting firm serving as the Company’s auditing firm immediately prior to the effective date of the Change of Control (the
“Accountants”) shall make in writing in good faith, subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 3.4, all calculations and
determinations under this Section, including the assumptions to be used in arriving at such calculations and determinations, whether
any Specified Benefits are to be reduced, and the manner and amount of any reduction in the Specified Benefits. For purposes of
making the calculations and determinations under this Section, the Accountants may make reasonable assumptions and
approximations concerning the application of Code Sections 280G and 4999. Executive shall furnish to the Accountants and the
Company such information and documents as the Accountants or the Company may reasonably request to make the calculations and
determinations under this Section. The Company shall bear all fees and costs the Accountants may reasonably charge or incur in
connection with any calculations contemplated by this Section. The Accountants shall provide its determination, together with detailed
supporting calculations regarding any relevant matter, both to the Company and to Executive by no later than ten (10) days following
the Executive’s date of termination. The reduction or elimination of the Remaining Payments pursuant to this Section 3.4 shall not
release Executive from his obligations under Section 3.1.

     4. Withholding; Subsequent Employment.

          4.1 Withholding. All payments provided for in this Agreement are subject to applicable withholding obligations imposed by
federal, state and local laws and regulations.

          4.2 Offset. Except as provided in Section 3, the amount of any payment provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced,
offset or subject to recovery by the Company by reason of any compensation earned by Executive as the result of employment by
another employer after termination.

     5. Other Agreements. If cash severance pay is payable to Executive under this Agreement, cash severance pay shall not be
payable to Executive under any other agreement with the Company in effect at the time of termination (including but not limited to
any employment agreement).

     6. Definitions.

          6.1 Termination of Executive’s Employment. Termination of Executive’s Employment means that (i) the Company has
terminated Executive’s employment with the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) other than for Cause (as defined in
Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.4), or (ii) Executive, by written notice to the Company, has terminated his
employment with the Company (including any subsidiary
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of the Company) for Good Reason (as defined below). For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” means:

     (a) a significant reduction by the Company or the surviving company in Executive’s base pay from the highest annual rate in
effect at any time within the 12−month period preceding the Change of Control, other than a salary reduction that is part of a
general salary reduction affecting employees generally;

     (b) a significant reduction by the Company or the surviving company in total benefits available to Executive under cash
incentive, stock incentive and other employee benefit plans after the Change of Control compared to the total package of such
benefits as in effect immediately prior to the Change of Control;

     (c) the Company or the surviving company requires Executive to be based more than 25 miles from where Executive’s office
is located immediately prior to the Change of Control except for required travel on Company business to an extent substantially
consistent with the business travel obligations which Executive undertook on behalf of the Company immediately prior to the
Change of Control; or

     (d) the assignment of Executive to a different title, job or responsibilities that results in a material decrease in the level of
responsibility of Executive with respect to the surviving company after the Change of Control when compared to Executive’s
level of responsibility for the Company’s operations prior to the Change of Control, provided that Good Reason shall not exist if
Executive continues to have substantially the same or a greater general level of responsibility with respect to the former
operations of the Company after the Change of Control as Executive had immediately prior to the Change of Control even if the
former such operations are a subsidiary or division of the surviving company.

          6.2 Cause. Termination of Executive’s Employment for “Cause” shall mean termination upon (a) the willful and continued
failure by Executive to perform substantially Executive’s reasonably assigned duties with the Company (other than any such failure
resulting from Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness) after a demand for substantial performance is delivered to
Executive by the Board of Directors which specifically identifies the manner in which the Board of Directors believes that Executive
has not substantially performed Executive’s duties or (b) the willful engaging by Executive in illegal conduct which is materially and
demonstrably injurious to the Company. No act, or failure to act, on Executive’s part shall be considered “willful” unless done, or
omitted to be done, by Executive without reasonable belief that Executive’s action or omission was in, or not opposed to, the best
interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a
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resolution duly adopted by the Board of Directors shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by Executive in
the best interests of the Company.

          6.3 Change of Control. A Change of Control shall mean that one of the following events has taken place:

     (a) The shareholders of the Company approve one of the following:

          (i) Any merger or statutory plan of exchange involving the Company (“Merger”) in which the Company is not the
continuing or surviving corporation or pursuant to which Common Stock would be converted into cash, securities or other
property, other than a Merger involving the Company in which the holders of Common Stock immediately prior to the Merger
continue to represent more than 50 percent of the voting securities of the surviving corporation after the Merger; or

          (ii) Any sale, lease, exchange, or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or substantially
all of the assets of the Company.

     (b) A tender or exchange offer, other than one made by the Company, is made for Common Stock (or securities convertible
into Common Stock) and such offer results in a portion of those securities being purchased and the offeror after the
consummation of the offer is the beneficial owner (as determined pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), directly or indirectly, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting
power of outstanding securities of the Company.

     (c) The Company receives a report on Schedule 13D of the Exchange Act reporting the beneficial ownership by any person,
or more than one person acting as a group, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting power of outstanding
securities of the Company, except that if such receipt shall occur during a tender offer or exchange offer described in (b) above, a
Change of Control shall not take place until the conclusion of such offer.

Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, no Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred for purposes of this
Agreement by virtue of any transaction which results in Executive, or a group of persons which includes Executive, acquiring, directly
or indirectly, securities representing 20 percent or more of the voting power of outstanding securities of the Company.
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          6.4 Disability. “Disability” means Executive’s absence from Executive’s full−time duties with the Company for 180
consecutive days as a result of Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness, unless within 30 days after notice of
termination by the Company following such absence Executive shall have returned to the full−time performance of Executive’s duties.
This Agreement does not apply if the Executive is terminated due to Disability.

     7. Successors; Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the Company and its
successors and assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive and Executive’s legal
representatives, executors, administrators and heirs.

     8. Entire Agreement. The Company and Executive agree that the foregoing terms and conditions constitute the entire agreement
between the parties relating to the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company under the conditions described in
Section 3, that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any prior agreements relating to the matters covered by this Agreement,
specifically the Executive Change of Control Agreement by and between Executive and the Company dated October 15, 2002, and
that there exist no other agreements between the parties, oral or written, express or implied, relating to any matters covered by this
Agreement.

     9. Resignation of Corporate Offices; Reasonable Assistance. Executive will resign Executive’s office, if any, as a director,
officer or trustee of the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates and of any other corporation or trust of which Executive serves as such
as a representative of the Company at the request of the Company, effective as of the date of termination of employment. Executive
further agrees that, if requested by the Company or the surviving company following a Change of Control, Executive will continue his
employment with the Company or the surviving company for a period of up to six months following the Change of Control in any
capacity requested, consistent with Executive’s area of expertise, provided that the Executive receives the same salary and
substantially the same benefits as in effect prior to the Change of Control. Executive agrees to provide the Company such written
resignation(s) and assistance upon request and that no severance will be paid until after such resignation(s) or services are provided.

     10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon,
without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions.

     11. Amendment. No provision of this Agreement may be modified unless such modification is agreed to in a writing signed by
Executive and the Company.

     12. Severability. Except as otherwise provided in Section 3.1, if any of the provisions or terms of this Agreement shall for any
reason be held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other terms of this Agreement, and this
Agreement shall be construed as if such unenforceable term had never been contained in this Agreement.

     13. Code Section 409A. The parties intend that this Agreement and the severance pay and other benefits provided hereunder
comply with Code Section 409A to the extent
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applicable thereto. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed
consistent with this intent, and the Company reserves the right to amend or modify this Agreement without the consent of Executive to
the extent deemed necessary or appropriate to effectuate this intent or otherwise to comply with Code Section 409A, provided that the
Company shall use reasonable efforts to provide written notice to Executive within ten (10) days of the date an amendment pursuant to
this Section 13 is adopted by the Company, which notice shall include a copy of the amendment and shall provide a general
description of the terms of the amendment and of the basis for the determination that such amendment is necessary or appropriate to
comply with Code Section 409A.

     14. Costs and Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of any administrative or civil action brought by Executive to enforce the provisions of
this Agreement, the Company shall pay Executive’s reasonable attorneys’ fees through trial and/or on appeal.

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: /s/ C. Scott Gibson /s/ Scott C. Grout
C. Scott Gibson
Chairman of the Board

Scott C. Grout
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EXHIBIT A

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

1. Parties.

     The parties to Release of Claims (hereinafter “Release”) are Scott C. Grout and RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, as
hereinafter defined.

     1.1 Executive and Releasing Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release, “Executive” means Scott C. Grout, and “Releasing Parties” means Executive and his attorneys,
heirs, legatees, personal representatives, executors, administrators, assigns, and spouse.

     1.2 The Company and the Released Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release the “Company” means RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, and “Released Parties”
means the Company and its predecessors and successors, affiliates, and all of each such entity’s officers, directors, employees,
insurers, agents, attorneys or assigns, in their individual and representative capacities.

2. Background And Purpose.

     Executive was employed by the Company. Executive’s employment is ending effective                     under the conditions described
in Section 3 of the Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement (“Agreement”) by and between Executive and the
Company dated February 27, 2007.

     The purpose of this Release is to settle, and the parties hereby settle, fully and finally, any and all claims the Releasing Parties may
have against the Released Parties, whether asserted or not, known or unknown, including, but not limited to, claims arising out of or
related to Executive’s employment, any claim for reemployment, or any other claims whether asserted or not, known or unknown, past
or future, that relate to Executive’s employment, reemployment, or application for reemployment.

3. Release.

          In consideration for the payments and benefits set forth in Section 3 of the Agreement and other promises by the Company all of
which constitute good and sufficient consideration, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives, acquits and forever
discharges the Released Parties from any obligations the Released Parties have and all claims the Releasing Parties may have as of the
Effective Date (as defined in Section 4 below) of this Release, including but not limited to obligations and/or claims arising from the
Agreement or any other document or oral agreement relating to employment compensation, benefits, severance or post−employment
issues. Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, hereby releases the Released Parties from any and all claims, demands,
actions, or causes of action,
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whether known or unknown, arising from or related in any way to any employment of or past failure or refusal to employ Executive
by the Company, or any other past claim that relates in any way to Executive’s employment, compensation, benefits, reemployment,
or application for employment, with the exception of any claim Executive may have against the Company for enforcement of the
Agreement. This Release includes any and all claims, direct or indirect, which might otherwise be made under any applicable local,
state or federal authority, including but not limited to any claim arising under state statutes dealing with employment, discrimination
in employment, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Americans With Disabilities Act, the
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, Executive Order 11246, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the
Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), the
Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Oregon Fair Employment Practices Act, OR ST
Section 659.030 et seq., Oregon wage and hour laws, OR ST Section 652.010 et seq., the Oregon Family Leave Act, OR ST
Section 659A.150 et seq., state wage and hour statutes, all as amended, any regulations under such authorities, and any applicable
contract (express or implied), tort, or common law theories. Further, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives and
releases the Released Parties from any claims that this Release was procured by fraud or signed under duress or coercion so as to make
the Release not binding. Executive is not relying upon any representations by the Company’s legal counsel in deciding to enter into
this Release. Executive understands and agrees that by signing this Release Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing
Parties, is giving up the right to pursue any legal claims that Executive or the Releasing Parties may have against the Released
Parties. Provided, nothing in this provision of this Release shall be construed to prohibit Executive from challenging the validity of
the ADEA release in this Section of the Release or from filing a charge or complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission or any state agency or from participating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission or state agency. However, the Released Parties will assert all such claims have been released in a final
binding settlement.

     3.1 IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING ADEA RELEASE. Executive understands and agrees that:

(a) this Release is worded in an understandable way;

(b) claims under the ADEA that may arise after the date of this Release are not waived;

(c) the rights and claims waived in this Release are in exchange for additional consideration over and above any consideration to
which Executive was already undisputedly entitled;

(d) Executive has been advised to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release and has had sufficient time and
opportunity to do so;

(e) Executive has been given a period of time of 21 days (or, if required by applicable law, 45 days) (the “Statutory Period”), if
desired, to consider this Release and understands that Executive may revoke his waiver and release of any ADEA
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claims covered by this Release within seven (7) days from the date Executive executes this Release. Notice of revocation must
be in writing and received by RadiSys Corporation, 5445 NE Dawson Creek Drive, Hillsboro, Oregon 97124 Attention: Vice
President, Human Resources within seven (7) days after Executive signs this Release;

(f) any changes made to this Release, whether material or immaterial, will not restart the running of the Statutory Period.

     3.2 Reservations Of Rights.

          This Release shall not affect any rights which Executive may have under any medical insurance, disability plan, workers’
compensation, unemployment compensation, indemnifications, applicable company stock incentive plan(s), or the 401(k) plan
maintained by the Company.

     3.3 No Admission Of Liability.

          It is understood and agreed that the acts done and evidenced hereby and the release granted hereunder is not an admission of
liability on the part of Executive or the Company or the Released Parties, by whom liability has been and is expressly denied.

4. Effective Date.

     The “Effective Date” of this Release shall be the eighth day after it is signed by Executive.

5. No Disparagement.

     Executive agrees that henceforth Executive will not disparage or make false or adverse statements about the Company or the
Released Parties. The Company should report to Executive any actions or statements that are attributed to Executive that the Company
believes are disparaging. The Company may take actions consistent with breach of this Release should it determine that Executive has
disparaged or made false or adverse statements about the Company or the Released Parties.

     The Company agrees that henceforth the Company’s officers and directors will not disparage or make false or adverse statements
about Executive. Executive should report to the Company any actions or statements that are attributed to the Company’s officers and
directors that Executive believes are disparaging. Executive may take actions consistent with breach of this Release should it
determine that the Company’s officers and directors have disparaged or made false or adverse statements about Executive.

6. Confidentiality, Proprietary, Trade Secret And Related Information

     Executive acknowledges the duty and agrees not to make unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential, proprietary or trade
secret information learned as an employee about the Company, its products, customers and suppliers, and covenants not to breach that
duty.
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Moreover, Executive acknowledges that, subject to the enforcement limitations of applicable law, the Company reserves the right to
enforce the terms of Executive’s Employee Agreement with the Company and any section(s) therein. Should Executive, Executive’s
attorney or agents be requested in any judicial, administrative, or other proceeding to disclose confidential, proprietary or trade secret
information Executive learned as an employee of the Company, Executive shall promptly notify the Company of such request by the
most expeditious means in order to enable the Company to take any reasonable and appropriate action to limit such disclosure.

7. Scope Of Release.

     The provisions of this Release shall be deemed to obligate, extend to, and inure to the benefit of the parties; the Company’s parents,
subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, predecessors, assigns, directors, officers, and employees; and each party’s insurers, transferees,
grantees, legatees, agents, personal representatives and heirs, including those who may assume any and all of the above−described
capacities subsequent to the execution and Effective Date of this Release.

8. Entire Release.

     This Release and the Agreement signed by Executive contain the entire agreement and understanding between the parties and,
except as reserved in Sections 3 and 6 of this Release, supersede and replace all prior agreements, written or oral, prior negotiations
and proposed agreements, written or oral. Executive and the Company acknowledge that no other party, nor agent nor attorney of any
other party, has made any promise, representation, or warranty, express or implied, not contained in this Release concerning the
subject matter of this Release to induce this Release, and Executive and the Company acknowledge that they have not executed this
Release in reliance upon any such promise, representation, or warranty not contained in this Release.

9. Severability.

     Every provision of this Release is intended to be severable. In the event any term or provision of this Release is declared to be
illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever by a court of competent jurisdiction or by final and unappealed order of an administrative
agency of competent jurisdiction, such illegality or invalidity should not affect the balance of the terms and provisions of this Release,
which terms and provisions shall remain binding and enforceable.

10. References.

          The Company agrees to follow the applicable policy(ies) regarding release of employment reference information.

11. Parties May Enforce Release.

     Nothing in this Release shall operate to release or discharge any parties to this Release or their successors, assigns, legatees, heirs,
or personal representatives from any rights, claims, or causes of action arising out of, relating to, or connected with a breach of any
obligation of any party contained in this Release.
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12. Governing Law.

     This Release shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon, without regard to its conflicts
of laws provisions.

Dated:
Scott C. Grout

     STATE OF OREGON
) 
)ss.

County of                    ) 

     Personally appeared the above named Scott C. Grout and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be his voluntary act and deed.

Before me:
NOTARY PUBLIC – OREGON
My commission expires:                                        

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: Dated:
Its:

On Behalf of RadiSys Corporation and
“Company”
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Exhibit 10.19

AMENDED AND RESTATED
EXECUTIVE CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT

February 27, 2007

Keith Lambert
1706 NW Potters Court
Portland, OR 97229 Executive

RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation
5445 NE Dawson Creek Parkway
Hillsboro, OR 97124 the Company

     1. Employment Relationship. Executive is currently employed by the Company as Vice President of Manufacturing Operations.
Executive and the Company acknowledge that either party may terminate this employment relationship at any time and for any or no
reason, provided that each party complies with the terms of this Agreement.

     2. Release of Claims. In consideration for and as a condition precedent to receiving the severance benefits outlined in this
Agreement, Executive agrees to execute a Release of Claims in the form attached as Exhibit A (“Release of Claims”). Executive
promises to execute and deliver the Release of Claims to the Company within the later of (a) 21 days (or, if required by applicable
law, 45 days) from the date Executive receives the Release of Claims or (b) the last day of Executive’s active employment.

     3. Additional Compensation Upon Certain Termination Events.

          3.1 Change of Control. In the event of a Termination of Executive’s Employment (as defined in Section 6.1) (i) other than for
Cause (as defined in Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.4), or (ii) as a result of a requirement to accept a position
greater than twenty−five (25) miles from current work location, and provided any of the events identified in the preceding clauses
(i) and (ii) occurs within 12 months following a Change of Control (as defined in Section 6.3 of this Agreement) or within three
months preceding a Change of Control, and contingent upon Executive’s execution of the Release of Claims without revocation and
compliance with Section 9, Executive shall be entitled to severance pay in lieu of any other compensation for periods subsequent to
the date of termination in an amount, payable in a lump sum, equal to twelve (12) months of Executive’s annual base pay at the
highest annual rate in effect at any time within the 12−month period preceding the date of termination. Severance pay that is payable
under this Agreement shall be paid to Executive on the earlier of (i) the date that is six months and one day following the date of
termination or (ii) the date of Executive’s death.

          3.2 Parachute Payments. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the total payments and benefits to be paid to or for the benefit of
Executive under this Agreement would cause any portion of those payments and benefits to be “parachute payments” as defined in
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Section 280G(b)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), or any successor provision, the total payments
and benefits to be paid to or for the benefit of Executive under this Agreement shall be reduced to an amount that would not cause any
portion of those payments and benefits to constitute “parachute payments.”

     4. Withholding; Subsequent Employment.

          4.1 Withholding. All payments provided for in this Agreement are subject to applicable withholding obligations imposed by
federal, state and local laws and regulations.

          4.2 Offset. The amount of any payment provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced, offset or subject to recovery by the
Company by reason of any compensation earned by Executive as the result of employment by another employer after termination.

     5. Other Agreements. If cash severance pay is payable to Executive under this Agreement, cash severance pay shall not be
payable to Executive under any other agreement with the Company in effect at the time of termination (including but not limited to
any employment agreement, but excluding for this purpose any stock option, stock appreciation right, restricted stock, restricted stock
unit, performance share, performance unit or other similar award agreement that may provide for accelerated vesting or related
benefits).

     6. Definitions.

          6.1 Termination of Executive’s Employment. Termination of Executive’s Employment means that (i) the Company has
terminated Executive’s employment with the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) other than for Cause (as defined in
Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.4), or (ii) Executive, by written notice to the Company, has terminated his
employment as a result of a requirement by the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) that he relocate from his current
work location.

          6.2 Cause. Termination of Executive’s Employment for “Cause” shall mean termination upon (a) the willful and continued
failure by Executive to perform substantially Executive’s reasonably assigned duties with the Company (other than any such failure
resulting from Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness) after a demand for substantial performance is delivered to
Executive by the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the President of the Company which specifically identifies the
manner in which the Board of Directors believes that Executive has not substantially performed Executive’s duties or (b) the willful
engaging by Executive in illegal conduct which is materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company. No act, or failure to act, on
Executive’s part shall be considered “willful” unless done, or omitted to be done, by Executive without reasonable belief that
Executive’s action or omission was in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon
authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board of Directors shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted
to be done, by Executive in the best interests of the Company.

          6.3 Change of Control. A Change of Control shall mean that one of the following events has taken place:
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     (a) The shareholders of the Company approve one of the following:

               (i) Any merger or statutory plan of exchange involving the Company (“Merger”) in which the Company is not the
continuing or surviving corporation or pursuant to which Common Stock would be converted into cash, securities or other
property, other than a Merger involving the Company in which the holders of Common Stock immediately prior to the Merger
continue to represent more than 50 percent of the voting securities of the surviving corporation after the Merger; or

               (ii) Any sale, lease, exchange, or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company.

     (b) A tender or exchange offer, other than one made by the Company, is made for Common Stock (or securities convertible
into Common Stock) and such offer results in a portion of those securities being purchased and the offeror after the consummation
of the offer is the beneficial owner (as determined pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”)), directly or indirectly, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting power of outstanding
securities of the Company.

     (c) The Company receives a report on Schedule 13D of the Exchange Act reporting the beneficial ownership by any person, or
more than one person acting as a group, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting power of outstanding
securities of the Company, except that if such receipt shall occur during a tender offer or exchange offer described in (b) above, a
Change of Control shall not take place until the conclusion of such offer.

Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, no Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred for purposes of this
Agreement by virtue of any transaction which results in Executive, or a group of persons which includes Executive, acquiring, directly
or indirectly, securities representing 20 percent or more of the voting power of outstanding securities of the Company.

          6.4 Disability. “Disability” means Executive’s absence from Executive’s full−time duties with the Company for 180
consecutive days as a result of Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness, unless within 30 days after notice of
termination by the Company following such absence Executive shall have returned to the full−time performance of Executive’s duties.
This Agreement does not apply if the Executive is terminated due to Disability.

     7. Successors; Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the Company and its
successors and assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive and Executive’s legal
representatives, executors, administrators and heirs.

     8. Entire Agreement. The Company and Executive agree that the foregoing terms and conditions constitute the entire agreement
between the parties relating to the termination of
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Executive’s employment with the Company under the conditions described in Section 3.1, that this Agreement supersedes and
replaces any prior agreements relating to the matters covered by this Agreement, specifically the Executive Change of Control
Agreement by and between Executive and the Company dated March 7, 2005, and that there exist no other agreements between the
parties, oral or written, express or implied, relating to any matters covered by this Agreement.

     9. Resignation of Corporate Offices; Reasonable Assistance. Executive will resign Executive’s office, if any, as a director,
officer or trustee of the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates and of any other corporation or trust of which Executive serves as such
at the request of the Company, effective as of the date of termination of employment. Executive further agrees that, if requested by the
Company or the surviving company following a Change of Control, Executive will continue his employment with the Company or the
surviving company for a period of up to six months following the Change of Control in any capacity requested, consistent with
Executive’s area of expertise, provided that Executive receives the same salary and substantially the same benefits as in effect prior to
the Change of Control. Executive agrees to provide the Company such written resignation(s) and assistance upon request and that no
severance will be paid until after such resignation(s) or services are provided.

     10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon,
without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions.

     11. Amendment. No provision of this Agreement may be modified unless such modification is agreed to in writing signed by
Executive and the Company.

     12. Severability. If any of the provisions or terms of this Agreement shall for any reason be held invalid or unenforceable, such
invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other terms of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such
unenforceable term had never been contained in this Agreement.

     13. Code Section 409A. The parties intend that this Agreement and the severance pay provided hereunder comply with Code
Section 409A to the extent applicable thereto. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall
be interpreted and construed consistent with this intent, and the Company reserves the right to amend or modify this Agreement
without the consent of Executive to the extent deemed necessary or appropriate to effectuate this intent or otherwise to comply with
Code Section 409A, provided that the Company shall use reasonable efforts to provide written notice to Executive within ten
(10) days of the date an amendment pursuant to this Section 13 is adopted by the Company, which notice shall include a copy of the
amendment and shall provide a general description of the terms of the amendment and of the basis for the determination that such
amendment is necessary or appropriate to comply with Code Section 409A.

     14. Costs and Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of any administrative or civil action brought by Executive to enforce the provisions of
this Agreement, the Company shall pay Executive’s reasonable attorneys’ fees through trial and/or on appeal.
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RADISYS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Scott
Grout /s/ Keith Lambert
Scott Grout,
President
and CEO Keith Lambert 
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EXHIBIT A

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

1. Parties.

          The parties to Release of Claims (hereinafter “Release”) are Keith Lambert and RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, as
hereinafter defined.

     1.1 Executive and Releasing Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release, “Executive” means Keith Lambert, and “Releasing Parties” means Executive and his attorneys,
heirs, legatees, personal representatives, executors, administrators, assigns, and spouse.

     1.2 The Company and the Released Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release, the “Company” means RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, and Released Parties
means the Company and its predecessors and successors, affiliates, and all of each such entity’s officers, directors, employees,
insurers, agents, attorneys or assigns, in their individual and representative capacities.

2. Background And Purpose.

          Executive was employed by the Company. Executive’s employment is ending effective ___ under the conditions described in
Section 3.1 of the Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement (“Agreement”) by and between Executive and the
Company dated February 27, 2007.

          The purpose of this Release is to settle, and the parties hereby settle, fully and finally, any and all claims the Releasing Parties
may have against the Released Parties, whether asserted or not, known or unknown, including, but not limited to, claims arising out of
or related to Executive’s employment, any claim for reemployment, or any other claims whether asserted or not, known or unknown,
past or future, that relate to Executive’s employment, reemployment, or application for reemployment.

3. Release.

          In consideration for the payment set forth in Section 3.1 of the Agreement and other promises by the Company all of which
constitute good and sufficient consideration, the Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives, acquits and forever
discharges the Released Parties from any obligations the Released Parties have and all claims the Releasing Parties may have as of the
Effective Date (as defined in Section 4 below) of this Release, including but not limited to, obligations and/or claims arising from the
Agreement or any other document or oral agreement relating to employment, compensation, benefits, severance or post−employment
issues. Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, hereby releases the Released Parties from any and all claims, demands,
actions, or causes of action, whether known
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or unknown, arising from or related in any way to any employment of or past failure or refusal to employ Executive by the Company,
or any other past claim that relates in any way to Executive’s employment, compensation, benefits, reemployment, or application for
employment, with the exception of any claim Executive may have against the Company for enforcement of the Agreement. This
Release includes any and all claims, direct or indirect, which might otherwise be made under any applicable local, state or federal
authority, including but not limited to any claim arising under state statutes dealing with employment, discrimination in employment,
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Americans With Disabilities Act, the Family and Medical
Leave Act of 1993, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, Executive Order 11246, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Uniformed Services
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), the Older Workers
Benefit Protection Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Oregon Fair Employment Practices Act, OR ST Section 659.030 et seq.,
Oregon wage and hour laws, OR ST Section 652.010 et seq., the Oregon Family Leave Act, OR ST Section 659A.150 et seq., state
wage and hour statutes, all as amended, any regulations under such authorities, and any applicable contract (express or implied), tort,
or common law theories. Further, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives and releases the Released Parties from
any claims that this Release was procured by fraud or signed under duress or coercion so as to make the Release not binding.
Executive is not relying upon any representations by the Company’s legal counsel in deciding to enter into this Release. Executive
understands and agrees that by signing this Release Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, is giving up the right
to pursue any legal claims that Executive or the Releasing Parties may have against the Released Parties. Provided, nothing in
this provision of this Release shall be construed to prohibit Executive from challenging the validity of the ADEA release in this
Section of the Release or from filing a charge or complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or any state agency
or from participating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or state
agency. However, the Released Parties will assert all such claims have been released in a final binding settlement.

     3.1 IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING ADEA RELEASE. Executive understands and agrees that:

a. this Release is worded in an understandable way;

b. claims under the ADEA that may arise after the date of this Release are not waived;

c. the rights and claims waived in this Release are in exchange for additional consideration over and above any consideration to
which Executive was already undisputedly entitled;

d. Executive has been advised to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release and has had sufficient time and
opportunity to do so;

e. Executive has been given a period of time of 21 days (or, if required by applicable law, 45 days) (the Statutory Period ), if
desired, to consider this Release and understands that Executive may revoke his waiver and release of any ADEA
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claims covered by this Release within seven (7) days from the date Executive executes this Release. Notice of revocation must
be in writing and received by RadiSys Corporation, 5445 NE Dawson Creek Drive, Hillsboro, Oregon 97124 Attention: Vice
President, Human Resources within seven (7) days after Executive signs this Release;

f. any changes made to this Release, whether material or immaterial, will not restart the running of the Statutory Period.

     3.2 Reservations Of Rights.

          This Release shall not affect any rights which Executive may have under any medical insurance, disability plan, workers’
compensation, unemployment compensation, indemnifications, applicable company stock incentive plan(s), or the 401(k) plan
maintained by the Company.

     3.3 No Admission Of Liability.

          It is understood and agreed that the acts done and evidenced hereby and the release granted hereunder is not an admission of
liability on the part of Executive or the Company or the Released Parties, by whom liability has been and is expressly denied.

4. Effective Date.

          The “Effective Date” of this Release shall be the eighth day after it is signed by Executive.

5. No Disparagement.

          Executive agrees that henceforth Executive will not disparage or make false or adverse statements about the Company or the
Released Parties. The Company should report to Executive any actions or statements that are attributed to Executive that the Company
believes are disparaging. The Company may take actions consistent with breach of this Release should it determine that Executive has
disparaged or made false or adverse statements about the Company or the Released Parties.

          The Company agrees that henceforth the Company’s officers and directors will not disparage or make false or adverse
statements about Executive. Executive should report to the Company any actions or statements that are attributed to the Company’s
officers and directors that Executive believes are disparaging. Executive may take actions consistent with breach of this Release
should it determine that the Company’s officers and directors have disparaged or made false or adverse statements about Executive.

6. Confidentiality, Proprietary, Trade Secret And Related Information

          Executive acknowledges the duty and agrees not to make unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential, proprietary or trade
secret information learned as an employee about the Company, its products, customers and suppliers, and covenants not to breach that
duty.
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Moreover, Executive acknowledges that, subject to the enforcement limitations of applicable law, the Company reserves the right to
enforce the terms of Executive’s Employee Agreement with the Company and any section(s) therein. Should Executive, Executive’s
attorney or agents be requested in any judicial, administrative, or other proceeding to disclose confidential, proprietary or trade secret
information Executive learned as an employee of the Company, Executive shall promptly notify the Company of such request by the
most expeditious means in order to enable the Company to take any reasonable and appropriate action to limit such disclosure.

7. Scope Of Release.

          The provisions of this Release shall be deemed to obligate, extend to, and inure to the benefit of the parties; the Company’s
parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, predecessors, assigns, directors, officers, and employees; and each party’s insurers,
transferees, grantees, legatees, agents, personal representatives and heirs, including those who may assume any and all of the
above−described capacities subsequent to the execution and Effective Date of this Release.

8. Entire Release.

          This Release and the Agreement signed by Executive contain the entire agreement and understanding between the parties and,
except as reserved in Sections 3 and 6 of this Release, supersede and replace all prior agreements, written or oral, prior negotiations
and proposed agreements, written or oral. Executive and the Company acknowledge that no other party, nor agent nor attorney of any
other party, has made any promise, representation, or warranty, express or implied, not contained in this Release concerning the
subject matter of this Release to induce this Release, and Executive and the Company acknowledge that they have not executed this
Release in reliance upon any such promise, representation, or warranty not contained in this Release.

9. Severability.

          Every provision of this Release is intended to be severable. In the event any term or provision of this Release is declared to be
illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever by a court of competent jurisdiction or by final and unappealed order of an administrative
agency of competent jurisdiction, such illegality or invalidity should not affect the balance of the terms and provisions of this Release,
which terms and provisions shall remain binding and enforceable.

10. References.

          The Company agrees to follow the applicable policy(ies) regarding release of employment reference information.

11. Parties May Enforce Release.

          Nothing in this Release shall operate to release or discharge any parties to this Release or their successors, assigns, legatees,
heirs, or personal representatives from any rights,
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claims, or causes of action arising out of, relating to, or connected with a breach of any obligation of any party contained in this
Release.

12. Governing Law.

          This Release shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon, without regard to its
conflicts of laws provisions.
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Dated: _________________  _________________,  _________________
Keith Lambert

STATE OF OREGON )
)

County of )

     Personally appeared the above named Keith Lambert and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be his voluntary act and deed.

Before me:
NOTARY PUBLIC — OREGON
My commission expires:

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: Dated:
Its:

On Behalf of RadiSys Corporation and “Company”
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Exhibit 10.20

AMENDED AND RESTATED
EXECUTIVE CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT

February 27, 2007

Christian A. Lepiane
3960 Edens Edge Drive
Lake Oswego, OR 97034 Executive

RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation
5445 NE Dawson Creek Parkway
Hillsboro, OR 97124 the Company

     1. Employment Relationship. Executive is currently employed by the Company as Vice President of Worldwide Sales. Executive
and the Company acknowledge that either party may terminate this employment relationship at any time and for any or no reason,
provided that each party complies with the terms of this Agreement.

     2. Release of Claims. In consideration for and as a condition precedent to receiving the severance benefits outlined in this
Agreement, Executive agrees to execute a Release of Claims in the form attached as Exhibit A (“Release of Claims”). Executive
promises to execute and deliver the Release of Claims to the Company within the later of (a) 21 days (or, if required by applicable
law, 45 days) from the date Executive receives the Release of Claims or (b) the last day of Executive’s active employment.

     3. Additional Compensation Upon Certain Termination Events.

          3.1 Change of Control. In the event of a Termination of Executive’s Employment (as defined in Section 6.1) (i) other than for
Cause (as defined in Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.4), or (ii) as a result of a requirement to accept a position
with a title of less than Vice President or greater than twenty−five (25) miles from Executive’s current work location, and provided
any of the events identified in the preceding clauses (i) and (ii) occurs within 12 months following a Change of Control (as defined in
Section 6.3 of this Agreement) or within three months preceding a Change of Control, and contingent upon Executive’s execution of
the Release of Claims without revocation and compliance with Section 9, Executive shall be entitled to the following benefits:

          (a) As severance pay and in lieu of any other compensation for periods subsequent to the date of termination, the Company shall
pay Executive, in a lump sum, an amount equal to nine (9) months of Executive’s annual base pay at the highest annual rate in effect
at any time within the 12−month period preceding the date of termination. Severance pay that is payable under this Agreement shall be
paid to Executive on the earlier of (i) the date that is six months and one day following Executive’s date of termination or (ii) the date
of Executive’s death.
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          (b) As an additional severance benefit, the Company will provide Executive with up to nine (9) months of continued coverage
pursuant to COBRA under the Company’s group health plan at the level of benefits (whether single or family coverage) previously
elected by Executive immediately before the Termination of Executive’s Employment and to the extent that Executive elects to
continue coverage during such 9−month period.

          3.2 Parachute Payments. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the total payments and benefits to be paid to or for the benefit of
Executive under this Agreement would cause any portion of those payments and benefits to be “parachute payments” as defined in
Code Section 280G(b)(2), or any successor provision, the total payments and benefits to be paid to or for the benefit of Executive
under this Agreement shall be reduced to an amount that would not cause any portion of those payments and benefits to constitute
“parachute payments.”

     4. Withholding; Subsequent Employment.

          4.1 Withholding. All payments provided for in this Agreement are subject to applicable withholding obligations imposed by
federal, state and local laws and regulations.

          4.2 Offset. The amount of any payment provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced, offset or subject to recovery by the
Company by reason of any compensation earned by Executive as the result of employment by another employer after termination.

     5. Other Agreements. If cash severance pay is payable to Executive under this Agreement, cash severance pay shall not be
payable to Executive under any other agreement with the Company in effect at the time of termination (including but not limited to
any employment agreement, but excluding for this purpose any stock option, stock appreciation right, restricted stock, restricted stock
unit, performance share, performance unit or other similar award agreement that may provide for accelerated vesting or related
benefits).

     6. Definitions.

          6.1 Termination of Executive’s Employment. Termination of Executive’s Employment means that (i) the Company has
terminated Executive’s employment with the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) other than for Cause (as defined in
Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.4),or (ii) Executive, by written notice to the Company, has terminated his
employment as a result of a requirement by the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) that he accept a position
requiring a relocation from his current work location or a position of lower title.

          6.2 Cause. Termination of Executive’s Employment for “Cause” shall mean termination upon (a) the willful and continued
failure by Executive to perform substantially Executive’s reasonably assigned duties with the Company (other than any such failure
resulting from Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness) after a demand for substantial performance is delivered to
Executive by the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the President of the Company which specifically identifies the
manner in which the Board of Directors believes that Executive has not substantially performed Executive’s duties or (b) the willful
engaging by Executive in illegal conduct which is materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company. No act, or failure to act, on
Executive’s part shall be considered “willful” unless
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done, or omitted to be done, by Executive without reasonable belief that Executive’s action or omission was in, or not opposed to, the
best interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the
Board of Directors shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by Executive in the best interests of the
Company.

     6.3 Change of Control. A Change of Control shall mean that one of the following events has taken place:

     (a) The shareholders of the Company approve one of the following:

          (i) Any merger or statutory plan of exchange involving the Company (“Merger”) in which the Company is not the continuing
or surviving corporation or pursuant to which Common Stock would be converted into cash, securities or other property, other than
a Merger involving the Company in which the holders of Common Stock immediately prior to the Merger continue to represent
more than 50 percent of the voting securities of the surviving corporation after the Merger; or

          (ii) Any sale, lease, exchange, or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or substantially all
of the assets of the Company.

     (b) A tender or exchange offer, other than one made by the Company, is made for Common Stock (or securities convertible into
Common Stock) and such offer results in a portion of those securities being purchased and the offeror after the consummation of the
offer is the beneficial owner (as determined pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)), directly or indirectly, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting power of outstanding securities
of the Company.

     (c) The Company receives a report on Schedule 13D of the Exchange Act reporting the beneficial ownership by any person, or
more than one person acting as a group, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting power of outstanding securities
of the Company, except that if such receipt shall occur during a tender offer or exchange offer described in (b) above, a Change of
Control shall not take place until the conclusion of such offer.

Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, no Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred for purposes of this
Agreement by virtue of any transaction which results in Executive, or a group of persons which includes Executive, acquiring, directly
or indirectly, securities representing 20 percent or more of the voting power of outstanding securities of the Company.

     6.4 Disability. “Disability” means Executive’s absence from Executive’s full−time duties with the Company for 180 consecutive
days as a result of Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness, unless within 30 days after notice of termination by the
Company following such absence Executive shall have returned to the full−time performance of Executive’s duties. This Agreement
does not apply if the Executive is terminated due to Disability.

3

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



     7. Successors; Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the Company and its
successors and assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive and Executive’s legal
representatives, executors, administrators and heirs.

     8. Entire Agreement. The Company and Executive agree that the foregoing terms and conditions constitute the entire agreement
between the parties relating to the termination of Executive s employment with the Company under the conditions described in
Section 3.1, that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any prior agreements relating to the matters covered by this Agreement,
specifically the Executive Change of Control Agreement by and between Executive and the Company dated February 28, 2006, and
that there exist no other agreements between the parties, oral or written, express or implied, relating to any matters covered by this
Agreement.

     9. Resignation of Corporate Offices; Reasonable Assistance. Executive will resign Executive’s office, if any, as a director,
officer or trustee of the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates and of any other corporation or trust of which Executive serves as such
at the request of the Company, effective as of the date of termination of employment. Executive further agrees that, if requested by the
Company or the surviving company following a Change of Control, Executive will continue his employment with the Company or the
surviving company for a period of up to six months following the Change of Control in any capacity requested, consistent with
Executive’s area of expertise, provided that Executive receives the same salary and substantially the same benefits as in effect prior to
the Change of Control. Executive agrees to provide the Company such written resignation(s) and assistance upon request and that no
severance will be paid until after such resignation(s) or services are provided.

     10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon,
without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions.

     11. Amendment. No provision of this Agreement may be modified unless such modification is agreed to in writing signed by
Executive and the Company.

     12. Severability. If any of the provisions or terms of this Agreement shall for any reason be held invalid or unenforceable, such
invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other terms of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such
unenforceable term had never been contained in this Agreement.

     13. Code Section 409A. The parties intend that this Agreement and the severance pay and other benefits provided hereunder
comply with Code Section 409A to the extent applicable thereto. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary,
this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed consistent with this intent, and the Company reserves the right to amend or modify
this Agreement without the consent of Executive to the extent deemed necessary or appropriate to effectuate this intent or otherwise to
comply with Code Section 409A, provided that the Company shall use reasonable efforts to provide written notice to Executive within
ten (10) days of the date an amendment pursuant to this Section 13 is adopted by the Company, which notice shall include a copy of
the amendment and shall provide

4

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



a general description of the terms of the amendment and of the basis for the determination that such amendment is necessary or
appropriate to comply with Code Section 409A.

     14. Costs and Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of any administrative or civil action brought by Executive to enforce the provisions of
this Agreement, the Company shall pay Executive’s reasonable attorneys’ fees through trial and/or on appeal.

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Scott Grout /s/ Christian A. Lepiane
Scott Grout, President
and CEO Christian A. Lepiane
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EXHIBIT A

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

1. Parties.

          The parties to Release of Claims (hereinafter “Release”) are Christian A. Lepiane and RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon
corporation, as hereinafter defined.

     1.1 Executive and Releasing Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release, “Executive” means Christian Lepiane, and “Releasing Parties” means Executive and his
attorneys, heirs, legatees, personal representatives, executors, administrators, assigns, and spouse.

     1.2 The Company and the Released Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release the “Company” means RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, and “Released Parties”
means the Company and its predecessors and successors, affiliates, and all of each such entity’s officers, directors, employees,
insurers, agents, attorneys or assigns, in their individual and representative capacities.

2. Background And Purpose.

          Executive was employed by the Company. Executive’s employment is ending effective ___ under the conditions described in
Section 3.1 of the Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement (“Agreement”) by and between Executive and the
Company dated February 27, 2007.

          The purpose of this Release is to settle, and the parties hereby settle, fully and finally, any and all claims the Releasing Parties
may have against the Released Parties, whether asserted or not, known or unknown, including, but not limited to, claims arising out of
or related to Executive’s employment, any claim for reemployment, or any other claims whether asserted or not, known or unknown,
past or future, that relate to Executive’s employment, reemployment, or application for reemployment.

3. Release.

                 In consideration for the payments and benefits set forth in Section 3.1 of the Agreement and other promises by the
Company all of which constitute good and sufficient consideration, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives,
acquits and forever discharges the Released Parties from any obligations the Released Parties have and all claims the Releasing Parties
may have as of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 4 below) of this Release, including but not limited to obligations and/or
claims arising from the Agreement or any other document or oral agreement relating to employment compensation, benefits,
severance or post−employment issues. Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, hereby releases the Released Parties from
any and all claims, demands, actions, or causes of action,
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whether known or unknown, arising from or related in any way to any employment of or past failure or refusal to employ Executive
by the Company, or any other past claim that relates in any way to Executive’s employment, compensation, benefits, reemployment,
or application for employment, with the exception of any claim Executive may have against the Company for enforcement of the
Agreement. This Release includes any and all claims, direct or indirect, which might otherwise be made under any applicable local,
state or federal authority, including but not limited to any claim arising under state statutes dealing with employment, discrimination
in employment, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Americans With Disabilities Act, the
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, Executive Order 11246, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the
Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), the
Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Oregon Fair Employment Practices Act, OR ST
Section 659.030 et seq., Oregon wage and hour laws, OR ST Section 652.010 et seq., the Oregon Family Leave Act, OR ST
Section 659A.150 et seq., state wage and hour statutes, all as amended, any regulations under such authorities, and any applicable
contract (express or implied), tort, or common law theories. Further, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives and
releases the Released Parties from any claims that this Release was procured by fraud or signed under duress or coercion so as to make
the Release not binding. Executive is not relying upon any representations by the Company’s legal counsel in deciding to enter into
this Release. Executive understands and agrees that by signing this Release Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing
Parties, is giving up the right to pursue any legal claims that Executive or the Releasing Parties may have against the Released
Parties. Provided, nothing in this provision of this Release shall be construed to prohibit Executive from challenging the validity of
the ADEA release in this Section of the Release or from filing a charge or complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission or any state agency or from participating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission or state agency. However, the Released Parties will assert all such claims have been released in a final
binding settlement.

     3.1 IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING ADEA RELEASE. Executive understands and agrees that:

(a) this Release is worded in an understandable way;

(b) claims under the ADEA that may arise after the date of this Release are not waived;

(c) the rights and claims waived in this Release are in exchange for additional consideration over and above any consideration to
which Executive was already undisputedly entitled;

(d) Executive has been advised to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release and has had sufficient time and
opportunity to do so;

(e) Executive has been given a period of time of 21 days (or, if required by applicable law, 45 days) (the Statutory Period ), if
desired, to consider this Release and understands that Executive may revoke his waiver and release of any ADEA
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claims covered by this Release within seven (7) days from the date Executive executes this Release. Notice of revocation must
be in writing and received by RadiSys Corporation, 5445 NE Dawson Creek Drive, Hillsboro, Oregon 97124 Attention: Vice
President, Human Resources within seven (7) days after Executive signs this Release;

(f) any changes made to this Release, whether material or immaterial, will not restart the running of the Statutory Period.

     3.2 Reservations Of Rights.

          This Release shall not affect any rights which Executive may have under any medical insurance, disability plan, workers’
compensation, unemployment compensation, indemnifications, applicable company stock incentive plan(s), or the 401(k) plan
maintained by the Company.

     3.3 No Admission Of Liability.

          It is understood and agreed that the acts done and evidenced hereby and the release granted hereunder is not an admission of
liability on the part of Executive or the Company or the Released Parties, by whom liability has been and is expressly denied.

4. Effective Date.

          The “Effective Date” of this Release shall be the eighth day after it is signed by Executive.

5. No Disparagement.

          Executive agrees that henceforth Executive will not disparage or make false or adverse statements about the Company or the
Released Parties. The Company should report to Executive any actions or statements that are attributed to Executive that the Company
believes are disparaging. The Company may take actions consistent with breach of this Release should it determine that Executive has
disparaged or made false or adverse statements about the Company or the Released Parties.

          The Company agrees that henceforth the Company’s officers and directors will not disparage or make false or adverse
statements about Executive. Executive should report to the Company any actions or statements that are attributed to the Company’s
officers and directors that Executive believes are disparaging. Executive may take actions consistent with breach of this Release
should it determine that the Company’s officers and directors have disparaged or made false or adverse statements about Executive.

6. Confidentiality, Proprietary, Trade Secret And Related Information

          Executive acknowledges the duty and agrees not to make unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential, proprietary or trade
secret information learned as an employee about the Company, its products, customers and suppliers, and covenants not to breach that
duty.
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Moreover, Executive acknowledges that, subject to the enforcement limitations of applicable law, the Company reserves the right to
enforce the terms of Executive’s Employee Agreement with the Company and any section(s) therein. Should Executive, Executive’s
attorney or agents be requested in any judicial, administrative, or other proceeding to disclose confidential, proprietary or trade secret
information Executive learned as an employee of the Company, Executive shall promptly notify the Company of such request by the
most expeditious means in order to enable the Company to take any reasonable and appropriate action to limit such disclosure.

7. Scope Of Release.

          The provisions of this Release shall be deemed to obligate, extend to, and inure to the benefit of the parties; the Company’s
parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, predecessors, assigns, directors, officers, and employees; and each party’s insurers,
transferees, grantees, legatees, agents, personal representatives and heirs, including those who may assume any and all of the
above−described capacities subsequent to the execution and Effective Date of this Release.

8. Entire Release.

          This Release and the Agreement signed by Executive contain the entire agreement and understanding between the parties and,
except as reserved in Sections 3 and 6 of this Release, supersede and replace all prior agreements, written or oral, prior negotiations
and proposed agreements, written or oral. Executive and the Company acknowledge that no other party, nor agent nor attorney of any
other party, has made any promise, representation, or warranty, express or implied, not contained in this Release concerning the
subject matter of this Release to induce this Release, and Executive and the Company acknowledge that they have not executed this
Release in reliance upon any such promise, representation, or warranty not contained in this Release.

9. Severability.

          Every provision of this Release is intended to be severable. In the event any term or provision of this Release is declared to be
illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever by a court of competent jurisdiction or by final and unappealed order of an administrative
agency of competent jurisdiction, such illegality or invalidity should not affect the balance of the terms and provisions of this Release,
which terms and provisions shall remain binding and enforceable.

10. References.

          The Company agrees to follow the applicable policy(ies) regarding release of employment reference information.

11. Parties May Enforce Release.

          Nothing in this Release shall operate to release or discharge any parties to this Release or their successors, assigns, legatees,
heirs, or personal representatives from any rights, claims, or causes of action arising out of, relating to, or connected with a breach of
any obligation of any party contained in this Release.
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12. Governing Law.

          This Release shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon, without regard to its
conflicts of laws provisions.

Dated:
Christian A. Lepiane

STATE OF OREGON )
)ss.

County of )

     Personally appeared the above named Christian A. Lepiane and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be his voluntary act and
deed.

Before me:
NOTARY PUBLIC — OREGON
My commission expires:

RADISYS CORPORATION

By:    Dated: 
Its:

On Behalf of RadiSys Corporation and “Company”
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Exhibit 10.21

AMENDED AND RESTATED
EXECUTIVE CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT

February 27, 2007

Brian Bronson
10340 SW Miller Ct.
Tualatin, OR 97062 Executive

RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation
5445 NE Dawson Creek Parkway
Hillsboro, OR 97124 the Company

     1. Employment Relationship. Executive is currently employed by the Company as Chief Financial Officer. Executive and the
Company acknowledge that either party may terminate this employment relationship at any time and for any or no reason, provided
that each party complies with the terms of this Agreement.

     2. Release of Claims. In consideration for and as a condition precedent to receiving the severance benefits outlined in this
Agreement, Executive agrees to execute a Release of Claims in the form attached as Exhibit A (“Release of Claims”). Executive
promises to execute and deliver the Release of Claims to the Company within the later of (a) 21 days (or, if required by applicable
law, 45 days) from the date Executive receives the Release of Claims or (b) the last day of Executive’s active employment.

     3. Additional Compensation Upon Certain Termination Events.

          3.1 Change of Control. In the event of a Termination of Executive’s Employment (as defined in Section 6.1) (i) other than for
Cause (as defined in Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.4), or (ii) as a result of a requirement to accept a position
greater than twenty−five (25) miles from Executive’s current work location or a position of less total compensation (i.e. base salary
plus bonus target), and provided any of the events identified in the preceding clauses (i) and (ii) occurs within 12 months following a
Change of Control (as defined in Section 6.3 of this Agreement) or within three months preceding a Change of Control, and
contingent upon Executive’s execution of the Release of Claims without revocation and compliance with Section 9, Executive shall be
entitled to the following benefits:

          (a) As severance pay and in lieu of any other compensation for periods subsequent to the date of termination, the Company shall
pay Executive, in a lump sum, an amount equal to twelve (12) months of Executive’s annual base pay at the highest annual rate in
effect at any time within the 12−month period preceding the date of termination. Severance pay that is payable under this Agreement
shall be paid to Executive on the earlier of (i) the date that is six months and one day following Executive s date of termination or
(ii) the date of Executive s death.
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          (b) As an additional severance benefit, the Company will provide Executive with up to twelve (12) months of continued
coverage pursuant to COBRA under the Company’s group health plan at the level of benefits (whether single or family coverage)
previously elected by Executive immediately before the Termination of Executive’s Employment and to the extent that Executive
elects to continue coverage during such 12−month period.

          (c) All stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units
and other similar awards granted to Executive under the Company’s 1995 Stock Incentive Plan, 2001 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan
or any other similar incentive plan shall vest in full; all stock options, stock appreciation rights and other similar purchase rights shall
be immediately exercisable in full in accordance with the applicable provisions of the relevant award agreement and plan; and any risk
of forfeiture included in any restricted stock, restricted stock unit, performance share, performance unit or other similar award shall
immediately lapse. Stock options that are not incentive stock options under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code” ), and stock appreciation rights shall also be amended to permit Executive to exercise such stock options and stock
appreciation rights for a period of time equal to the shorter of (i) the period of 90 days after the date of Executive’s termination; or
(ii) the longer of (A) the period ending on the 15th day of the 3rd calendar month following the date at which the stock option or stock
appreciation right would otherwise have expired due to Executive’s termination based on the terms of the stock option or stock
appreciation right at the original grant date or (B) December 31 of the calendar year in which the stock option or stock appreciation
right would otherwise have expired due to Executive’s termination based on the terms of the stock option or stock appreciation right at
the original grant date. Such vesting and extension of stock options and stock appreciation rights shall occur notwithstanding any
provision in any plan or award agreement which provides a shorter period of exercise following termination of employment, and such
vesting and lapsing of any risk of forfeiture shall occur notwithstanding any provision in any plan or award agreement to the contrary.
Any restricted stock unit, performance share, or performance unit that vests, becomes immediately exercisable in full, or is no longer
subject to a risk of forfeiture pursuant to this clause (c) shall be paid or settled at such time and in such manner so as to be exempt
from the requirements of Code Section 409A or, to the extent that it cannot be so paid or settled, shall comply with the requirements of
Code Section 409A.

          3.2 Parachute Payments. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the total payments and benefits to be paid to or for the benefit of
Executive under this Agreement would cause any portion of those payments and benefits to be “parachute payments” as defined in
Code Section 280G(b)(2), or any successor provision, the total payments and benefits to be paid to or for the benefit of Executive
under this Agreement shall be reduced to an amount that would not cause any portion of those payments and benefits to constitute
“parachute payments.”

     4. Withholding; Subsequent Employment.

          4.1 Withholding. All payments provided for in this Agreement are subject to applicable withholding obligations imposed by
federal, state and local laws and regulations.
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          4.2 Offset. The amount of any payment provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced, offset or subject to recovery by the
Company by reason of any compensation earned by Executive as the result of employment by another employer after termination.

     5. Other Agreements. If cash severance pay is payable to Executive under this Agreement, cash severance pay shall not be
payable to Executive under any other agreement with the Company in effect at the time of termination (including but not limited to
any employment agreement, but excluding for this purpose any stock option, stock appreciation right, restricted stock, restricted stock
unit, performance share, performance unit or other similar award agreement that may provide for accelerated vesting or related
benefits).

     6. Definitions.

          6.1 Termination of Executive’s Employment. Termination of Executive’s Employment means that (i) the Company has
terminated Executive’s employment with the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) other than for Cause (as defined in
Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.4), or (ii) Executive, by written notice to the Company, has terminated his
employment as a result of a requirement by the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) that he accept a position
requiring a relocation from his current work location or a position of less total compensation.

          6.2 Cause. Termination of Executive’s Employment for “Cause” shall mean termination upon (a) the willful and continued
failure by Executive to perform substantially Executive’s reasonably assigned duties with the Company (other than any such failure
resulting from Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness) after a demand for substantial performance is delivered to
Executive by the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the President of the Company which specifically identifies the
manner in which the Board of Directors believes that Executive has not substantially performed Executive’s duties or (b) the willful
engaging by Executive in illegal conduct which is materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company. No act, or failure to act, on
Executive’s part shall be considered “willful” unless done, or omitted to be done, by Executive without reasonable belief that
Executive’s action or omission was in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon
authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board of Directors shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted
to be done, by Executive in the best interests of the Company.

          6.3 Change of Control. A Change of Control shall mean that one of the following events has taken place:

          (a) The shareholders of the Company approve one of the following:

     (i) Any merger or statutory plan of exchange involving the Company (“Merger”) in which the Company is not the
continuing or surviving corporation or pursuant to which Common Stock would be converted into cash, securities or other
property, other than a Merger involving the Company in which the holders of Common Stock immediately prior to the Merger
continue to represent more

3

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



than 50 percent of the voting securities of the surviving corporation after the Merger; or

     (ii) Any sale, lease, exchange, or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or substantially
all of the assets of the Company.

          (b) A tender or exchange offer, other than one made by the Company, is made for Common Stock (or securities convertible into
Common Stock) and such offer results in a portion of those securities being purchased and the offeror after the consummation of the
offer is the beneficial owner (as determined pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)), directly or indirectly, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting power of outstanding securities
of the Company.

          (c) The Company receives a report on Schedule 13D of the Exchange Act reporting the beneficial ownership by any person, or
more than one person acting as a group, of securities representing more than 50 percent of the voting power of outstanding securities
of the Company, except that if such receipt shall occur during a tender offer or exchange offer described in (b) above, a Change of
Control shall not take place until the conclusion of such offer.

Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, no Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred for purposes of this
Agreement by virtue of any transaction which results in Executive, or a group of persons which includes Executive, acquiring, directly
or indirectly, securities representing 20 percent or more of the voting power of outstanding securities of the Company.

          6.4 Disability. “Disability” means Executive’s absence from Executive’s full−time duties with the Company for 180
consecutive days as a result of Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness, unless within 30 days after notice of
termination by the Company following such absence Executive shall have returned to the full−time performance of Executive’s duties.
This Agreement does not apply if the Executive is terminated due to Disability.

     7. Successors; Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the Company and its
successors and assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive and Executive’s legal
representatives, executors, administrators and heirs.

     8. Entire Agreement. The Company and Executive agree that the foregoing terms and conditions constitute the entire agreement
between the parties relating to the termination of Executive s employment with the Company under the conditions described in
Section 3.1, that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any prior agreements relating to the matters covered by this Agreement,
specifically the Executive Change of Control Agreement by and between Executive and the Company dated October 26, 2006, and
that there exist no other agreements between the parties, oral or written, express or implied, relating to any matters covered by this
Agreement.
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     9. Resignation of Corporate Offices; Reasonable Assistance. Executive will resign Executive’s office, if any, as a director,
officer or trustee of the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates and of any other corporation or trust of which Executive serves as such
at the request of the Company, effective as of the date of termination of employment. Executive further agrees that, if requested by the
Company or the surviving company following a Change of Control, Executive will continue his employment with the Company or the
surviving company for a period of up to six months following the Change of Control in any capacity requested, consistent with
Executive’s area of expertise, provided that Executive receives the same salary and substantially the same benefits as in effect prior to
the Change of Control. Executive agrees to provide the Company such written resignation(s) and assistance upon request and that no
severance will be paid until after such resignation(s) or services are provided.

     10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon,
without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions.

     11. Amendment. No provision of this Agreement may be modified unless such modification is agreed to in writing signed by
Executive and the Company.

     12. Severability. If any of the provisions or terms of this Agreement shall for any reason be held invalid or unenforceable, such
invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other terms of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such
unenforceable term had never been contained in this Agreement.

     13. Code Section 409A. The parties intend that this Agreement and the severance pay and other benefits provided hereunder
comply with Code Section 409A to the extent applicable thereto. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary,
this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed consistent with this intent, and the Company reserves the right to amend or modify
this Agreement without the consent of Executive to the extent deemed necessary or appropriate to effectuate this intent or otherwise to
comply with Code Section 409A, provided that the Company shall use reasonable efforts to provide written notice to Executive within
ten (10) days of the date an amendment pursuant to this Section 13 is adopted by the Company, which notice shall include a copy of
the amendment and shall provide a general description of the terms of the amendment and of the basis for the determination that such
amendment is necessary or appropriate to comply with Code Section 409A.

     14. Costs and Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of any administrative or civil action brought by Executive to enforce the provisions of
this Agreement, the Company shall pay Executive’s reasonable attorneys’ fees through trial and/or on appeal.

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Scott Grout /s/ Brian Bronson
Scott Grout, President and CEO Brian Bronson
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EXHIBIT A

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

1. Parties.

     The parties to Release of Claims (hereinafter “Release”) are Brian Bronson and RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, as
hereinafter defined.

     1.1 Executive and Releasing Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release, “Executive” means Brian Bronson, and “Releasing Parties” means Executive and his attorneys,
heirs, legatees, personal representatives, executors, administrators, assigns, and spouse.

1.2 The Company and the Released Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release the “Company” means RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, and “Released Parties”
means the Company and its predecessors and successors, affiliates, and all of each such entity’s officers, directors, employees,
insurers, agents, attorneys or assigns, in their individual and representative capacities.

2. Background And Purpose.

     Executive was employed by the Company. Executive’s employment is ending effective                      under the conditions described
in Section 3.1 of the Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement (“Agreement”) by and between Executive and
the Company dated February 27, 2007.

     The purpose of this Release is to settle, and the parties hereby settle, fully and finally, any and all claims the Releasing Parties may
have against the Released Parties, whether asserted or not, known or unknown, including, but not limited to, claims arising out of or
related to Executive’s employment, any claim for reemployment, or any other claims whether asserted or not, known or unknown, past
or future, that relate to Executive’s employment, reemployment, or application for reemployment.

3. Release.

     In consideration for the payments and benefits set forth in Section 3.1 of the Agreement and other promises by the Company all of
which constitute good and sufficient consideration, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives, acquits and forever
discharges the Released Parties from any obligations the Released Parties have and all claims the Releasing Parties may have as of the
Effective Date (as defined in Section 4 below) of this Release, including but not limited to obligations and/or claims arising from the
Agreement or any other document or oral agreement relating to employment compensation, benefits, severance or post−employment
issues. Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, hereby releases the Released Parties from any and all claims, demands,
actions, or causes of action, whether known
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or unknown, arising from or related in any way to any employment of or past failure or refusal to employ Executive by the Company,
or any other past claim that relates in any way to Executive’s employment, compensation, benefits, reemployment, or application for
employment, with the exception of any claim Executive may have against the Company for enforcement of the Agreement. This
Release includes any and all claims, direct or indirect, which might otherwise be made under any applicable local, state or federal
authority, including but not limited to any claim arising under state statutes dealing with employment, discrimination in employment,
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Americans With Disabilities Act, the Family and Medical
Leave Act of 1993, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, Executive Order 11246, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Uniformed Services
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), the Older Workers
Benefit Protection Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Oregon Fair Employment Practices Act, OR ST Section 659.030 et seq.,
Oregon wage and hour laws, OR ST Section 652.010 et seq., the Oregon Family Leave Act, OR ST Section 659A.150 et seq., state
wage and hour statutes, all as amended, any regulations under such authorities, and any applicable contract (express or implied), tort,
or common law theories. Further, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives and releases the Released Parties from
any claims that this Release was procured by fraud or signed under duress or coercion so as to make the Release not binding.
Executive is not relying upon any representations by the Company’s legal counsel in deciding to enter into this Release. Executive
understands and agrees that by signing this Release Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, is giving up the right
to pursue any legal claims that Executive or the Releasing Parties may have against the Released Parties. Provided, nothing in
this provision of this Release shall be construed to prohibit Executive from challenging the validity of the ADEA release in this
Section of the Release or from filing a charge or complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or any state agency
or from participating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or state
agency. However, the Released Parties will assert all such claims have been released in a final binding settlement.

     3.1 IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING ADEA RELEASE. Executive understands and agrees that:

     (a) this Release is worded in an understandable way;

     (b) claims under the ADEA that may arise after the date of this Release are not waived;

     (c) the rights and claims waived in this Release are in exchange for additional consideration over and above any consideration to
which Executive was already undisputedly entitled;

     (d) Executive has been advised to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release and has had sufficient time and
opportunity to do so;

     (e) Executive has been given a period of time of 21 days (or, if required by applicable law, 45 days) (the “Statutory Period”), if
desired, to consider this Release and understands that Executive may revoke his waiver and release of any ADEA claims covered by
this Release
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within seven (7) days from the date Executive executes this Release. Notice of revocation must be in writing and received by RadiSys
Corporation, 5445 NE Dawson Creek Drive, Hillsboro, Oregon 97124 Attention: Vice President, Human Resources within seven
(7) days after Executive signs this Release;

     (f) any changes made to this Release, whether material or immaterial, will not restart the running of the Statutory Period.

     3.2 Reservations Of Rights.

          This Release shall not affect any rights which Executive may have under any medical insurance, disability plan, workers’
compensation, unemployment compensation, indemnifications, applicable company stock incentive plan(s), or the 401(k) plan
maintained by the Company.

     3.3 No Admission Of Liability.

          It is understood and agreed that the acts done and evidenced hereby and the release granted hereunder is not an admission of
liability on the part of Executive or the Company or the Released Parties, by whom liability has been and is expressly denied.

4. Effective Date.

     The “Effective Date” of this Release shall be the eighth day after it is signed by Executive.

5. No Disparagement.

     Executive agrees that henceforth Executive will not disparage or make false or adverse statements about the Company or the
Released Parties. The Company should report to Executive any actions or statements that are attributed to Executive that the Company
believes are disparaging. The Company may take actions consistent with breach of this Release should it determine that Executive has
disparaged or made false or adverse statements about the Company or the Released Parties.

     The Company agrees that henceforth the Company’s officers and directors will not disparage or make false or adverse statements
about Executive. Executive should report to the Company any actions or statements that are attributed to the Company’s officers and
directors that Executive believes are disparaging. Executive may take actions consistent with breach of this Release should it
determine that the Company’s officers and directors have disparaged or made false or adverse statements about Executive.

6. Confidentiality, Proprietary, Trade Secret And Related Information.

     Executive acknowledges the duty and agrees not to make unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential, proprietary or trade
secret information learned as an employee about the Company, its products, customers and suppliers, and covenants not to breach that
duty. Moreover, Executive acknowledges that, subject to the enforcement limitations of applicable

A−3

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



law, the Company reserves the right to enforce the terms of Executive’s Employee Agreement with the Company and any section(s)
therein. Should Executive, Executive’s attorney or agents be requested in any judicial, administrative, or other proceeding to disclose
confidential, proprietary or trade secret information Executive learned as an employee of the Company, Executive shall promptly
notify the Company of such request by the most expeditious means in order to enable the Company to take any reasonable and
appropriate action to limit such disclosure.

7. Scope Of Release.

     The provisions of this Release shall be deemed to obligate, extend to, and inure to the benefit of the parties; the Company’s parents,
subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, predecessors, assigns, directors, officers, and employees; and each party’s insurers, transferees,
grantees, legatees, agents, personal representatives and heirs, including those who may assume any and all of the above−described
capacities subsequent to the execution and Effective Date of this Release.

8. Entire Release.

     This Release and the Agreement signed by Executive contain the entire agreement and understanding between the parties and,
except as reserved in Sections 3 and 6 of this Release, supersede and replace all prior agreements, written or oral, prior negotiations
and proposed agreements, written or oral. Executive and the Company acknowledge that no other party, nor agent nor attorney of any
other party, has made any promise, representation, or warranty, express or implied, not contained in this Release concerning the
subject matter of this Release to induce this Release, and Executive and the Company acknowledge that they have not executed this
Release in reliance upon any such promise, representation, or warranty not contained in this Release.

9. Severability.

     Every provision of this Release is intended to be severable. In the event any term or provision of this Release is declared to be
illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever by a court of competent jurisdiction or by final and unappealed order of an administrative
agency of competent jurisdiction, such illegality or invalidity should not affect the balance of the terms and provisions of this Release,
which terms and provisions shall remain binding and enforceable.

10. References.

     The Company agrees to follow the applicable policy(ies) regarding release of employment reference information.

11. Parties May Enforce Release.

     Nothing in this Release shall operate to release or discharge any parties to this Release or their successors, assigns, legatees, heirs,
or personal representatives from any rights, claims, or causes of action arising out of, relating to, or connected with a breach of any
obligation of any party contained in this Release.
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12. Governing Law.

     This Release shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon, without regard to its conflicts
of laws provisions.

Dated:
Brian Bronson

STATE OF OREGON )
)ss.

County of )

Personally appeared the above named Brian Bronson and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be his voluntary act and
deed.

Before me:
NOTARY PUBLIC — OREGON
My commission expires:

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: Dated:
Its:

On Behalf of RadiSys Corporation and
“Company”
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Exhibit 10.22

EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE AGREEMENT

February 27, 2007

Keith Lambert
1706 NW Potters Court
Portland, OR 97229 Executive

RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation
5445 NE Dawson Creek Parkway
Hillsboro, OR 97124 the Company

     1. Employment Relationship. Executive is currently employed by the Company as Vice President of Manufacturing Operations.
Executive and the Company acknowledge that either party may terminate this employment relationship at any time and for any or no
reason, provided that each party complies with the terms of this Agreement.

     2. Release of Claims. In consideration for and as a condition precedent to receiving the severance benefits outlined in this
Agreement, Executive agrees to execute a Release of Claims in the form attached as Exhibit A (“Release of Claims”). Executive
promises to execute and deliver the Release of Claims to the Company within the later of (a) 21 days (or, if required by applicable
law, 45 days) from the date Executive receives the Release of Claims or (b) the last day of Executive’s active employment.

     3. Additional Compensation Upon Involuntary Termination.

          3.1 Involuntary Termination. In the event of a Termination of Executive’s Employment (as defined in Section 6.1) other than
for Cause (as defined in Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.3), and contingent upon Executive’s execution of the
Release of Claims without revocation and compliance with Section 9, Executive shall be entitled to the following benefits:

          (a) As severance pay and in lieu of any other compensation for periods subsequent to the date of termination, the Company shall
pay Executive, in a lump sum, an amount equal to nine (9) months of Executive’s annual base pay at the rate in effect immediately
prior to the date of termination; provided, such lump sum amount shall not exceed two times the lesser of (i) the sum of Executive’s
annual compensation (as defined in Treasury regulation section 1.415−2(d) for services provided to the Company as an employee for
the calendar year preceding the calendar year of the Termination of Executive’s Employment, or (ii) the maximum amount that may
be taken into account under a qualified plan pursuant to Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), or any successor provision. Severance pay that is payable under this Agreement shall be paid to Executive within 30 days
following the “Effective Date” (as such term is defined in the Release of Claims) of the Release of Claims.

          (b) As an additional severance benefit, the Company will provide Executive with up to nine (9) months of continued coverage
pursuant to COBRA under the Company’s
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group health plan at the level of benefits (whether single or family coverage) previously elected by Executive immediately before the
Termination of Executive’s Employment and to the extent that Executive elects to continue coverage during such 9−month period.

          (c) The Company shall pay Executive his incentive compensation plan payout, if any, for the first six months of the calendar
year in which occurs the Termination of Executive’s Employment at the same time as other executive employees and no later than
December 31 of such calendar year, provided that Executive has been employed by the Company through June 1 of such calendar
year.

          (d) The Company will provide resume preparation assistance to Executive for up to three (3) months following Termination of
Executive’s Employment.

     4. Withholding; Subsequent Employment.

          4.1 Withholding. All payments provided for in this Agreement are subject to applicable withholding obligations imposed by
federal, state and local laws and regulations.

          4.2 Offset. The amount of any payment provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced, offset or subject to recovery by the
Company by reason of any compensation earned by Executive as the result of employment by another employer after termination.

     5. Other Agreements. Executive shall not be entitled to any benefits under this Agreement if severance benefits are payable to
Executive under the Amended and Restated Executive Change of Control Agreement by and between Executive and the Company
dated February 27, 2007.

     6. Definitions.

          6.1 Termination of Executive’s Employment. Termination of Executive’s Employment means that the Company has
terminated Executive’s employment with the Company (including any subsidiary of the Company) other than for Cause (as defined in
Section 6.2), death or Disability (as defined in Section 6.3).

          6.2 Cause. Termination of Executive’s Employment for “Cause” shall mean termination upon (a) the willful and continued
failure by Executive to perform substantially Executive’s reasonably assigned duties with the Company (other than any such failure
resulting from Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness) after a demand for substantial performance is delivered to
Executive by the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the President of the Company which specifically identifies the
manner in which the Board of Directors believes that Executive has not substantially performed Executive’s duties or (b) the willful
engaging by Executive in illegal conduct which is materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company. No act, or failure to act, on
Executive’s part shall be considered “willful” unless done, or omitted to be done, by Executive without reasonable belief that
Executive’s action or omission was in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon
authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board of Directors shall be conclusively presumed to be done, or omitted
to be done, by Executive in the best interests of the Company.
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          6.3 Disability. “Disability” means Executive’s absence from Executive’s full−time duties with the Company for 180
consecutive days as a result of Executive’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness, unless within 30 days after notice of
termination by the Company following such absence Executive shall have returned to the full−time performance of Executive’s duties.
This Agreement does not apply if the Executive is terminated due to Disability.

     7. Successors; Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the Company and its
successors and assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive and Executive’s legal
representatives, executors, administrators and heirs.

     8. Entire Agreement. The Company and Executive agree that the foregoing terms and conditions constitute the entire agreement
between the parties relating to the matters covered by this Agreement, that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any prior
agreements relating to the matters covered by this Agreement, and that there exist no other agreements between the parties, oral or
written, express or implied, relating to any matters covered by this Agreement.

     9. Resignation of Corporate Offices. Executive will resign Executive’s office, if any, as a director, officer or trustee of the
Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates and of any other corporation or trust of which Executive serves as such at the request of the
Company, effective as of the date of termination of employment. Executive agrees to provide the Company such written resignation(s)
upon request and that no severance pay or other benefits will be paid until after such resignation(s) are provided.

     10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon,
without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions.

     11. Amendment. No provision of this Agreement may be modified unless such modification is agreed to in writing signed by
Executive and the Company.

     12. Severability. If any of the provisions or terms of this Agreement shall for any reason be held invalid or unenforceable, such
invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other terms of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such
unenforceable term had never been contained in this Agreement.

     13. Code Section 409A. The parties intend that this Agreement and the severance pay and other benefits provided hereunder
comply with Code Section 409A to the extent applicable thereto. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary,
this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed consistent with this intent, and the Company reserves the right to amend or modify
this Agreement without the consent of Executive to the extent deemed necessary or appropriate to effectuate this intent or otherwise to
comply with Code Section 409A, provided that the Company shall use reasonable efforts to provide written notice to Executive within
ten (10) days of the date an amendment pursuant to this Section 13 is adopted by the Company, which notice shall include a copy of
the amendment and shall provide a general description of the terms of the amendment and of the basis for the determination that such
amendment is necessary or appropriate to comply with Code Section 409A.

3

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



RADISYS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Scott Grout /s/ Keith Lambert
Scott Grout, President and CEO Keith Lambert 
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EXHIBIT A

RELEASE OF CLAIMS

1. Parties.

     The parties to Release of Claims (hereinafter “Release”) are Keith Lambert and RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, as
hereinafter defined.

     1.1 Executive and Releasing Parties.

          For the purposes of this Release, “Executive” means Keith Lambert, and Releasing Parties means Executive and his attorneys,
heirs, legatees, personal representatives, executors, administrators, assigns, and spouse.

     1.2 The Company.

          For the purposes of this Release, the “Company” means RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation, and “Released Parties”
means the Company and its predecessors and successors, affiliates, and all of each such entity s officers, directors, employees,
insurers, agents, attorneys or assigns, in their individual and representative capacities.

2. Background And Purpose.

          Executive was employed by the Company. Executive’s employment is ending effective                      under the conditions
described in Section 3.1 of the Executive Severance Agreement (“Agreement”) by and between Executive and the Company dated
February 27, 2007.

          The purpose of this Release is to settle, and the parties hereby settle, fully and finally, any and all claims the Releasing Parties
may have against the Released Parties, whether asserted or not, known or unknown, including, but not limited to, claims arising out of
or related to Executive’s employment, any claim for reemployment, or any other claims whether asserted or not, known or unknown,
past or future, that relate to Executive’s employment, reemployment, or application for reemployment.

3. Release.

          In consideration for the payments and benefits set forth in Section 3.1 of the Agreement and other promises by the Company all
of which constitute good and sufficient consideration, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives, acquits and
forever discharges the Released Parties from any obligations the Released Parties have and all claims the Releasing Parties may have
as of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 4 below) of this Release, including but not limited to, obligations and/or claims arising
from the Agreement or any other document or oral agreement relating to employment, compensation, benefits, severance or
post−employment issues. Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, hereby releases the Released Parties from any and all
claims, demands, actions, or causes of action,
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whether known or unknown, arising from or related in any way to any employment of or past failure or refusal to employ Executive
by the Company, or any other past claim that relates in any way to Executive’s employment, compensation, benefits, reemployment,
or application for employment, with the exception of any claim Executive may have against the Company for enforcement of the
Agreement. This Release includes any and all claims, direct or indirect, which might otherwise be made under any applicable local,
state or federal authority, including but not limited to any claim arising under state statutes dealing with employment, discrimination
in employment, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Americans With Disabilities Act, the
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, Executive Order 11246, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the
Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), the
Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Oregon Fair Employment Practices Act, OR ST
Section 659.030 et seq., Oregon wage and hour laws, OR ST Section 652.010 et seq., the Oregon Family Leave Act, OR ST
Section 659A.150 et seq., state wage and hour statutes, all as amended, any regulations under such authorities, and any applicable
contract (express or implied), tort, or common law theories. Further, Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing Parties, waives and
releases the Released Parties from any claims that this Release was procured by fraud or signed under duress or coercion so as to make
the Release not binding. Executive is not relying upon any representations by the Company’s legal counsel in deciding to enter into
this Release. Executive understands and agrees that by signing this Release Executive, for and on behalf of the Releasing
Parties, is giving up the right to pursue any legal claims that Executive or the Releasing Parties may have against the Released
Parties. Provided, nothing in this provision of this Release shall be construed to prohibit Executive from challenging the validity of
the ADEA release in this Section of the Release or from filing a charge or complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission or any state agency or from participating in any investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission or state agency. However, the Released Parties will assert all such claims have been released in a final
binding settlement.

     3.1 IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING ADEA RELEASE. Executive understands and agrees that:

a. this Release is worded in an understandable way;

b. claims under the ADEA that may arise after the date of this Release are not waived;

c. the rights and claims waived in this Release are in exchange for additional consideration over and above any consideration to
which Executive was already undisputedly entitled;

d. Executive has been advised to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release and has had sufficient time and
opportunity to do so;

e. Executive has been given a period of time of 21 days (or, if required by applicable law, 45 days) (the Statutory Period ), if
desired, to consider this Release and understands that Executive may revoke his waiver and release of any ADEA
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claims covered by this Release within seven (7) days from the date Executive executes this Release. Notice of revocation must
be in writing and received by RadiSys Corporation, 5445 NE Dawson Creek Drive, Hillsboro, Oregon 97124 Attention: Vice
President, Human Resources within seven (7) days after Executive signs this Release;

f. any changes made to this Release, whether material or immaterial, will not restart the running of the Statutory Period.

     3.2 Reservations Of Rights.

          This Release shall not affect any rights which Executive may have under any medical insurance, disability plan, workers’
compensation, unemployment compensation, indemnifications, applicable company stock incentive plan(s), or the 401(k) plan
maintained by the Company.

     3.3 No Admission Of Liability.

          It is understood and agreed that the acts done and evidenced hereby and the release granted hereunder is not an admission of
liability on the part of Executive or the Company or the Released Parties, by whom liability has been and is expressly denied.

4. Effective Date.

          The “Effective Date” of this Release shall be the eighth day after it is signed by Executive.

5. No Disparagement.

          Executive agrees that henceforth Executive will not disparage or make false or adverse statements about the Company or the
Released Parties. The Company should report to Executive any actions or statements that are attributed to Executive that the Company
believes are disparaging. The Company may take actions consistent with breach of this Release should it determine that Executive has
disparaged or made false or adverse statements about the Company or the Released Parties.

          The Company agrees that henceforth the Company’s officers and directors will not disparage or make false or adverse
statements about Executive. Executive should report to the Company any actions or statements that are attributed to the Company’s
officers and directors that Executive believes are disparaging. Executive may take actions consistent with breach of this Release
should it determine that the Company’s officers and directors have disparaged or made false or adverse statements about Executive.

6. Confidentiality, Proprietary, Trade Secret And Related Information

          Executive acknowledges the duty and agrees not to make unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential, proprietary or trade
secret information learned as an employee about the Company, its products, customers and suppliers, and covenants not to breach that
duty.
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Moreover, Executive acknowledges that, subject to the enforcement limitations of applicable law, the Company reserves the right to
enforce the terms of Executive’s Employee Agreement with the Company and any section(s) therein. Should Executive, Executive’s
attorney or agents be requested in any judicial, administrative, or other proceeding to disclose confidential, proprietary or trade secret
information Executive learned as an employee of the Company, Executive shall promptly notify the Company of such request by the
most expeditious means in order to enable the Company to take any reasonable and appropriate action to limit such disclosure.

7. Scope Of Release.

          The provisions of this Release shall be deemed to obligate, extend to, and inure to the benefit of the parties; the Company’s
parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, predecessors, assigns, directors, officers, and employees; and each party’s insurers,
transferees, grantees, legatees, agents, personal representatives and heirs, including those who may assume any and all of the
above−described capacities subsequent to the execution and Effective Date of this Release.

8. Entire Release.

          This Release and the Agreement signed by Executive contain the entire agreement and understanding between the parties and,
except as reserved in Sections 3 and 6 of this Release, supersede and replace all prior agreements, written or oral, prior negotiations
and proposed agreements, written or oral. Executive and the Company acknowledge that no other party, nor agent nor attorney of any
other party, has made any promise, representation, or warranty, express or implied, not contained in this Release concerning the
subject matter of this Release to induce this Release, and Executive and the Company acknowledge that they have not executed this
Release in reliance upon any such promise, representation, or warranty not contained in this Release.

9. Severability.

          Every provision of this Release is intended to be severable. In the event any term or provision of this Release is declared to be
illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever by a court of competent jurisdiction or by final and unappealed order of an administrative
agency of competent jurisdiction, such illegality or invalidity should not affect the balance of the terms and provisions of this Release,
which terms and provisions shall remain binding and enforceable.

10. References.

          The Company agrees to follow the applicable policy(ies) regarding release of employment reference information.

11. Parties May Enforce Release.

          Nothing in this Release shall operate to release or discharge any parties to this Release or their successors, assigns, legatees,
heirs, or personal representatives from any rights,
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claims, or causes of action arising out of, relating to, or connected with a breach of any obligation of any party contained in this
Release.

12. Governing Law.

          This Release shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Oregon, without regard to its
conflicts of laws provisions.

Dated: , 

Keith Lambert

STATE OF OREGON )
)

County of )

     Personally appeared the above named Keith Lambert and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be his voluntary act and deed.

     Before me:
NOTARY PUBLIC — OREGON
My commission expires:

RADISYS CORPORATION

By: Dated:
Its:

On Behalf of RadiSys Corporation and “Company”
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Exhibit 10.23

INDEMNITY AGREEMENT

     THIS AGREEMENT is made as of                     , 200___, by and between RadiSys Corporation, an Oregon corporation
(“Company”), and                      (“Indemnitee”), an officer or director of the Company.

RECITALS

     A. It is essential to the Company to retain and attract as directors and officers the most capable persons available.

     B. It continues to be the express policy of the Company to indemnify its directors and officers so as to provide them with the
maximum possible protection permitted by law from the costs and expenses of such litigation risks. Each of the Second Restated
Articles of Incorporation of the Company (“Articles”) and the Restated Bylaws of the Company (“Bylaws”) require indemnification of
the directors of the Company to the fullest extent permitted by law. The Articles, Bylaws and the Oregon Business Corporation Act
(“Act”) expressly provide that the indemnification provisions set forth in the Articles, Bylaws and the Act are not exclusive, and
thereby contemplate that contracts may be entered into between the Company and members of its board of directors and officers with
respect to indemnification of directors and officers.

     C. The Company and Indemnitee recognize the substantial increase in corporate litigation in general, subjecting directors, officers,
employees, agents and fiduciaries to expensive litigation risks resulting from their service to the Company, at the same time as the
availability and scope of coverage of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance provide increasing challenges for the Company.

     D. Indemnitee does not regard the protection available under the Articles, Bylaws and insurance adequate in the present
circumstances, and may not be willing to serve or continue to serve as a director or officer without adequate protection, and the
Company wants Indemnitee to serve in that capacity free from undue concern from claims for damages arising out of or related to
such services to the Company.

     E. The Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) has determined that the increased difficulty in attracting and retaining highly
qualified persons such as Indemnitee is detrimental to the best interests of the Company’s shareholders and the Company should act to
assure such persons that there will be increased certainty of such protection in the future.

     NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective covenants and agreements provided in this Agreement and for other good
and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged) the Company and Indemnitee agree as
follows:
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     1. Services to the Company. Indemnitee will serve or continue to serve, at the will of the Company, as a director or officer of the
Company for so long as Indemnitee is duly elected or appointed or until Indemnitee tenders a resignation in writing.

     2. Definitions. As used in this Agreement:

     (a) The term “Proceeding” shall include any actual, threatened, pending or completed action or suit, investigation, inquiry,
hearing or any other actual, threatened, pending or completed proceeding, whether brought in the right of the Company or
otherwise, whether formal or informal, and whether of a civil, criminal, judicial, administrative, legislative or investigative nature,
in which Indemnitee may be or may have been involved as a party or otherwise by reason of the fact that Indemnitee is or was a
director or officer of the Company or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, or agent of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, whether or not serving in such capacity at the time any liability or
expense is incurred for which indemnification or reimbursement can be provided under this Agreement.

     (b) The term “Expenses” includes, without limitation, expense of investigations, whether formal or informal, judicial, legislative
or administrative Proceedings or appeals, attorneys’ fees, expenses customarily incurred in connection with preparing to prosecute,
defend, investigate or being or preparing to be a witness in, or otherwise participating in a Proceeding, and disbursements and any
expenses of establishing a right to indemnification under Section 11 of this Agreement. Expenses shall also include expenses
incurred in connection with any appeal resulting from any Proceeding, including, without limitation, the premium, security for, and
other costs relating to any cost bond, supersedes bond, other appeal bond or its equivalent. Expenses, however, shall not include
amounts paid in settlement by Indemnitee or the amount of judgments or fines against Indemnitee.

     (c) References to “other enterprise” shall include employee benefit plans; references to “fines” shall include any excise tax
assessed with respect to any employee benefit plan; reference to “serving at the request of the Company” shall include any service
as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer,
employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith
and in a manner reasonably believed to be in the interest of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner
“not opposed to the best interests of the Company” as referred to in this Agreement.

     (d) For purposes of any determination of good faith, Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in good faith if Indemnitee’s
action is based on the records or books of account of the Company or other enterprise, including financial statements, or on
information supplied to Indemnitee by the officers of the Company or other enterprise in the course of their duties, or on the advice
of legal counsel for the Company or legal counsel to the applicable other enterprise or the Board or counsel selected by any
committee of the Board or on information or records given or reports made to the
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Company or other enterprise by a certified public accountant or by an appraiser, investment banker, compensation consultant, or
other expert selected by the Company, the other enterprise or the Board or any committee of the Board. The provisions of this
Section 2(d) shall not be deemed to be exclusive or to limit in any way the other circumstances in which the Indemnitee may be
deemed to have met the applicable standard of conduct.

     3. Indemnity in Third−Party Proceedings. The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee in accordance with the provisions of this
Section 3 if Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any Proceeding (other than a Proceeding by or in the right of
the Company to procure a judgment in its favor) against all Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and
reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the Proceeding, but only if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner
which Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company and, in the case of a criminal
proceeding, in addition, had no reasonable cause to believe that Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful.

     4. Indemnity in Proceedings by or in the Right of the Company. The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee in accordance with
the provisions of this Section 4 if Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any Proceeding by or in the right of
Company to procure a judgment in its favor against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with
the defense or settlement of the Proceeding, but only if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner which Indemnitee reasonably
believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company. No indemnification for Expenses shall be made under this
Section 4 in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which Indemnitee shall have been finally adjudged by a court to be liable to the
Company, unless and only to the extent that any court in which the Proceeding was brought shall determine upon application that,
despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably entitled to
indemnity.

     5. Indemnification of Expenses of Successful Party. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, to the extent that
Indemnitee has been successful, on the merits or otherwise, in defense of any Proceeding or in defense of any claim, issue or matter
therein, including the dismissal of an action without prejudice, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses incurred
in connection therewith.

     6. Additional Indemnification.

     (a) Notwithstanding any limitation in Sections 3, 4 or 5, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted
by law if Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any Proceeding (including a Proceeding by or in the right of
the Company to procure a judgment in its favor) against all Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and
reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the Proceeding. No indemnity shall be made under this Section 6(a) on
account of Indemnitee’s conduct which constitutes a breach of Indemnitee’s duty of loyalty to the Company or its shareholders or is
an act or omission not in good faith or which involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of the law.
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     (b) Notwithstanding any limitation in Sections 3, 4, 5 or 6(a), the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee to the fullest extent
permitted by law if Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any Proceeding (including a Proceeding by or in the
right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor) against all Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement
actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the Proceeding.

     (c) For purposes of Sections 6(a) and 6(b), the meaning of the phrase “to the fullest extent permitted by law” shall include, but
not be limited to:

     (i) to the fullest extent permitted by the provision of the Act that authorizes or contemplates additional indemnification by
agreement, or the corresponding provision of any amendment to or replacement of the Act, and

     (ii) to the fullest extent authorized or permitted by any amendments to or replacements of the Act adopted after the date of
this Agreement that increase the extent to which a corporation may indemnify its officers and directors.

     7. Exclusions. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated under this Agreement to
make any indemnity in connection with any claim made against Indemnitee:

     (a) for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of Indemnitee under any insurance policy or other indemnity
provision, except with respect to any excess beyond the amount paid under any insurance policy or other indemnity provision;

     (b) for any transaction from which Indemnitee was adjudged liable on the basis that Indemnitee derived an improper personal
benefit;

     (c) for an accounting of profits made from the purchase and sale (or sale and purchase) by Indemnitee of securities of the
Company within the meaning of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or similar provisions of state
statutory law or common law;

     (d) if a court having jurisdiction in the matter shall finally determine that such indemnification is not lawful under any applicable
statute or public policy; or

     (e) in connection with any Proceeding (or part of any Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee, or any Proceeding by Indemnitee
against the Company or its directors, officers, employees or other indemnitees, unless (i) the Company is expressly required by law
to make the indemnification, (ii) the Proceeding was authorized by the Board, (iii) the Company provides the indemnification, in its
sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in the Company under applicable law, or (iv) Indemnitee initiated the Proceeding
pursuant to Section 11 of this Agreement and Indemnitee is successful in whole or in part in the Proceeding.
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     8. Advances of Expenses. The Company shall pay all Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in any Proceeding in advance, prior to the
final disposition thereof, at the written request of Indemnitee, if Indemnitee:

     (a) furnishes the Company a written affirmation in the form attached as Exhibit A or such other form as meets the requirements
of ORS 60.397 or successor statutes covering the same subject matter of the Indemnitee’s good faith belief that Indemnitee is
entitled to be indemnified by the Company under this Agreement; and

     (b) furnishes the Company a written undertaking in the form attached as Exhibit A or such other form as meets the requirements
of ORS 60.397 or successor statutes covering the same subject matter to repay the advance to the extent that it is ultimately
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Company. Advances shall
be made without regard to Indemnitee’s ability to repay the Expenses and without regard to Indemnitee’s ultimate entitlement to
indemnification under the other provisions of this Agreement.

     (c) Indemnitee’s right to advancement of Expenses pursuant to this Section 8 is not subject to the satisfaction of any standard of
conduct. Without limiting the generality or effect of the foregoing, within five business days after any request by Indemnitee, the
Company shall, in accordance with such request (but without duplication), (a) pay such Expenses on behalf of Indemnitee,
(b) advance to Indemnitee funds in an amount sufficient to pay such Expenses or (c) reimburse Indemnitee for such Expenses.

     9. Notification and Defense of Claim. Not later than forty−five (45) days after receipt by Indemnitee of notice of the
commencement of any Proceeding, Indemnitee will, if a claim in respect of the Proceeding is to be made against the Company under
this Agreement, notify the Company of the commencement of the Proceeding. The omission to notify the Company will not relieve
the Company from any liability which it may have to Indemnitee otherwise than under this Agreement. With respect to any
Proceeding as to which Indemnitee notifies the Company of the commencement:

     (a) The Company will be entitled to participate in the Proceeding at its own expense.

     (b) Except as otherwise provided below, the Company may, at its option and jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly
notified and electing to assume such defense, assume the defense of the Proceeding, with legal counsel reasonably satisfactory to
the Indemnitee. Indemnitee shall have the right to use separate legal counsel selected at Indemnitee’s sole discretion in the
Proceeding, but the Company shall not be liable to Indemnitee under this Agreement, including Section 8 above, for the fees and
expenses of separate legal counsel incurred after notice from the Company of its assumption of the defense, unless (i) Indemnitee
reasonably concludes that there may be a conflict of interest between the Company and Indemnitee in the conduct of the defense of
the Proceeding or (ii) the Company does not use legal counsel to assume the defense of such Proceeding. The Company shall not be
entitled to assume the defense of any Proceeding
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brought by or on behalf of the Company or as to which Indemnitee shall have made the conclusion provided for in (i) above.

     (c) If two or more persons who may be entitled to indemnification from the Company, including the Indemnitee, are parties to
any Proceeding, the Company may require Indemnitee to use the same legal counsel as the other parties. Indemnitee shall have the
right to use separate legal counsel in the Proceeding, but the Company shall not be liable to Indemnitee under this Agreement,
including Section 8 above, for the fees and expenses of separate legal counsel incurred after notice from the Company of the
requirement to use the same legal counsel as the other parties, unless the Indemnitee reasonably concludes that there may be a
conflict of interest between Indemnitee and any of the other parties required by the Company to be represented by the same legal
counsel.

     (d) The Company shall not be liable to indemnify Indemnitee under this Agreement for any amounts paid in settlement of any
Proceeding effected without its written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. Indemnitee shall permit the Company to
settle any Proceeding the defense of which it assumes, except that the Company shall not settle any action or claim in any manner
which would impose any penalty or limitation on Indemnitee without Indemnitee’s written consent, which may be given or
withheld in Indemnitee’s sole discretion.

     10. Procedure Upon Application for Indemnification. Any indemnification under Sections 3, 4, 5 or 6 of this Agreement shall be
made no later than 45 days after receipt of the written request of Indemnitee for indemnification and shall not require that a
determination be made in accordance with the Act by the persons specified in the Act that indemnification is required under this
Agreement. However, unless it is ordered by a court in an enforcement action under Section 11 of this Agreement, no such
indemnification shall be made if a determination is made within such 45−day period by (a) the Board by a majority vote of a quorum
consisting of directors who were not parties to the Proceeding, or (b)independent legal counsel in a written opinion (which counsel
shall be appointed if a quorum is not obtainable), that the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification under this Agreement.

     11. Enforcement.

     (a) Any right to indemnification or advances granted by this Agreement to Indemnitee shall be enforceable by or on behalf of
Indemnitee in any court of competent jurisdiction if (a) the Company denies the claim for indemnification or advances, in whole or
in part, or (b) the Company does not dispose of the claim within 45 days of a written request for indemnification or advances.
Indemnitee, in the enforcement action, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be paid also the expense of prosecuting
the claim. It shall be a defense to any such enforcement action (other than an action brought to enforce a claim for advancement of
Expenses pursuant to Section 8 above, if Indemnitee has tendered to the Company the required affirmation and undertaking) that
Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification under this Agreement, but the burden of proving this defense shall be on the Company.
Neither a failure of the Company (including its Board or its shareholders) to make a determination prior to the commencement of
the enforcement action that indemnification of Indemnitee is proper in
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the circumstances, nor an actual determination by the Company (including its Board or its shareholders) that indemnification is
improper shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification under this
Agreement or otherwise. The termination of any Proceeding by judgment, order of court, settlement, conviction or upon a plea of
nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification under
this Agreement or otherwise.

     (b) In making any determination concerning Indemnitee’s right to indemnification, there shall be a presumption that Indemnitee
has satisfied the applicable standard of conduct, and the Company may overcome such presumption only by its adducing clear and
convincing evidence to the contrary. Any determination concerning Indemnitee’s right to indemnification that is adverse to
Indemnitee may be challenged by the Indemnitee in the applicable court. No determination by the Company (including without
limitation by its directors or any independent counsel) that Indemnitee has not satisfied any applicable standard of conduct shall be
a defense to any Claim by Indemnitee for indemnification or reimbursement or advance payment of Expenses by the Company
hereunder or create a presumption that Indemnitee has not met any applicable standard of conduct.

     (c) The knowledge and/or actions, or failure to act, of any director, officer, agent or employee of the Company or the Company
itself shall not be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of determining the right to indemnification under this Agreement.

     12. Partial Indemnification. If Indemnitee is entitled under any provisions of this Agreement to indemnification by the Company
for some or part of the Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in
the investigation, defense, appeal or settlement of any Proceeding but not, however, for the total amount, the Company shall
indemnify Indemnitee for the portion of the Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement to which Indemnitee is
entitled.

     13. Nonexclusivity and Continuity of Rights. The indemnification provided by this Agreement shall not be deemed exclusive of
any other rights to which Indemnitee may be entitled under the articles of incorporation, the bylaws, any other agreement, any vote of
shareholders or directors, the Act, or otherwise, both as to action in Indemnitee’s official capacity and as to action in other capacity
while holding office. The indemnification under this Agreement shall continue as to Indemnitee even though Indemnitee ceases to be a
director or officer and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs and personal representatives of Indemnitee.

     14. Maintenance of Liability Insurance. For the duration of Indemnitee’s service as a director and/or officer of the Company, and
thereafter for so long as Indemnitee shall be subject to any pending or possible claim, the Company shall use commercially reasonable
efforts (taking into account the scope and amount of coverage available relative to the cost thereof) to cause to be maintained in effect
policies of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance providing coverage for directors and/or officers of the Company that is at least
substantially comparable in scope and amount to that provided by the Company’s current policies of directors’ and officers’
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liability insurance. The minimum AM Best rating for the insurance carriers of such insurance carrier shall be not less than A− VI. The
Company shall provide Indemnitee with a copy of all directors’ and officers’ liability insurance applications, binders, policies,
declarations, endorsements and other related materials, and shall provide Indemnitee with a reasonable opportunity to review and
comment on the same. Without limiting the generality or effect of the requirement to use best efforts to obtain insurance and give
directors and chance to review the proposal, the Company shall not discontinue or significantly reduce the scope or amount of
coverage from one policy period to the next without the prior approval thereof by a majority vote of the directors, even if less than a
quorum.

     15. Business Combinations. If any person or group (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended) acquires the legal right to elect a majority of the Board in a transaction or series of transactions that has not received the
prior approval of the Board, (a) the Company or its successor, as the case may be, shall, for a period of two years following the date
that such legal right is acquired (the “Trigger Date”), maintain any and all directors and officers’ liability insurance in effect prior to
the Trigger Date that covers Indemnitee and (b) this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall be binding on the
Company and any successor in accordance with its terms.

     16. Information Sharing. To the extent permitted by applicable law the Company shall promptly provide to Indemnitee a
complete copy of any information, filing, response to discovery request (whether formal or informal), or other similar delivery of
information Company has made to any third party concerning any investigation, whether formal or informal, relating to Indemnitee.

     17. Severability. If this Agreement or any portion of it is invalidated on any ground by any court of competent jurisdiction, the
Company shall indemnify Indemnitee as to Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement with respect to any Proceeding
to the full extent permitted by any applicable portion of this Agreement that is not invalidated or by any other applicable law.

     18. Subrogation. In the event of payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to
all of the rights of recovery of Indemnitee. Indemnitee shall execute all documents required and shall do all acts that may be necessary
to secure such rights and to enable the Company effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.

     19. Modification and Waiver. No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in
writing by both parties. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions of this
Agreement (whether or not similar) nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver, unless expressly stated in any waiver.

     20. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been duly given (a) upon delivery if delivered by hand to the party to whom the notice or other communication shall
have been directed or (b) if mailed by certified or registered mail with postage prepaid, on the third business day after the date on
which it is so mailed:
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     (i) If to Indemnitee, at the address indicated on the signature page of this Agreement, or to such other address as may have
been furnished to the Company by Indemnitee.

     (ii) If to the Company to

      RadiSys Corporation
      5445 NE Dawson Creek Drive
      Hillsboro, OR 97124
      Attention: CEO

     or to any other address as may have been furnished to Indemnitee by the Company.

     21. Counterparts. The parties may execute this Agreement in any number of counterparts, each of which shall constitute the
original.

     22. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the state of Oregon.

     23. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns.

     24. Entire Agreement. This Agreement (which term shall include any exhibits and schedules hereto) constitutes the entire
agreement of the parties hereto and supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral,
between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

     25. Compliance with Code Section 409A. To the extent that the Board determines that any indemnification or advances granted
by this Agreement are subject to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), this Agreement shall
incorporate the terms and conditions necessary to avoid the consequences specified in Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code. To the extent
applicable, this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in compliance with Section 409A of the Code and Department of
Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, in the event that the Board determines that any indemnification or advances granted by this Agreement may be subject to
Code Section 409A, the Board may, without the consent of Indemnitee, adopt such supplements, modifications and amendments to
this Agreement or adopt other policies and procedures (including supplements, modifications, amendments, policies and procedures
with retroactive effect), or take any other actions, that the Board determines are necessary or appropriate to (i) exempt the
indemnification and advances from Code Section 409A or (ii) comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A and Department of
Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, provided that the Board shall provide written notice to
Indemnitee within ten (10) days of the date of any action taken by the Board pursuant to this Section 25, which notice shall describe in
reasonable detail the action taken (including, if applicable, provision of a copy of any written supplement, modification, amendment,
policy or procedure adopted) and the basis for the determination that such action is necessary or appropriate.
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be signed as of the day and year first above written.

RADISYS CORPORATION INDEMNITEE  

By: By: 
Name: Name:
Title:

Address: 
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Exhibit A
Undertaking to Reimburse Advanced Expenses

     I,                    , hereby provide this undertaking pursuant to the requirements of ORS 60.391 and my contract of indemnity with
RadiSys Corporation.

     I am involved in a proceeding covered by my Indemnity Agreement with RadiSys Corporation I request that RadiSys Corporation
pay for the reasonable expenses I incur in advance of the final disposition of that proceeding, and that RadiSys Corporation reimburse
me any reasonable expenses I advance myself in the course of that proceeding.

     In support of my request, I affirm as follows:

     1. I believe in good faith that I have met the standard of conduct described in ORS 60.391;

     2. I undertake here the general and unlimited obligation to repay advances if it is ultimately determined by a court that I did not
meet the standard of conduct.

     This undertaking is intended to meet, and shall be construed to meet, the requirements for an undertaking under ORS
Section 60.397, and shall not be construed as extending beyond those requirements.

Signed:

Print Name:

Date:
11
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Exhibit 10.24

RadiSys Corporation
5445 NE Dawson Creek Drive
Hillsborn, OK 97124
(503) 615−1100
(503) 615−1150 fax
www.radisys.com

September 16, 2002

PERSONAL AND CONFIDENTIAL

Mr. Scott Grout
5227 Lincolnshire
Dallas, TX 75287
Phone 972.733.0857

Dear Scott,

On behalf of the RadiSys Corporation Board of Directors, I am pleased to make you a contingent offer to serve as President and Chief
Executive Officer, and a member of our Board of Directors. This offer is contingent upon the successful results of our reference
checks, which we have not yet completed at your request. We anticipate completing those reference checks by no later than Sept 23rd,
assuming your references are available to speak with us, and will let you know whether the results were successful at or before that
time. If the results of the reference checks are successful, your compensation and benefits as President and Chief Executive Officer
would be as outlined in this letter. I will be serving as Chairman of the Board of RadiSys to work closely with you.

Your base salary would be $375,000, payable bi−weekly. Your annual incentive compensation plan target would be $220,000 or
58.6% of your base pay. This means your total compensation would be $595,000 if you meet your incentive goals. We would
guarantee your bonus at target for Q402 pro−rated for proportion of the quarter when you were employed by RadiSys. The 2003 goals
would be agreed upon with the compensation committee of the Board . Your 2003 goals should be of the same structure as the balance
of your executive team. The CEO, Executives and senior directors would have to achieve several specific objectives (MBO’s) in order
to earn their full incentive bonus or to exceed it. We expect there should be upside in the design of the incentive plan. The new CEO
will have significant input into the design of the 2003 plan.

You would also be granted 350,000 stock options under our Stock Incentive Plan. The term of the option would be seven years, with
shares vesting one−third on the first anniversary and in equal monthly increments thereafter until fully vested on the third anniversary.
The exercise price would be the last−trade price on the date you start work at RadiSys. As much of the options as permitted by law
will be granted as ISO options, with the remainder issued as nonqualified options. You would be eligible for your first refresh grant at
the time of the first yearly company refresh process after your one year anniversary.
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RadiSys would provide you with $90,000 for relocation assistance. All or a portion of this amount would be grossed up as necessary
to make this tax neutral to you and your family. This amount is meant to cover all relocation related expenses including reasonable
time to sell your house in Dallas. This payment would be included with your normal payroll checks within the first month of
employment. Relocation assistance must be repaid on a pro−rated basis if you voluntarily terminate employment within 24 months of
your date of hire. You may want to consult your own tax advisor for more extensive information. In addition, RadiSys will introduce
you to our principle bank and assist you to the extent possible under applicable law to obtain bridge or other financing to facilitate
your move to Oregon. We have just contacted Glenna Olson, who is the Senior Vice President and Managing Director of the Private
Banking group of US Bank, and she represented that there should be no problem as long as you do not have any overall credit issues.
She can be reached at 503−275−4160 or you can also deal with her associate, Laurie Wooley at 503−275−3932.

In addition, the company offers an Employee Stock Purchase Program (ESPP) which allows you to purchase stock in the company at a
discount. As an executive, you would be subject to our stock ownership policy, a copy of which is also enclosed.

Our benefits plan includes medical with Aetna; dental with ODS, and vision insurance with Vision Service Plan (VSP). RadiSys pays
100% of the cost of your insurance program and offers dependent coverage under the medical, dental, and vision insurance at a
minimal cost to you. In keeping with our commitment to a smoke−free workplace, we do charge a nominal premium for employees or
insured dependents that smoke. You would also be eligible to participate in additional executive benefit programs including Executive
Physical, Financial and Tax Planning, and an Executive Deferred Compensation Plan.

Term life insurance equal to twice your annual base salary, capped at $600,000.,and long term disability insurance would also be
included in your benefit package. The company sponsors a 401(k) plan, with a company match. After you accumulate 1,000 hours of
service in a calendar year, the Company will match $0.50 for every dollar you contribute up to the first 6% of compensation provided
that you are employed on December 31 of that year.

You would be eligible for an Executive Change of Control Agreement identical in form to the Executive Change of Control
Agreement currently in effect with our Chief Financial Officer. That agreement would provide for severance and accelerated option
vesting if there is a change of control and your employment is terminated without cause, as those terms are defined in the agreement,
contingent upon receipt of a release. A brief summary of the key terms is:

12 months base salary severance if a termination without cause occurs, as defined in the agreement, as a result of a change of
control for a specified period; and all your unyested options would accelerate. This severance would be contingent upon receipt of a
release.

RadiSys Corporation is an at−will employer. Either the employee or the Company can terminate the employment relationship at any
time with or without cause, reason, or notice. However, if
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you are terminated without cause the company’s current practice is to pay its executives 6 months base salary severance, contingent
upon receipt of a release. In your case, the severance amount would be 12 months, contingent upon receipt of a release.

We understand that you are indebted to your current employer in the amount of $98,000 secured by 2.4 million Chorum shares. We
would hope, after good faith negotiations on your part, your current employer will accept forgiveness of your loan. If this line of
discussion isn’t fruitful perhaps some of your stock in your employer could be offered as full repayment of that loan. Our bank could
also look at bridging the loan for a longer period of time in combination with some stock return. I have not received support from our
compensation committee for your idea of potential service on the Chorum Board as a back−up method to relieve the loan. We would
be more open, if it becomes absolutely necessary, to a fair split between an amount of stock surrender on your part with some one time
hiring bonus on our part used to pay off the loan.

Please read and sign the enclosed Employee Agreement and this offer letter and return both to me. By signing, you acknowledge that
you accept the terms set forth in this letter upon notification that the reference checks have been successfully completed. The terms of
this letter will remain valid for 1 week following the date of this letter. Employment will also be contingent upon your satisfactorily
passing a background check and pre−employment drug test.

Scott, I am personally delighted at the prospect of working with you. Please do not hesitate to call me if I can answer any questions.

Sincerely,

     /s/ Scott Gibson
Scott Gibson, Director and Chair of CEO Search Committee

Accepted:

/s/ Scott Gibson 9/19/02
 Signature Date
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Exhibit 10.25

August 15, 2003

Christian Lepiane
12868 Harwick Lane
San Diego, CA 92130

Dear Chris:

We are pleased to offer you the position of Vice President, Worldwide Sales an officer of the company (16b), reporting to Scott Grout,
President and CEO of RadiSys. Your position will be based at our Hillsboro, Oregon Campus.

Your base salary will be $7884, 61 per pay period (equal to $205,000 annually), payable bi−weekly. Your annual incentive
compensation plan target will be $115,000 for a targeted “Tcomp” (Total Compensation) of $320,000 annualized. The actual value
paid for all incentive compensation plans depends on the achievement of certain corporate, business unit and individual goals and can
be lower or higher depending on company and individual performance. You will be eligible to participate in the Corporate−wide
semiannual incentive plan on a prorated basis for the period beginning July 1, 2003. You must be an active employee at the end of the
2nd pay period after end of the fiscal half year to be eligible for an incentive compensation plan payout. As we discussed, our
incentive compensation plan for executives is a combination of the following:

• Corporate−wide incentive compensation program, which is a combination of company−wide profit sharing and company and
organization specific milestones.
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August 15, 2003
Page 2 of 2

• Executive−specific plan, which we develop at the beginning of the calendar year or within a short time from hire and which is
judged by the CEO and Compensation Committee of our board at year end.

You will also be granted 75,000 stock options under our Stock Option Plan. In addition, you will be eligible for additional annual
refresher options after a period of one year. In general, our practice is to grant annual refresher options that are approximately equal to
one third of the new−hire grant amount. However, option grants in any given year and circumstance can differ based on individual
performance, availability of options shares in the grant pool, and overall compensation. The term of the options is seven years, with
shares vesting one−third on the first anniversary and in equal monthly increments thereafter until fully vested on the third anniversary.
These options will be contingent upon approval of our Board of Directors or its Compensation Committee. Once approved, the
exercise price will be the last−trade price on the date of grant. As much of the options as permitted by law will be granted as ISO
options, with the remainder issued as nonqualified options.

You will be eligible for our executive relocation package which includes a relocation bonus of $30,000 net of taxes (paid in lieu of
broker fees, taxes and other expenses associated with sale of home), 5 day house hunting trip for two persons, 30 days temporary
housing, and reasonable moving expenses for household goods. The move of household goods and storage expenses along with the
lump−sum relocation bonus must be repaid in full on a pro−rated basis if you voluntarily terminate employment within 24 months of
your date of hire. You may want to consult your own tax advisor for more extensive information regarding tax consequences of a
move.
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• Executive−specific plan, which we develop at the beginning of the calendar year or within a short time from hire and which is
judged by the CEO and Compensation Committee of our board at year end.

You will also be granted 75,000 stock options under our Stock Option Plan. In addition, you will be eligible for additional annual
refresher options after a period of one year. In general, our practice is to grant annual refresher options that are approximately equal to
one third of the new−hire grant amount. However, option grants in any given year and circumstance can differ based on individual
performance, availability of options shares in the grant pool, and overall compensation. The term of the options is seven years, with
shares vesting one−third on the first anniversary and in equal monthly increments thereafter until fully vested on the third anniversary.
These options will be contingent upon approval of our Board of Directors or its Compensation Committee. Once approved, the
exercise price will be the last−trade price on the date of grant. As much of the options as permitted by law will be granted as ISO
options, with the remainder issued as nonqualified options.

You will be eligible for our executive relocation package which includes a relocation bonus of $30,000 net of taxes (paid in lieu of
broker fees, taxes and other expenses associated with sale of home), 5 day house hunting trip for two persons, 30 days temporary
housing, and reasonable moving expenses for household goods. The move of household goods and storage expenses along with the
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Page 3 of 3

In addition, the company offers an Employee Stock Purchase Program (ESPP) which allows you to purchase stock in the company at a
discount. As an executive, you will be subject to our stock ownership policy, a copy of which is also enclosed.

Our benefits plan includes a choice of medical insurance through Aetna; dental plans through ODS, and vision insurance through
Vision Service Plan (VSP). RadiSys pays most of the cost of your insurance program and offers dependent coverage under the
medical, dental, and vision insurance at a minimal cost to you. You will also be eligible to participate in additional executive benefit
programs including Executive Physical, Financial and Tax Planning, and an Executive Deferred Compensation Plan.

Term life insurance of twice your annual base salary (to a maximum coverage amount of $600,000) and long−term disability
insurance are also included in your benefit package. The company offers a contributory 401K plan with a company match of $0.50 on
the first 6% of pay that you contribute. You must be employed by the company at the end of the calendar year to be eligible for that
year’s company match. The company match vests over three years. Official summary plan descriptions for benefit programs are found
in the formal plan documents that can be made available upon request.

In the case of an involuntary separation other than for cause, you will be provided with a contingency severance package of six
months of base salary compensation and the Company will cover the cost of COBRA for a six month period after separation. This
severance will be contingent upon your signing a release agreement.

RadiSys Corporation is an at−will employer. Either the employee or the Company can terminate the employment relationship at any
time with or without cause, reason, or notice,
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We are very excited to have you as part of the RadiSys family. Please read and sign the enclosed Employee Restrictive Covenant
Agreement and this offer letter and return both to me by August 19, 2003. By signing, you acknowledge that you accept the terms set
forth in this letter. The terms of this offer will remain valid until August 19, 2003 and are subject to a final Board approval. This offer
of employment is contingent upon signing the enclosed Employee Restrictive Covenant Agreement as well as the release forms for
and satisfactorily passing a background check and pre−employment drug test. We expect to begin work on Monday, September 15,
2003.

Chris, I am personally delighted at the prospect of working with you. The entire executive team is excited and pleased to have you join
us. Please do not hesitate to call me if I can answer any questions.

Sincerely,

Scott Grout
President and Chief Executive Officer

Offer of Employment Accepted by Christian Lepiane:

/s/ Christian Lepiane
Signature

8/17/03
Date

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Exhibit 21.1

RADISYS CORPORATION

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

JURISDICTION OF
SUBSIDIARY INCORPORATION

Nihon RadiSys K.K. Japan
RadiSys Systems Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. China
RadiSys Canada Inc. Canada
Convedia Corporation Canada
RadiSys (UK) Limited United Kingdom
Texas Micro Systems UK Limited (Inactive) United Kingdom
Microware Systems UK Limited (Inactive) United Kingdom
Convedia Limited (Inactive) United Kingdom
RadiSys Convedia (Ireland) Limited Ireland
RadiSys Technology (Ireland) Limited Ireland
RadiSys Ireland Limited Ireland
RadiSys GmbH Germany
RadiSys B.V. Netherlands
RadiSys SARL (Inactive) France
RadiSys Israel Ltd. Israel
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
RadiSys Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement No. 333−49092 and 333−111547 on Form S−3 and
registration statement No. 333−80577, 333−00514, 333−46473, 333−80087, 333−80089, 333−85093, 333−38966, 333−38988,
333−50582, 333−50584, 333−68362, 333−106670, 333−111520, 333−116570 and 333−126189 on Form S−8 of RadiSys Corporation
of our report dated March 1, 2007, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of RadiSys Corporation as of December 31, 2006
and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income(loss), and
cash flows for each of the years in the two−year period ended December 31, 2006, and the related financial statement schedule,
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, which reports appears in the December 31, 2006
annual report on Form 10−K of RadiSys Corporation.

Our report dated March 1, 2007, on the consolidated financial statements, contains an explanatory paragraph that states the Company
changed its method of consideration for prior period misstatements and changed its method for accounting for share−based payment
awards in 2006.

Our report dated March 1, 2007, on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 contains an explanatory paragraph that states the
Company acquired Convedia Corporation during 2006, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting Convedia Corporation's internal control over financial report in associated with
total assets of $11,522,000 exclusive of acquired goodwill of $39,720,000 and acquired identifiable intangible assets of $41,501,000
and total revenues of $5,887,000 included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and subsidiaries as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2006. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an evaluation of
the internal control over financial reporting of Convedia Corporation.

KPMG LLP

Portland, Oregon
March 1, 2007
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Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S−8 (Nos. 33−80577, 333−00514,
333−46473, 333−80087, 333−80089, 333−85093, 333−38966, 333−38988, 333−50582, 333−50584, 333−68362, 333−106670,
333−111520, 333−116570) and Form S−3 (Nos. 333−49092, 333−111547) of RadiSys Corporation of our report dated March 7, 2005
relating to the December 31, 2004 consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, which appears in this Form
10−K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Portland, Oregon
March 1, 2007
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Exhibit 24.1

     The undersigned constitutes and appoints SCOTT C. GROUT and BRIAN J. BRONSON, and each of them, as the undersigned’s
true and lawful attorneys and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution for the undersigned and in the undersigned’s
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign the RadiSys Corporation Annual Report on Form 10−K for the year ended
December 31, 2006 and any and all amendments thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys and agents, and each of them, full
power and authority to do any and all acts and things necessary or advisable to be done, as fully and to all intents and purposes as the
undersigned might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys and agents or either of them, or their
or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Signature Title Date

/s/ C. SCOTT GIBSON
 C. Scott Gibson

Chairman of the Board
and Director

February 22, 2007

/s/ KEN BRADLEY
 Ken Bradley

Director February 22, 2007

/s/ RICHARD J. FAUBERT
 Richard Faubert

Director February 26, 2007

/s/ DR. WILLIAM W. LATTIN
 Dr. William W. Lattin

Director February 27, 2007

/s/ KEVIN C. MELIA
 Kevin C. Melia

Director February 25, 2007

/s/ CARL NEUN
 Carl Neun

Director February 26, 2007

/s/ LORENE K. STEFFES
 Lorene K. Steffes

Director February 23, 2007
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Scott C. Grout, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10−K of RadiSys Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a−15(e) and 15d−15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a−15(f) and 15d−15(f)) for the registrant and have:

     a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

     d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

     a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 2, 2007

/s/ SCOTT C. GROUT

Scott C. Grout
Chief Executive Officer and President

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Brian J. Bronson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10−K of RadiSys Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a−15(e) and 15d−15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a−15(f) and 15d−15(f)) for the registrant and have:

     a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

     d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

     a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 2, 2007

/s/ BRIAN J. BRONSON

Brian J. Bronson
Chief Financial Officer

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES−OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of RadiSys Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10−K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Scott C. Grout, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act
of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

/s/ SCOTT C. GROUT

Scott C. Grout
Chief Executive Officer
March 2, 2007

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES−OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of RadiSys Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10−K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Brian J. Bronson,
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley
Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

/s/ BRIAN J. BRONSON

Brian J. Bronson
Chief Financial Officer
March 2, 2007

_______________________________________________
Created by 10KWizard     www.10KWizard.com

Source: RADISYS CORP, 10−K, March 02, 2007

http://www.10KWizard.com

	10-K (RADISYS CORP) (March 02, 2007)
	10-K
	PART I
	Item 1. Business 3

	PART I
	Item 1. Business
	Item 1A. Risk Factors Related to Our Business
	Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
	Item 2. Properties
	Item 3. Legal Proceedings
	Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

	PART II
	Item 5. Market for the Registrant s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases 
	Item 6. Selected Financial Data
	Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
	Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
	Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
	Item 9B. Other Information

	PART III
	Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
	Item 11. Executive Compensation
	Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matt
	Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
	Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

	SIGNATURES
	EXHIBIT INDEX

	EX-10.17 (EXHIBIT 10.17)
	EX-10.18 (EXHIBIT 10.18)
	EX-10.19 (EXHIBIT 10.19)
	EX-10.20 (EXHIBIT 10.20)
	EX-10.21 (EXHIBIT 10.21)
	EX-10.22 (EXHIBIT 10.22)
	EX-10.23 (EXHIBIT 10.23)
	EX-10.24 (EXHIBIT 10.24)
	EX-10.25 (EXHIBIT 10.25)
	EX-21.1 (EXHIBIT 21.1)
	EX-23.1 (EXHIBIT 23.1)
	EX-23.2 (EXHIBIT 23.2)
	EX-24.1 (EXHIBIT 24.1)
	EX-31.1 (EXHIBIT 31.1)
	EX-31.2 (EXHIBIT 31.2)
	EX-32.1 (EXHIBIT 32.1)
	EX-32.2 (EXHIBIT 32.2)


